PERIPHERAL AND CENTRAL FACTORS IN TINNITUS

PERIPHERAL AND CENTRAL FACTORS IN TINNITUS

By BRANDON T. PAUL, B.Mus., M.A.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctorate of Philosophy (Ph.D.)

McMaster University © Copyright by Brandon T. Paul, August 2016

Descriptive Note

McMaster University DOCTORATE OF PHILOSOPHY (2016) Hamilton,

Ontario (Psychology, Neuroscience and Behaviour)

TITLE: Peripheral and Central Factors in Tinnitus AUTHOR: Brandon T. Paul, B. Mus., M.A.

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Larry E. Roberts

CO-SUPERVISOR: Dr. Ian C. Bruce

PAGES: xv, 162

Abstract

Tinnitus is the phantom perception of a sound heard in the absence of a physical sound source. One framework that attempts to explain tinnitus is called the *deafferentation model*, which asserts that hearing damage precipitates compensatory neural plasticity in the central auditory system, leading to hyperactivity perceived as tinnitus. While considerable evidence supports this view, the role of deafferentation and its effects on central auditory processing are not fully understood. This thesis addresses two questions raised within the model. First, audiometric hearing loss is not always present in tinnitus subjects, so is there evidence of deafferentation in these individuals? The second question concerns the effect of tinnitus with audiometric hearing loss on central auditory processing. Specifically, is auditory attention affected in tinnitus, and if so, how? Following a background review in Chapter 1, Chapter 2 describes a study addressing the first issue, which found evidence for previously undetected hearing loss in tinnitus subjects that distinguishes them from individuals with normal hearing. Chapter 3 addresses the second question, describing an investigation that found that top-down attention appears to operate normally in tinnitus, but the tinnitus-affected region of auditory cortex is insensitive to the influence of attention because it is busy encoding the tinnitus. Chapter 4 describes a background study using non-tinnitus individuals to test this latter conclusion, finding evidence that auditory cortical neurons reacting to stimulus change are concurrently sensitive to top-down attention. This procedure can be used to assess

iii

if tinnitus-affected auditory cortical neurons are generally insensitive to input. Chapter 5 discusses the implications of the above empirical findings for understanding the role of deafferentation in tinnitus and tinnitus-related changes that occur in central auditory processing.

Acknowledgements

The work in this thesis could not have been completed without the efforts of my supervisors, Dr. Larry Roberts and Dr. Ian Bruce. I owe them tremendous thanks for their supervision and guidance through this program, and the hard work they did to sculpt me into a scientist. I thank them for the opportunities they have given me to grow professionally at McMaster and abroad. I would also like to thank Dr. Laurel Trainor and Dr. Paul Faure for their role on my supervisory committee, and their incredible additional guidance. A special thanks is owed to Dave Thompson for his friendship and technical support through all the projects reported in this thesis, and the team of exceptional undergraduate students that assisted on these projects.

I thank my father Michael and stepmother Laurie, my mother Gail and her partner Jack, my brother Ryan, and my grandmother Mary Anna, for their steadfast love, guidance, support, tolerance, and belief in me through my varied education. Particular thanks goes to Fiona, my better half and best friend, whose love, companionship, and unwavering support are my bedrock and the single biggest reason I finished this program. I cannot wait to start the next phase of our lives together in Montreal. Many thanks are owed to Fiona's family, John, Bernadette, Siobhan, Patricia, and Courtenay, for their outstanding support of us through our education, and for their kindness, generosity, and commitment to us. I thank my friends abroad, Kyle, Jack, Yuri, John, and Joe for their long-lasting friendship and endless silly memories.

I thank my friends at McMaster for the bonds and positive memories during my time in Hamilton. I thank the faculty, staff, and students of the McMaster Department of Psychology, Neuroscience, and Behaviour for the opportunity and resources they provided to help me complete the program. A final thanks is owed to my past supervisors, Larry Feth, Per Sederberg, David Huron, and Gregory Proctor, for helping to shape my early scientific and critical thinking which resonates in this thesis.

Table of Contents

Descriptive Note	ii
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgements	V
Table of Contents	vi
List of Figures	ix
List of Tables	xi
List of Abbreviations	xii
Declaration of Academic Achievement	xiv
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
 1.1 Overview and introduction to the deafferentation model of tinnitus 1.2 Basic overview of the auditory system	$\begin{array}{c} & & 1 \\ & & 4 \\ & & 6 \\ & & 9 \\ & & 11 \\ & & 11 \\ & & 14 \\ & & 16 \\ & & 16 \\ & & 16 \\ & & 18 \\ & & 19 \\ & & 23 \\ & & 24 \\ & & 25 \\ & & 27 \\ & & 25 \\ & & 27 \\ & & 32 \\ & & 35 \end{array}$
Chapter 2: Amplitude modulation encoding deficits suggest hidden	hearing
 2.1 Preface	47

2.4.5 Statistics	. 65
2.5 Results	.65
2.5.1 Audiometric thresholds and behavioural AM detection	. 65
2.5.2 Envelope Following Responses	. 66
2.5.3 Individual differences in AM detection and subcortical encoding in background	
noise	. 68
2.5.4 Comparison of simulated and observed EFR responses in control and tinnitus	
subjects	. 72
2.5.5 Relationship of AM detection and EFR to audiometric thresholds	. 73
2.5.6 Intermittent Tinnitus Case	. 74
2.6 Discussion	.75
2.6.1 Summary	. 75
2.6.2 Individual differences in AM sensitivity in control subjects	. 77
2.6.3 Role of high- and low-SR fiber loss in tinnitus	. 78
2.6.4 Role of central mechanisms in AM coding	. 82
2.7 Acknowledgements	.85
2.8 References	.86

Chapter 3: Modulation of Electrocortical Brain Activity by Attention in

Individuals	with and	without	Tinnitus)1

3.1 Preface	
3.2 Abstract	
3.3 Introduction	
3.4 Methods	
3.5 Results	
3.6 Discussion	
3.7 Conclusions	
3.8 Acknowledgements	
3.9 References	

Chapter 4: Top-down attention modifies a spectral estimate of phase shifts

during resets of the auditory steady state response	111
4.1 Preface	111
4.2 Abstract	114
4.3 Introduction	115
4.4 Methods	117
4.4.1 Participants	117
4.4.2 Stimuli and Materials	118
4.4.3 Procedure	121
4.4.4 Electrophysiological Recording and Spatial Filtering	122
4.4.5 Signal Processing	124
4.5 Results	133
4.5.1 Behavioral results	133
4.5.2 Electrophysiological results	133
4.6 Discussion	138
4.6.1 Summary	138
4.6.2 The effect of attention on the ASSR recovery after gap desynchronization	140
4.6.3 Neuromodulatory systems underlying attention effects in A1	142
4.6.4 Conclusions	

4.7 Acknowledgements	144
4.8 References	145
Chapter 5: Discussion	149
5.1 Summary and implications of findings	149
5.1.1 Summary	
5.1.2 Tinnitus and loss of peripheral synapses or fibers	
5.1.3 Tinnitus and attention.	153
5.2 Future directions	156
5.2.1 Efferent contributions to peripheral damage	
5.2.2 The role of subcortical structures in human tinnitus findings	
5.3 Conclusions and general importance	
5.4 References	160

List of Figures Chapter 1

Figure 1.1 The auditory pathway	.5
Figure 1.2 Attention model of Roberts et al. (2013)	.28
Figure 1.3 ASSR reset response	.34

Chapter 2

Figure 2.1 Characteristics of the tinnitus group	58
Figure 2.2 AM stimuli that evoked the EFR	62
Figure 2.3 Behavioral measurements for tinnitus and control groups	66
Figure 2.4 Individual differences in AM coding in tinnitus and control groups	70
Figure 2.5 Summary of model simulations and EFR results	73
Figure 2.6 Conceptual model of peripheral synaptic loss in tinnitus	82

Chapter 3

Figure 3.1 Audiogram, tinnitus spectrum, and tinnitus loudness matches	97
Figure 3.2 Auditory task	98
Figure 3.3 ASSR and N1 topographies and waveforms	99
Figure 3.4 Behavioral performance for tinnitus and control groups	.100
Figure 3.5ASSR and N1 attention effects	.101
Figure 3.6 N2 and auditory SR attention effects	.103

Chapter 4

Figure 4.1 Stimulus and task design	
6	
Figure 4.2 Source locations and waveforms	124

Figure 4.3 Comparison of spectral power and centroid for the ASSR	127
Figure 4.4 Relationship of phase shifts to spectral centroid	130
Figure 4.5 Time series of ASSR resets for the 400 Hz and 5 kHz probes	135
Figure 4.6 Pre-stimulus and pre- and post-gap differences of power spectral	
centroids for the 5 kHz and 400 Hz carrier	137

List of Tables Chapter 2

Table 2.1 Demographic information for tinnitus and control	l groups, and summary
of tinnitus characteristics	56

Chapter 3

Table 3.1 Participant demographics	
Table 3.2 Relationship of ASSR and N1 responses on passive blocks and ASSR	
and N1 attention effects to subject and tinnitus variables	

List of Abbreviations

A1: Primary auditory cortex A2: Secondary (nonprimary) auditory cortex ABR: Auditory brainstem response AC: Auditory cortex AM: Amplitude modulation ANF: Auditory nerve fiber ANOVA: Analysis of variance ASSR: Auditory steady-state response BF: Basal forebrain **BM**: Basilar membrane **CF:** Characteristic frequency **CN:** Cochlear nucleus dB HL: decibels hearing level dB SL: decibels sensation level dB SPL: decibels sound pressure level DCN: Dorsal cochlear nucleus DPOAE: Distortion product otoacoustic emission EEG: Electroencephalogram EFR: Envelope following response FFR: Frequency following response GABA: gamma-Aminobutyric acid IC: Inferior colliculus IHC: Inner hair cell **IT:** Intermittent tinnitus **ITI:** Intertrial interval Hz: Hertz MGB: Medial geniculate body MOC: Medial olivocochlear ms: millisecond NBN: Narrowband noise **OAE:** Otoacoustic emission OHC: Outer hair cell PEST: Parameter estimation by sequential testing PLV: Phase locking value PSD: Power spectral density **RI:** Residual inhibition SFR: spontaneous firing rate SL: Sensation level SPL: Sound pressure level SR: Auditory sustained response STDP: Spike-timing dependent plasticity STFT: Short-time Fourier transform

TH: Threshold THQ: Tinnitus Handicap Questionnaire TFP: Total field power TFR: Tinnitus frequency region VCN: Ventral cochlear nucleus

Declaration of Academic Achievement

The material in this thesis includes three empirical manuscripts that each address questions concerning the neural mechanisms involved in tinnitus. Chapters 2 and 4 have been submitted for publication and Chapter 3 has appeared in publication. I am the primary author for each submitted or published manuscript. My specific contributions to the content of this thesis, including submitted or published manuscripts, are as follows:

Chapter 1: Introduction

Author: Brandon T. Paul

Chapter 2: Amplitude modulation encoding deficits suggest hidden hearing loss in individuals with tinnitus and normal audiograms

Authors: Brandon T. Paul, Ian C. Bruce, & Larry E. Roberts Publication: Submitted Comments: For this manuscript I collaboratively developed the research question and design

with I.C.B. and L.E.R, solely collected and analyzed data, and was the lead writer with assistance coming from I.C.B. and L.E.R.

Chapter 3: Modulation of Electrocortical Brain Activity by Attention in Individuals with and without Tinnitus

Authors: Brandon T. Paul, Ian C. Bruce, Daniel J. Bosnyak, David C. Thompson, & Larry E. Roberts
Publication: Neural Plasticity, 2014, vol. 2014, Article ID 127824.
Comments:
For this manuscript I collaboratively developed the research question and design with I.C.B., D. J.B., and L.E.R, collected data in conjunction with D.C.T. and D.J.B., analyzed data with L.E.R, and took a lead writing role with L.E.R. I.C.B. and D.J.B provided assistance and edits.

Chapter 4: Top-down attention modifies a spectral estimate of phase shifts during resets of the auditory steady state response

Authors: Brandon T. Paul, Ian C. Bruce, & Larry E. Roberts Publication: Submitted Comments: For this manuscript I collaboratively developed the research question and design with I.C.B. and L.E.R, solely collected and analyzed data, and was the lead writer

with assistance and edits coming from I.C.B. and L.E.R.

Chapter 5: Discussion

Author: Brandon T. Paul

Note to the reader: Consistent with the "sandwich" thesis format, Chapters 2, 3, and 4 are written as manuscripts published or submitted for publication. Material in Chapter 1 is often repeated in the introduction of each empirical chapter.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Overview and introduction to the deafferentation model of tinnitus Chronic tinnitus is the phantom sound perception experienced in the absence of a physical sound source, often described as a "ringing" or "hissing" in the ears. As of 2013, 41% of surveyed Canadians have experienced tinnitus, and 20% of these individuals found it severe enough to negatively affect daily function (Stats Canada, 2015). Although many of those afflicted may seek medical assistance to relieve their tinnitus, they will find there is no cure or generally effective treatment. The path to developing effective therapies for tinnitus relies on developing a scientific understanding of the causes and basic mechanisms of tinnitus. A starting point is that tinnitus is not generated in the ear as people commonly experience; cutting the peripheral auditory nerve does not effectively stop tinnitus in most cases (House & Brackmann, 1981). Rather, evidence suggests that tinnitus is a consequence of neuroplastic changes in the brain (Noreña & Farley, 2013; Shore et al., 2016). This does not suggest that the auditory periphery (including the cochlea, the primary hearing organ in the inner ear) is not involved. It is clear that most tinnitus cases occur when input to the brain from the ear is significantly diminished.

In agreement with this view, 85% of tinnitus sufferers have evidence of hearing loss in their audiogram, a standard clinical test that assesses thresholds of audibility for tones in quiet (Henry et al., 2005). The normal range of human hearing is for sound frequencies between 20 Hz and 20 kHz, and on average,

threshold shifts in those with tinnitus begin around 2 kHz and further increase into the high frequency hearing range up to 16 kHz (Roberts et al., 2008). If tinnitus subjects with this or a similar profile of audiometric loss are asked to rate the similarity of their tinnitus sensation to a range of pure tones, similarity ratings also begin to increase around 2 kHz and peak between 5 and 8 kHz. In other words, the frequencies where people hear their tinnitus are where there are audiometric threshold shifts that indicate hearing loss. If noise maskers covering the tinnitus and hearing loss frequency region are played to these individuals for about 30 seconds or longer, they commonly report a short-duration suppression of the tinnitus sound after the masker ceases, a phenomenon termed "residual inhibition" or RI (Roberts et al., 2008). These findings suggest that aberrant activity among neurons tuned to the hearing loss frequencies (herein called the "tinnitus frequency region," TFR) may be generating the tinnitus, and suppressing that activity with noise maskers briefly stops the tinnitus. The challenge remains to determine what these neurons are doing to generate the tinnitus, and to identify where in the auditory pathway that this activity is occurring (Roberts et al., 2010; Shore et al., 2016).

To meet this challenge, complementary human and animal research has attempted to establish the cause and neural correlates of tinnitus as well as the consequences of tinnitus on general cognitive function. Broadly, this research suggests that damaging effects of noise exposure, aging, and ototoxic drugs diminish peripheral input to the central auditory system, leading to widespread

hyperactivity in neurons tuned to the hearing loss frequencies (Noreña & Farley, 2013). The mechanism behind hyperactivity is not fully understood, but could reflect either loss of inhibition in auditory pathways (Eggermont & Roberts, 2004), neuromodulators released when phantom sounds are experienced (Roberts et al., 2013), homeostatic mechanisms that are rapidly employed to compensate for loss of input and keep neuronal activity operating in a normal range (Turrigiano & Nelson, 2004), or an increase in activity-dependent plasticity (such as spike-timing dependent plasticity) that increases the excitability of deafferented neurons (Koehler & Shore, 2013). A possible and unwanted consequence is that hyperactivity can potentiate the formation of coherent or synchronous neural activity across large neuronal ensembles in central auditory structures (Shore et al., 2016). It has been proposed that synchronous activity (especially in auditory cortex) may be the direct correlate of the tinnitus sound (Eggermont & Roberts, 2004; Shore et al., 2016), since synchronous activity is theorized to be necessary for the formation of an auditory object that emerges into conscious perception (Brette, 2012). The neural changes in tinnitus extend beyond the auditory system to non-auditory networks, specifically affecting attention, memory, emotion, and somatosensory function (Husain, 2016). However, it is currently not known whether non-auditory changes are necessary and/or sufficient for the development and perception of tinnitus (Shore et al., 2016).

The idea that reduced peripheral input can lead to central hyperactivity underlying tinnitus is referred to as the *deafferentation model* of tinnitus, with

deafferentation referring to a cessation of peripheral input to the central nervous system. Here, deafferentation specifically arises due to auditory peripheral damage. To understand the model and evidence that supports it, this chapter will present a basic overview of the auditory system, common types of auditory deafferentation, and human and animal studies revealing tinnitus correlates after deafferentation. This chapter will highlight two questions raised under the deafferentation model, the first dealing with peripheral factors and the second with central factors, which are the topics of Chapters 2, 3, and 4. Peripheral factors here refer to the structure and function of the auditory periphery, including the cochlea and auditory nerve. Central factors refer to the central auditory nervous system and non-auditory brain regions, beginning at the cochlear nucleus in the brainstem.

1.2 Basic overview of the auditory system

The basic components of the classical auditory pathway are presented in Figure 1.1. Depictions in Figure 1.1 and descriptions below represent a small but core subset of auditory connections between the cochlea and the cortex. The review emphasizes the structure and function of mechanosensory hair cells and the auditory nerve that are important to understand material in Chapter 2, as well as the auditory cortex which is the focus of Chapters 3 and 4. Unless otherwise referenced, material in this section is attributed to Yost (2007).



Figure 1.1. The auditory pathway. Complex sounds entering the ear in (a) mechanically vibrate structures of the middle and inner ear. Basilar membrane motion (b) deflects stereocilia of inner hair cells (IHCs) of the organ of Corti, and IHC depolarization is read out as neural impulses on auditory nerve synapses (red and blue) in (c). Active mechanisms of outer hair cells (OHCs) provide nonlinear compression and enhanced frequency selectivity along the BM which is controlled by descending influence through efferent fibers (green). Auditory information encoded in afferent auditory fibers enters the central auditory system and is sent to ventral and dorsal portions of the cochlear nucleus (VCN/DCN) in (d), whose outputs arise to the superior olivary complex (SOC) in (e) and inferior colliculus (IC) in (f). IC outputs ascend into the medial geniculate body (MGB) of the thalamus which then enters the auditory cortex (AC) in (g). In (h) auditory cortex consists of a primary core region (A1) and the surrounding A2 comprised of the belt and parabelt regions. Alexhibits two tonotopic maps sharing a low

frequency border situated laterally (red) and high frequencies radiating medially (blue). Anterior (A) and posterior (P) axes are given. The figure outlines in (a), (c), and (g) are adapted and used in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution 2.5 Generic license from Wikimedia Commons. (h) is adapted from Saenz and Langers (2013) and is used here with permission from the publisher.

1.2.1 The auditory periphery

In (a), sound waves consisting of compressed and rarefied air pressure induce motion in the tympanic membrane, which is transferred by the bones of the middle ear (ossicles) to the oval window of the cochlea. Movement of the ossicles compresses and decompresses the fluid-filled spiraling cochlea. The fluid motion creates a traveling wave of energy shown in (b) that starts at the base of the cochlea and travels toward the apex, displacing the basilar membrane (BM) located along the cochlear partition. The stiffness of the BM changes along the length such that the natural resonant frequency of vibration changes as a function of position. Stiffness is greatest at the base and least at the apex, meaning that higher frequencies (at most 20 kHz) are naturally coded at the base and lower frequencies (at least 20 Hz) at the apex. Thus, the BM decomposes complex sound signals into constituent frequencies at specific locations along its length, referred to as a "cochleotopic" organization that gives rise to tonotopic maps seen in many structures of the ascending auditory pathway to the auditory cortex. Stimuli of higher intensities displace the BM more than stimuli of lower intensities, and the pattern of displacement with higher intensities is broader along the partition.

The vibration of the BM generates a shearing motion with respect to the tectorial membrane of the organ of Corti (shown in (c) with exception to the tectorial membrane), which is situated above the mechanosensory inner and outer hair cells. The shearing motion deflects stereocilia on top of the hair cells, and connections (called tip links) among stereocilia are thought to open ion channels and depolarize the cell. On inner hair cells (IHCs), which are responsible for transmitting frequency, intensity, and timing information of the BM motion into electrochemical signals, depolarization signals vesicular release of the excitatory neurotransmitter glutamate at the base of each cell in large synaptic zones called ribbon synapses. Glutamatergic receptors on the post-synaptic element are dendritic processes of afferent auditory nerve fibers, and a single nerve fiber contacts each ribbon synapse. These nerve fibers are elements of spiral ganglion cells that together comprise parts of the cochlear nerve, and provide the majority of the afferent input into the central nervous system. Each fiber responds to a range of sound frequencies, but single fibers are maximally responsive (i.e., "tuned") to a frequency corresponding to its location along the BM. This frequency is referred to as its characteristic frequency (CF), and it is common that neurons throughout the auditory system are tuned to specific CFs.

IHCs are contacted by 10-30 afferent fibers (Maison et al., 2013). Around 60% of these nerve fibers have high spontaneous (non-evoked) rates of firing and low stimulus-evoked firing thresholds. Evoked firing rates of these fibers saturate (i.e., do not increase further with increasing stimulus level) at around 40 dB SPL (Liberman, 1978). Herein these fiber types are called high-SR fibers, and are shown in (c) as red and are concentrated on the pillar side of IHCs (i.e., closer to the lateral portion of the cochlea). In contrast, 40% of fibers have lower spontaneous discharge rates, higher firing thresholds (~35–40 dB SPL), and larger dynamic ranges to sound level than high-SR fibers (Liberman, 1978). These fibers are referred to here as low-SR fibers (shown in (c) as blue) and are concentrated on the modiolar side of IHCs (i.e., toward the middle of the cochlea). In the presence of background noise, evoked responses of high-SR fibers are severely degraded but low-SR fibers are fairly robust (Costaloupes et al., 1984; Young & Barta, 1986). In short, high-SR fibers best code for low-level sounds in quiet and low-SR fibers best code for higher-level stimuli especially in noisy environments (Bharadwaj et al., 2014).

When stereocilia on OHCs are sheared by BM motion, transduction currents lead to active changes in the length of OHCs. At small displacements, OHC lengthening amplifies BM displacement to increase frequency specificity of stimulus encoding along the BM. At larger displacements, OHCs actively compress to maintain frequency selectivity under broad patterns of displacement, which also protects sensitive structures of the cochlea from intense sounds (Ciuman, 2010). OHCs receive predominantly efferent (descending) input shown in green in (c) from the medial olivocochlear (MOC) system, which originates upstream in medial portions of the superior olivary complex (SOC). Modulation through MOC feedback diminishes auditory nerve firing in the presence of

continual stimulation by inhibiting OHCs, which may increase the signal to noise ratio and assist with listening in background noise (Guinan, 2006; Ciuman, 2010). In short, the nonlinear process of OHCs maintains frequency and timing acuity across a large dynamic range of stimulus levels, and OHC efferent feedback boosts stimulus coding in noise.

1.2.2 The central auditory system

As afferent auditory nerve fibers bundle and exit the cochlea, they pass into the central nervous system, divide into two branches, and as shown in (d), innervate neurons in both the dorsal and ventral portions of the cochlear nucleus (DCN and VCN, respectively). Regions of the CN maintain tonotopy, but further refinement of acoustic signals comes by way of inhibitory cells that shape cellular tuning. Some outputs from VCN target neurons in SOC shown in (e), whose primary role is to localize sound sources along the horizontal plane using cues of stimulus timing and stimulus level compared between ears. Originating in medial parts of the SOC are efferents of the MOC which descend to ipsilateral and contralateral OHCs in the cochlea.

Other outputs of both DCN and VCN ascend to the inferior colliculus (IC) in the auditory midbrain (f), a large and complex structure known to be essential in modulating both ascending and descending information, filtering and refinement of acoustic signals, binaural processing, and multimodal integration (Winer & Schreiner, 2005). Outputs from the IC (but also those directly from DCN) innervate neurons in the medial geniculate body (MGB) of the thalamus

shown in (g), which functions to filter and modify sound features encoded in upcoming neural activity before they are relayed to the cortex (Bartlett, 2013).

The auditory cortex (AC), located in Heschl's gyrus, receives input from the thalamus as shown in (g). The auditory cortex consists of a primary region, or the core (A1) shown in (h), which is surrounded by secondary or nonprimary regions called the belt and parabelt, herein referred to as A2. In humans, A1 consists of two tonotopic gradients forming a V-shaped map shown in (h), with lower frequencies situated laterally and the two "arms" of the V comprising the progressively higher frequencies moving medially (Saenz & Langers, 2014). Like most sensory cortical regions, A1 has a laminar (i.e., layered) structure. MGB sends projections directly to neurons in layer 4 and in lower layers 5 and 6, whose output is sent to higher layers 2/3. Thalamic innervation however accounts for around 10% of input to cortical neurons, whereas the dominant number of cortical connections consists of other excitatory and inhibitory cortical cells which may function to maintain sharp spectrotemporal tuning (Abeles, 1991; Schreiner & Winer, 2007). Output from the core extends into A2, which exhibits a weaker tonotopy, contains more diffuse intracortical connections in comparison to A1, and receives diverse multisensory inputs (Tardif & Clarke, 2001; Kaas & Hackett, 2002; Schreiner & Winer, 2007).

1.3 Causes of peripheral deafferentation and factors related to tinnitus

1.3.1 Causes of deafferentation

Noise overexposure and aging are two of the most common causes of damage to hair cells and their synaptic contacts to auditory nerve fibers (Kujawa & Liberman, 2015), and may be leading causal factors behind tinnitus. Standard methods for detecting cochlear damage focus on measurements at threshold, including the aforementioned behavioural audiogram. Thresholds of neural firing in the periphery can also be assessed by the auditory brainstem response (ABR), a potential evoked by tones or clicks that is averaged to reveal five waveforms representing the output of structures in the ascending auditory pathway (Melcher & Kiang, 1996). The first of these waves (ABR wave I) represents the potential generated by the synchronous firing of the auditory nerve.

OHC damage will result in a loss of cochlear amplification, frequency selectivity, and compression (Cody & Russell, 1985). Thresholds will elevate (Borg, 1987), and the presence of background noise will more strongly mask signals (Davis et al., 1989). Because they are an active process, the activity of OHCs produce sounds known as otoacoustic emissions (OAEs) that are detectable by a microphone placed in the external auditory canal (reviewed in Brownell, 1990). Spontaneous OAEs can be recorded, but OAEs are more commonly evoked by the distortion product created on the basilar membrane by two simultaneously presented brief tones (cubic difference tone, $2f_1-f_2$) at different sound pressure levels. These are known as distortion product OAEs (DPOAEs).

Loss of OHCs will diminish both spontaneous OAEs and DPOAEs. Exclusive IHC loss without OHC loss is difficult (if not impossible) to obtain with methods of noise exposure. Alternatively, studies have used carboplatin, a drug commonly used to treat cancer, which selectively kills IHCs while leaving OHCs intact (Wake et al., 1994). Using this method, Lobarinas et al. (2013) demonstrated that audiometric thresholds do not significantly elevate until about 80% of IHCs are lost, speaking to the idea that few of these cells (and thus nerve fibers) are needed to produce a normal audiogram.

Noise exposure can either lead to threshold shifts that do not recover (permanent shifts), or temporary threshold shifts that return to normal after a few days or weeks. Temporary shifts were originally thought to occur without longterm damage (Puel et al., 1998); however, Kujawa and Liberman (2009) found that moderate noise exposure leads to a permanent degradation in suprathreshold ABR wave I responses in high-frequency hearing regions, although wave I threshold shifts were only temporary. Suprathreshold deficits were attributable to an irreversible loss of ribbon synapses contacting low-SR fibers (see blue fibers in Figure 1.1c), while high-SR fibers were less affected (Furman et al., 2013). Several months after exposure, nerve fibers once contacting these synapses degenerated significantly (Kujawa & Liberman, 2009). Loss of peripheral synapses or nerve fibers that is undetected by threshold tests such as the audiogram is now commonly referred to as "hidden" hearing loss (Schaette & McAlpine, 2011).

Because low-SR fibers strongly phase lock to temporal modulations of the sound envelope, such as amplitude modulation (AM), Bharadwaj et al. (2014) reasoned that deficits in AM encoding might indicate hidden low-SR fiber loss. AM encoding can be measured behaviourally in psychophysical tasks or electrophysiologically with the "envelope following response" (EFR), an evoked potential phase locked to an AM sound that arises from the auditory midbrain (Herdman et al., 2002). Bharadwaj et al. (2015) found that individuals with normal audiograms and DPOAEs exhibited a wide range of ability to detect AM in a high-frequency, 4 kHz narrowband noise where hidden hearing damage might be expected. Behavioural AM detection significantly correlated with the EFR such that those with poor AM sensitivity had diminished EFRs evoked by sounds with shallow amplitude modulations. These individuals were also likely to have more self-reported noise exposure. It was suggested that those with AM encoding deficits had more low-SR fiber loss than individuals with good AM sensitivity and robust EFRs. Using an animal model, Shaheen et al. (2015) found that EFRs after noise exposure were likewise reduced, matching predictions of predominantly low-SR fiber loss.

Age-related hearing loss is typically associated with loss of cochlear hair cells and decline of spiral ganglion cells (Makary et al., 2011). Sergeyenko et al. (2013) however recently found that mice unexposed to noise exhibited synaptic ribbon loss over time that preceded spiral ganglion decline and OHC loss. Moreover, acute noise damage has been shown to accelerate this age-related

synaptic decline (Fernandez et al., 2015). In sum, synaptic connections between IHCs and auditory nerve fibers are likely the most sensitive components of cochlear transduction to effects of noise and aging, and are undetected by threshold measurements unless loss exceeds levels around 80%.

1.3.2 Peripheral damage in tinnitus

Despite the assertion that hearing damage following noise exposure and aging can trigger the development of tinnitus, audiometric hearing loss and tinnitus are not always concurrent. Many individuals with audiometric threshold shifts in the high frequency hearing region do not have tinnitus, a circumstance four times more common than the presence of both threshold shifts and tinnitus (Lockwood et al., 2002). In contrast, 15% of individuals without audiometric threshold shifts to 8 kHz do not have tinnitus (Henry et al., 2005). Despite the fact that the audiogram may not be detecting hidden synaptic or nerve fiber loss in these cases, when audiograms between tinnitus and non-tinnitus individuals are compared, differences are still evident that suggest peripheral damage. Roberts et al. (2008) compared audiograms of a large sample of tinnitus subjects closely matched in age to non-tinnitus subjects in order to control for age-related cochlear damage. Subjects in both groups below the age of 50 expectedly had normal hearing thresholds to 10 kHz, whereas subjects over 50 years exhibited elevations of thresholds commencing at 2 kHz which further declined with increasing frequency consistent with age-related hearing loss. However, tinnitus subjects in both age cohorts tended to have thresholds ~11 dB hearing level (HL) higher in

the 2-8 kHz region compared to controls, which may indicate the presence of further cochlear damage.

Assessments of IHC and OHC function however have not been able to distinguish the presence of tinnitus. Some studies have reported reduced DPOAEs in tinnitus subjects within the region of audiometric threshold shift suggesting OHC impairment (e.g., Zhou et al., 2011) but others examining tinnitus sufferers with normal audiograms report that not all individuals show DPOAE deficits (Serra et al., 2015). Tan et al. (2013) inferred OHC integrity by taking psychophysical measurements of frequency selectivity and compression in individuals with threshold shifts that did and did not have tinnitus. Tinnitus subjects were in fact found to have better compression and frequency selectivity than controls, discounting OHC dysfunction in tinnitus and rather suggesting the presence of IHC damage. In agreement Weisz et al. (2006) found evidence for high-frequency IHC loss in tinnitus individuals with normal audiograms using a psychophysical task that tests for cochlear "dead regions," but a more recent report found that only just above half of individuals with tinnitus and highfrequency audiometric loss have the same evidence of IHC loss (Kiani et al., 2013). Another report found no evidence of cochlear dead regions in tinnitus suffers with and without high-frequency threshold shifts (Gilles et al., 2013).

Two recent reports have instead pointed to the presence of synaptic loss in tinnitus individuals (Schaette & McAlpine, 2011; Gu et al., 2012). These studies found that the amplitude of ABR wave I evoked by suprathreshold click stimuli

was smaller in tinnitus subjects with normal audiograms compared to controls with closely-matched audiograms. Diminished auditory nerve responses that would produce these results were attributable to loss of low-SR auditory nerve fibers as found in animals (Kujawa & Liberman, 2009; Furman et al., 2013), since behavioural audiograms were normal (Schaette & McAlpine, 2011). This interpretation however is weakened by recent animal evidence showing that low-SR fibers do not strongly contribute to ABR wave I (Bourien et al., 2014) meaning that the precise pattern of synaptic or nerve fiber loss explaining ABR wave I deficits in tinnitus has not yet been determined. The experiment described in Chapter 2 is aimed to more directly test for low-SR fiber loss in tinnitus subjects with normal audiograms by measuring AM sensitivity and EFRs, similar to approaches taken by Bharadwaj et al. (2015).

1.4 Central changes related to tinnitus

1.4.1 General consequences of deafferentation in central auditory structures In response to chronic under- or overstimulation, neurons have self-regulating negative feedback processes that keep their firing rates operating within a prescribed range, which are collectively known as mechanisms of homeostatic plasticity (Turrigiano & Nelson, 2004). For example, neurons that are persistently deprived of stimulation below their baseline level of input will change their intrinsic gain by upregulating excitatory properties and downregulating inhibitory properties to maintain a set level of firing activity over the long term (Turrigiano, 2011). It has been widely demonstrated that deafferented central auditory neurons

express hyperactivity consistent with homeostatic plasticity, such as increases of spontaneous firing rates (SFRs) and evoked firing rates, burst firing, and correlated or synchronous firing between pairs of auditory neurons (Noreña & Farley, 2013). These findings led to the hypothesis that tinnitus-related hyperactivity results from homeostatic changes in central gain (Schaette & Kempter, 2006; Noreña & Farley, 2013). A role for non-homeostatic activityrelated synaptic plasticity in the formation of tinnitus is also likely, such as spiketiming dependent plasticity (STDP) in which the timing relationship of pre- and post-synaptic firing (spiking) can increase or decrease the strength of the synapse (Koehler & Shore, 2013; Basura et al., 2015). Because this type of plasticity is dependent on finely-regulated timing, STDP is believed to foster synchronous activity in neural networks (Nowotny, 2003).

Aside from tinnitus, a separate condition hypothesized to arise from increased central gain after noise exposure is called *hyperacusis* (Sun et al., 2012), defined as hypersensitivity to loud sounds. Tinnitus sufferers with normal audiometric thresholds are known to likewise have abnormal loudness discomfort levels (evidence of hyperacusis), suggesting enhanced central gain that could have resulted from undetected peripheral synaptic loss (Hébert et al., 2013). The notion that tinnitus and hyperacusis are consequences of similar etiologies and mechanisms is a topic of extensive discussion (Auerbach et al., 2014). However, the review here focuses solely on evidence directly relating to tinnitus.

1.4.2 Models and limitations in animal research

Animal research has significantly advanced the tinnitus research field by uncovering the cellular and molecular consequences of noise exposure on central auditory processing. However animals, unlike humans, cannot simply report that they have tinnitus, meaning that the presence of tinnitus must be inferred from their behaviour (Hayes et al., 2014). Some procedures (e.g., Jastreboff et al., 1988) condition or train animals to only respond (such as lick water or press a lever) in the presence of sound. If after hearing damage animals continue to perform these behaviours in the absence of sound, it is presumed they hear tinnitus. Other more objective methods have inferred the presence of tinnitus by testing the startle reflex of an animal. Sounds preceding a startle stimulus known to inhibit the startle reflex in healthy animals do not inhibit reflexes in tinnitus animals because the presence of tinnitus is assumed to mask the pre-startle sound (Turner et al., 2006). Gap-startle paradigms are not without controversy in that a parallel explanation for why an animal cannot detect a pre-startle pulse may be the presence of undetected hearing loss or impaired temporal processing (Galazyuk & Hébert, 2015). Some studies have found an opposite effect where tinnitusinducing noise increases the startle response, which may indicate the presence of hyperacusis (Salloum et al., 2016). Although conditioning paradigm and gapstartle animal models of tinnitus are collectively referred to as "animals with behavioural tinnitus" herein, a cautionary note moving forward is that these confounding factors limit the generalizability of animal findings to human tinnitus research.

Aside from noise exposure and aging, tinnitus can be induced by ototoxic drugs such as salicylate, the active ingredient of aspirin (Cazals, 2000) which is a commonly used tinnitus induction method in animal models (Stolzberg et al., 2012). However salicylate may operate differently from noise exposure in that it directly influences central hyperactivity, and at doses necessary to induce tinnitus salicylate does not affect cochlear function (Stolzberg et al., 2012). For this reason discussion of animal research herein focuses on tinnitus following noise exposure. An additional note is that noise exposure across animal studies produces vastly different patterns of cochlear damage, with some protocols producing only temporary threshold shifts while others show permanent shifts. Based on the notion that thresholds only partly reflect cochlear damage due to noise (see Section 1.3), degrees of threshold shift are not distinguished in the discussion below. A final limitation is that many animal studies which may be important to understand the effects of central hyperactivity after hearing loss commonly do not directly measure tinnitus-related behaviours. Such studies and their complement to tinnitus are discussed in Eggermont (2015) and Berger and Coomber (2015), but here focus will be placed on reports that measured for evidence of tinnitus.

1.4.3 Central auditory changes in animal models of tinnitus

Tinnitus research using animal models has focused on measuring three primary electrophysiological correlates of neurons in the central auditory system: increases in SFRs, burst firing, and synchronous firing between pairs of neurons. It has not been determined which correlate or configuration of them is the direct neural

generator of tinnitus, but synchronous activity is a strong candidate since it is likely involved in the formation of auditory objects that may emerge into conscious perception (Brette, 2012). SFR increases are one of the most widely reported correlates of tinnitus-related behaviour in animals following noise exposure, appearing in DCN (Brozoski et al., 2002; Kaltenbach et al., 2004; Dehmel et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2016), IC (Bauer et al., 2008; Longenecker & Galazyuk, 2011), and A1 (Engineer et al., 2011; Basura et al., 2015; Ahlf et al., 2012). Increases in rhythmic burst firing have likewise been found in DCN (Wu et al., 2016), IC (Bauer et al., 2008), and MGB (Kalappa et al., 2014), and increased synchrony has been noted in DCN (Wu et al., 2016), IC (Bauer et al., 2008), and A1 (Engineer et al., 2011).

Hyperactivity in the central auditory pathway of tinnitus animals may relate to homeostatic modifications of neurotransmission (Noreña & Farley, 2013). However, findings implicating the downregulation of inhibitory GABA, which is typically associated with homeostatic changes resulting from reduced input (Turrigiano, 2011), have been less consistent in animals with behavioural tinnitus. GABA has been shown to both decrease (Middleton et al., 2011), and increase in DCN (Brozoski et al., 2012), as well as decrease (Brozoski et al., 2012) and increase (Sametsky et al., 2015) in MGB. Brozoski et al. (2012) interestingly found no difference in excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmission in IC between noise-exposed tinnitus and non-tinnitus animals. A1 also shows evidence for decreased GABA (Llano et al., 2012). DCN neurons in animals with
behavioural evidence of tinnitus have also been associated with reduction of potassium channels (Li et al., 2013; Li et al., 2015) and glycinergic (inhibitory) synapses (Wang et al., 2009), resulting in increased neuronal excitability.

Changes in the timing rules of STDP are also associated with tinnitus. The trigeminal cranial nerve (responsible for facial movements) supplies inputs into DCN which upregulate after cochlear deafening or noise exposure (Zeng et al., 2012; Dehmel et al., 2012). In normal animals, the strength of synaptic contacts between auditory and somatosensory inputs is known to change through STDP (Koehler et al., 2010). In noise-exposed animals with tinnitus, the timing rules governing STDP between these inputs reverse such that the auditory-somatosensory spike pairing that normally decreases SFRs in non-tinnitus animals conversely increases SFRs in tinnitus animals. The net effect of the STDP change in this manner could increase upstream excitatory drive and promote neural synchrony (Koehler & Shore, 2013). The same inversion of STDP rules has been found in A1 of animals with behavioural evidence of tinnitus (Basura et al., 2015).

An open question is whether or not hyperactivity in each structure of the auditory pathway is necessary for tinnitus. Ropp et al. (2014) found that SFR increases in tinnitus animals four months after exposure only occurred in IC neurons targeted by VCN projections and not DCN. Since DCN ablation a few weeks after exposure abolishes tinnitus (Brozoski et al., 2011) but ablation after 3-5 months does not (Bauer & Brozoski, 2005), the authors suggest a role of the

VCN in maintaining heightened SFRs related to tinnitus at least up to the level of IC, but initial hyperactivity may be primarily driven by DCN. This notion is further supported by the finding that tinnitus animals did not show changes in the content of inhibitory or excitatory neurotransmitters in IC (Brozoski et al., 2012), overall suggesting that the IC changes are driven by tinnitus-related hyperactivity in CN.

A final putative correlate of tinnitus after deafferentation is tonotopic map reorganization, in which A1 neurons in the hearing loss frequency region tend to shift their tuning properties toward neurons that retain their afferent input at the edge of audiometric loss (i.e., before commencement of threshold shift; Noreña et al., 2003) such that the edge frequencies become overrepresented. The view is that changes in the balance of excitation and inhibition in the edge region may be responsible for maintaining the tinnitus percept (Eggermont, 2006). Other studies have found that map plasticity in animals with behavioural tinnitus was only transient (Ahlf et al., 2012), and human neuroimaging evidence failed to find a significant difference in the tonotopic maps of individuals with and without tinnitus matched in audiometric thresholds (Langers et al., 2012) although spatial resolution in this latter study may be insufficient to detect microscopic changes. It is notable that the tinnitus spectrum typically peaks well within the region of threshold shifts and not at the audiometric edge (Roberts et al., 2008). Tonotopic map reorganization may be important to understand more general effects of

deafferentation in auditory cortex, but it is presently unclear if map reorganization directly contributes to the tinnitus percept.

1.4.6 Agreement with human findings

Matching animal findings, evidence of hyperactivity is present in the subcortical pathway of humans with tinnitus. Gu et al. (2012) found that individuals with tinnitus and normal thresholds had reduced ABR wave I to suprathreshold clicks (indicative of synaptic loss) but enhanced wave III (generated in VCN; Melcher & Kiang, 1996) compared to matched controls, suggesting a gain increase in this structure. Wave V (lemniscal input to IC and IC itself) was also increased, agreeing with normalized Wave V amplitudes reported by Schaette and McAlpine (2011). Using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), increased evoked metabolic responses have been found in IC of tinnitus subjects (Lanting et al., 2008; Melcher et al., 2009) consistent with effects of hyperactivity, although Gu et al. (2010) suggested these results may relate more to the presence of hyperacusis rather than tinnitus.

In auditory cortex, both A1 and A2 regions show increased resting state metabolic activity in tinnitus sufferers (Arnold et al., 1996; Issa et al., 2016) suggestive of ongoing hyperactivity. Resting state recordings of the electroencephalogram (EEG) have shown greater power of spontaneous rhythmic gamma oscillations (neural potentials oscillating at rates > 30 Hz) compared to controls suggesting increases in synchronous neural activity, although some of these findings may not be specifically generated in auditory cortex (Weisz et al.,

2007; Lorenz et al., 2009; Sedley et al., 2012). Decreases in inhibitory-related alpha activity (9-12 Hz) in the resting state EEG have also been found (Weisz et al., 2005; Lorenz et al., 2009). Using magnetic resonance spectroscopy to measure neurochemical content, Sedley et al. (2015) reported a reduction in the presence of GABA in the auditory cortex of tinnitus individuals compared to controls, suggesting diminished inhibition which directly agrees with animal findings (Llano et al., 2012). Evoked activity in auditory cortex is also generally found to be elevated in humans with tinnitus suggesting hyperactivity and reduced inhibition (e.g., Gu et al., 2010; Diesch et al., 2010; Weinbruch et al., 2006) but findings are more inconsistent, depend on stimulus frequency, and are sensitive to task designs (see below).

1.5 Tinnitus and attention

A wealth of evidence suggests that non-auditory brain regions and networks, such as those involved in attention, arousal, distress, and consciousness, are implicated in the perception of tinnitus (Jastreboff, 1990; Roberts et al., 2013; Adjamian et al., 2009; Adjamian et al., 2014; Husain, 2016). The involvement of these networks is unsurprising since tinnitus is frequently associated with depression, pain, and anxiety (Joos et al., 2012; Rauschecker et al., 2015; Landgrebe & Langguth, 2012). Although many human studies have reported inconsistent and contradictory evidence regarding the anatomical (Adjamian et al., 2014) or functional (Adjamian et al., 2009; Husain, 2016) significance of auditory and nonauditory interactions in tinnitus, partly due to methodological or inter-subject

factors, it is clear that the influence of tinnitus on broader cognitive function cannot be ignored.

1.5.1 Overview of attention

One factor relevant to tinnitus may be attention (Roberts et al., 2013). Attention here broadly refers to the direction of consciousness toward a stimulus or stimulus feature. Many frameworks have organized attention into "top-down" and "bottom-up" forms (e.g., Corbetta & Schulman, 2002), with the former referring to voluntary goal-directed selection of desired stimulus features, and the latter a result of detection and involuntary reorienting toward unexpected or incorrectly predicted events or sensory events with high saliency. Some have argued that topdown and bottom-up forms of attention are independent and emerge from distinct neural processes (Pinto et al., 2013), while others have reasoned that the top-down and bottom-up dichotomy is inadequate and rather suggest an integrated attention system based on behavioural priorities (Awh et al., 2012). Although appreciable, this debate cannot be presently resolved and the discussion here and in future chapters revolves around top-down and bottom-up forms of attention.

It is well established that attention influences neural processing in the auditory system in a manner that enhances or facilitates perception (Fritz et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2007). A common manipulation of top-down attention in such studies requires participants to actively attend to stimulus features and detect or categorize differences among them (active listening) which is then compared to a condition prompting subjects to not respond to stimuli and passively listen. The

amplitude of two evoked auditory cortical responses known to be larger during active listening in this manner are the 40 Hz auditory steady state response (ASSR), which is phase-locked to the envelope of a 40 Hz AM tone, and the N1 transient response which reaches a maximum amplitude ~80–120 ms after stimulus onset (Gander et al., 2010a/b). The 40 Hz ASSR is known to be generated in A1 (Gander et al., 2010a/b), Bidet-Caulet et al., 2007), and when evoked by tones of different frequencies the ASSR sources exhibit a frequency organization that parallels the A1 tonotopic map (Wienbruch et al., 2006; Gander et al 2010a). In contrast, the N1 response localizes to generators in regions of A2 (Godey et al., 2001) which are weakly or non-tonotopic (Moerel et al., 2014). Studies reporting increased metabolic activity in A1 and A2 under conditions of active listening (Grady et al., 1997; Paltoglou et al., 2009) agree with attentional effects on the ASSR and N1.

Neurophysiological mechanisms of attention that would enhance A1 and A2 responses are not fully understood, but could implicate neuromodulatory systems that appear to perform attention-like functions in sensory brain regions (Roberts et al., 2013). A likely candidate is the basal forebrain (BF) cholinergic system, wherein cholinergic projections originating from the nucleus basalis innervate sensory cortical neurons and sensitize them to their thalamocortical inputs depending on task requirements (Sarter et al., 2005; Fritz et al., 2007). The BF system can be activated from the bottom-up by salient events in order for neural networks to encode and represent new and relevant stimulus features, but

descending influence from the prefrontal cortex onto the BF system may produce top-down effects (Sarter et al., 2005). The cholinergic influence of the BF system is thought to modulate training-related plasticity of auditory cortical neurons in tasks that require the subject to quickly learn and attend to relevant stimulus features (Weinberger, 2004). BF-directed plasticity may underlie the observation that physiological properties of A1 neurons can be rapidly tuned to best represent stimulus features that align with behaviourally-relevant goals (Fritz et al., 2007). One recent study found that blocking cholinergic reuptake in rat auditory cortex enhanced the 40 Hz ASSR amplitude whereas cholinergic antagonists diminished ASSR amplitude (Zhang et al., 2016), agreeing with observed effects of top-down attention on the ASSR in humans.

1.5.2 Attentional deficits in tinnitus

Roberts et al. (2013) proposed a model suggesting that attention is a contributing or generative factor in the development of tinnitus following deafferentation. In this model it was assumed that a key function of the auditory cortex was to predict its sensory state (i.e., information in the auditory environment) by comparing neural activity representing the sensory environment in auditory cortex to information ascending from subcortical structures, in line with "predictive coding" models that are proposed to be a ubiquitous principle in sensory cortical areas (Friston & Kiebel, 2009). One way this could be achieved in A1 is shown in Figure 1.2a, wherein ascending thalamic (MGB) input provides excitatory drive (black) onto cortical layers 3 and 4 of A1 and feedforward inhibitory drive

(orange) onto deeper layers 5 and 6. Predictions held in upper cortical layers 2 and 3 which maintain the central representation of sound are integrated with upcoming excitatory drive and are combined with information stored in auditory memory and association areas (not shown). Comparisons are made by separate neurons that integrate the excitatory drive from predicted content and the inhibitory drive from deeper layers. If these two inputs are the same, they cancel, and the auditory cortex continues to generate predictions and inform behaviour in line with its current state.



Figure 1.2 Attention model of Roberts et al. (2013). Adapted and used here with permission from the publisher. Black lines are excitatory and orange lines are inhibitory. Green lines in (b) are modulatory.

In the circumstance of tinnitus shown in Figure 1.2b, the presence of tinnitus-related hyperactivity maintained in cortex (reinforced further by its presence in auditory memory) does not match the diminished input coming in from the auditory periphery. The prediction error calls attention in a bottom-up fashion (here represented by the BF cholinergic system and directed by prefrontal cortex) to resolve the disparity. Since the disparity cannot be resolved, the cholinergic system is chronically engaged in A1, sensitizing the already hyperactive neurons in the TFR and fostering plasticity in a manner that strengthens the connections between them. It should be noted that a more recent model of tinnitus also suggest failures of predictive coding (De Ridder et al., 2015) but does not presume deafferentation is necessary for tinnitus.

The summary of the model in Figure 1.2 is that an attention system is persistently engaged which may maintain the neural activity that is experienced as the tinnitus sound. Behavioural and neuroimaging studies can be interpreted to support this view. Individuals with tinnitus are known to perform poorly on auditory (Cuny et al., 2004) and non-auditory tasks measuring working memory, divided attention, and reaction times (Rossiter et al., 2006; Stevens et al., 2007; Heeren et al., 2014; Donhoffer et al., 2006), suggesting that attention directed to the presence of tinnitus may detract from shared cognitive resources. Resting state neuroimaging studies have found a significant engagement between attention networks and auditory regions in tinnitus subjects (Mirz et al., 2000; Maudoux et al., 2012; Burton et al., 2012), and increased evoked metabolic responses in A1 and A2 observed under passive listening conditions in tinnitus subjects relative to controls (Gu et al., 2010; Langers et al., 2012) may likewise suggest an ongoing expression of attention in these areas, notwithstanding enhancements attributable to central gain (Roberts et al., 2013).

Bottom-up forms of auditory attention likely function to assist cortical areas in rebuilding an accurate representation an acoustic scene after a novel or unexpected input, meaning that bottom-up sensitization of auditory neurons should be broadly deployed across the frequency range of hearing in order to best capture unpredicted information (Roberts et al., 2013). Under the attention model in Figure 1.2 this would mean that evidence for persistent attention should also occur in frequency regions outside the TFR that are not affected by cochlear damage. In agreement, tinnitus subjects in Roberts et al. (2015) were reported to have larger ASSR and N1 responses evoked at 500 Hz (a frequency well below the TFR) recorded in conditions where subjects did not respond and passively listened than those observed in matched control subjects, suggesting a possible attentional enhancement for frequency regions not affected by deafferentation in both A1 and A2. N1 responses evoked at 5 kHz in this study were also larger in tinnitus subjects compared to controls suggesting attentional facilitation, but the ASSR at 5 kHz was smaller likely owing to the presence of hypersynchrony that disrupted the ability of A1 neurons in this region to phase lock to the AM envelope of the stimulus (i.e., a "busy-line" effect). ASSR responses below 2 kHz reported in by Wienbruch et al. (2006) were likewise larger in tinnitus subjects, although responses above 2 kHz were not statistically different from controls. Diesch et al. (2012) however failed to find N1 enhancements in tinnitus subjects compared to controls although ASSR enhancements in tinnitus were significant, which was interpreted to mean that attention was not persistently engaged in

tinnitus subjects. Further inconsistent N1 findings in tinnitus were reviewed by Roberts et al. (2013), who discussed several factors that may affect whether transient N1 responses are sensitive to attentional modulation in tinnitus, similarly paint an uncertain picture for attentional enhancement at least in the area of A2.

In a more direct approach, Roberts et al. (2012) found that the ASSR and N1 amplitude evoked by a 5 kHz tone (a frequency within the TFR) was not enhanced in a top-down active listening condition compared to a passive listening condition, but attentional enhancement of these responses was normal in agematched controls with similar audiograms. Consistent with the model in Figure 1.2, a first explanation for these results could be that the top-down attention system was already engaged in tinnitus subjects in the passive condition, limiting any further facilitation during the active listening task. Subjects in Roberts et al. (2012) went on to train on the auditory task for several sessions, which resulted in the emergence of a significant attentional modulation of the 5 kHz ASSR amplitude after only a few sessions that was not observed for N1. Training-related effects were notably not found for control subjects for either evoked response. These findings invite a second explanation that top-down attention operates normally in tinnitus but could not initially be expressed within the deafferented region of A1 (and perhaps A2) because neural networks in this region were occupied with coding the tinnitus percept. The resistance of A1 neurons to topdown attention might have been reduced by active training, since the increased amplitude of the ASSR observed with training suggested that new neurons had

been recruited to represent the 5 kHz training sound. Without evidence further supporting one of these alternatives, the role attention plays in tinnitus under the deafferentation model remains uncertain.

Empirical work in Chapter 3 tested these alternatives by replicating the experimental procedure used in Roberts et al. (2012) using tinnitus and control subjects matched in age and hearing thresholds, but instead used a 500 Hz AM tone stimulus which is well below the TFR. If attentional modulation of the ASSR and N1 at 500 Hz is absent it could suggest that, similar to 5 kHz, top-down attention was already widely deployed in a frequency nonspecific manner (Gander et al., 2010a) and could not offer further enhancement under active listening conditions. If attentional modulation of these low-frequency responses is observed in tinnitus, it would suggest that the top-down attention system operates normally in tinnitus, but persistent tinnitus-related neural activity may impede its expression in stimulus-evoked transient responses. Results in Chapter 3 favoured the second hypothesis.

1.5.3 Bottom-up factors interacting with top-down attention in tinnitus

The suggestion that neural populations in A1 are resistant to modulation by topdown attention may in principle result from the fact that neurons in the TFR are generally insensitive to their inputs, provided that they are otherwise occupied with coding tinnitus-related activity. A different test to evaluate this notion is to briefly disrupt stimulus encoding from the bottom-up and evaluate if A1 neurons in the TFR are sensitive to the change. Bottom-up factors in this sense refer to the

ability of cortical neural networks to index small changes in ongoing stimuli and not specifically refer to mechanisms of bottom-up attention, although it should be noted that these two instances likely operate cooperatively in normal information processing.

One way to test the sensitivity of auditory cortical networks to bottom-up input is to use the ASSR reset response (Ross & Pantev, 2004), shown in Figure 1.3. By inserting a brief silent gap in the AM sound, the ASSR phase desynchronizes from the AM rhythm and the ASSR amplitude rapidly decreases. After stimulation resumes, the ASSR recovers its phase and amplitude over the period of about 200 ms. The 200 ms recovery window can be considered a snapshot into how A1 neurons rebuild the AM envelope from the bottom up. This stimulus design has a similar potential to evaluate the role of attention in tinnitus, specifically by testing if an affected population of A1 neurons can rebuild the phase and amplitude of the AM representation more quickly (or perhaps slowly) than controls, speaking to the prior engagement of attention-related facilitation.



Figure 1.3. ASSR reset response. A silent gap uncouples the AM stimulus and the ASSR. After stimulation restarts, the phase and amplitude of the ASSR recovers within 200 ms.

Despite this conception, there is no previous research that determines if the phase or amplitude of the ASSR reset is sensitive to top-down attention. Empirical work in Chapter 4 tests this hypothesis for ASSR resets evoked by 400 Hz and 5 kHz carriers using young non-tinnitus subjects in order to establish a baseline set of results. The findings were that spectral estimates of phase shifts during the 200 ms recovery period were sensitive to the manipulation of top-down attention for both high and low frequency probes, but amplitude was not. With this finding, future studies can bring the ASSR reset paradigm into use with tinnitus subjects to evaluate nuanced effects of top-down attention and sensitivity of neurons in the TFR to bottom-up input.

1.6 References

- Abeles, M. (1991). Corticonics: Neural circuits of the cerebral cortex. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Adjamian, P., Hall, D. A., Palmer, A. R., Allan, T. W., & Langers, D. R. (2014). Neuroanatomical abnormalities in chronic tinnitus in the human brain. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 45, 119–133.
- Adjamian, P., Sereda, M., & Hall, D. A. (2009). The mechanisms of tinnitus: Perspectives from human functional neuroimaging. Hearing Research, 253(1-2), 15–31.
- Ahlf, S., Tziridis, K., Korn, S., Strohmeyer, I., & Schulze, H. (2012).Predisposition for and Prevention of Subjective Tinnitus Development.PLoS ONE, 7(10).
- Arnold, W., Bartenstein, P., Oestreicher, E., Römer, W., & Schwaiger, M. (1996).
 Focal Metabolic Activation in the Predominant Left Auditory Cortex in Patients Suffering from Tinnitus: A PET Study with [18F]Deoxyglucose.
 Journal for oto-rhino-laryngology and its related specialties, 58(4), 195– 199.
- Auerbach, B. D., Rodrigues, P. V., & Salvi, R. J. (2014). Central Gain Control in Tinnitus and Hyperacusis. Frontiers in Neurology, 5.
- Awh, E., Belopolsky, A. V., & Theeuwes, J. (2012). Top-down versus bottom-up attentional control: A failed theoretical dichotomy. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 16(8), 437–443.
- Bartlett, E. L. (2013). The organization and physiology of the auditory thalamus and its role in processing acoustic features important for speech perception. Brain and Language, 126(1), 29–48.
- Basura, G. J., Koehler, S. D., & Shore, S. E. (2015). Bimodal stimulus timingdependent plasticity in primary auditory cortex is altered after noise exposure with and without tinnitus. Journal of Neurophysiology, 114(6), 3064–3075.
- Bauer, C. A., Turner, J. G., Caspary, D. M., Myers, K. S., & Brozoski, T. J. (2008). Tinnitus and inferior colliculus activity in chinchillas related to three distinct patterns of cochlear trauma. Journal of Neuroscience Research, 86(11), 2564–2578.
- Berger, J. I., & Coomber, B. (2015). Tinnitus-Related Changes in the Inferior Colliculus. Frontiers in Neurology, 6.

- Bharadwaj, H. M., Masud, S., Mehraei, G., Verhulst, S., & Shinn-Cunningham,
 B. G. (2015). Individual Differences Reveal Correlates of Hidden Hearing Deficits. Journal of Neuroscience, 35(5), 2161–2172.
- Bharadwaj, H. M., Verhulst, S., Shaheen, L., Liberman, M. C., & Shinn-Cunningham, B. G. (2014). Cochlear neuropathy and the coding of suprathreshold sound. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 8.
- Bidet-Caulet, A., Fischer, C., Besle, J., Aguera, P., Giard, M., & Bertrand, O. (2007). Effects of Selective Attention on the Electrophysiological Representation of Concurrent Sounds in the Human Auditory Cortex. Journal of Neuroscience, 27(35), 9252-9261.
- Borg, E. (1987,). Loss of hair cells and threshold sensitivity during prolonged noise exposure in normotensive albino rats. Hearing Research, 30(2-3), 119–126.
- Bourien, J., Tang, Y., Batrel, C., Huet, A., Lenoir, M., Ladrech, S., & Wang, J. (2014). Contribution of auditory nerve fibers to compound action potential of the auditory nerve. Journal of Neurophysiology, 112(5), 1025–1039.
- Brette, R. (2012). Computing with Neural Synchrony. PLoS Computational Biology, 8(6).
- Brownell, W. E. (1990). Outer Hair Cell Electromotility and Otoacoustic Emissions. Ear and Hearing, 11(2), 82–92.
- Brozoski, T. J., & Bauer, C. A. (2005). The effect of dorsal cochlear nucleus ablation on tinnitus in rats. Hearing Research, 206(1-2), 227–236.
- Brozoski, T. J., Bauer, C. A., & Caspary, D. M. (2002) Elevated fusiform cell activity in the dorsal cochlear nucleus of chinchillas with psychophysical evidence of tinnitus. Journal of Neuroscience, 22(6), 2383–2390.
- Brozoski, T., Odintsov, B., & Bauer, C. (2012). Gamma-aminobutyric acid and glutamic acid levels in the auditory pathway of rats with chronic tinnitus:
 A direct determination using high resolution point-resolved proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy (1H-MRS). Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 6.
- Brozoski, T. J., Wisner, K. W., Sybert, L. T., & Bauer, C. A. (2011). Bilateral Dorsal Cochlear Nucleus Lesions Prevent Acoustic-Trauma Induced Tinnitus in an Animal Model. Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, 13(1), 55–66.
- Burton, H., Wineland, A., Bhattacharya, M., Nicklaus, J., Garcia, K. S., & Piccirillo, J. F. (2012). Altered networks in bothersome tinnitus: A functional connectivity study. BMC Neuroscience, 13(1), 3.

- Cazals, Y. (2000). Auditory sensori-neural alterations induced by salicylate. Progress in Neurobiology, 62(6), 583-631.
- Ciuman, R. R. (2010). The Efferent System or Olivocochlear Function Bundle Fine Regulator and Protector of Hearing Perception. International Journal of Biomedical Science : IJBS, 6(4), 276–288.
- Cody, A. R., & Russell, I. J. (1985). Outer hair cells in the mammalian cochlea and noise-induced hearing loss. Nature, 315(6021), 662–665.
- Corbetta, M., & Shulman, G. L. (2002). Control Of Goal-Directed And Stimulus-Driven Attention In The Brain. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 3(3), 215– 229.
- Costalupes, J. A., Young, E. D., and Gibson, D. J. (1984). Effects of continuous noise backgrounds on rate response of auditory nerve fibers in cat. Journal of Neurophysiology, 51,1326–1344.
- Cuny, C., Noreña, A., Massioui, F. E., & Chery-Croze, S. (2004). Reduced Attention Shift in Response to Auditory Changes in Subjects with Tinnitus. Audiology and Neuro-Otology, 9(5), 294–302.
- Davis, R. I., Ahroon, W. A., & Hamernik, R. P. (1989). The relation among hearing loss, sensory cell loss and tuning characteristics in the chinchilla. Hearing Research, 41(1), 1–14.
- Dehmel, S., Pradhan, S., Koehler, S., Bledsoe, S., & Shore, S. (2012). Noise Overexposure Alters Long-Term Somatosensory-Auditory Processing in the Dorsal Cochlear Nucleus--Possible Basis for Tinnitus-Related Hyperactivity? Journal of Neuroscience, 32(5), 1660–1671.
- Diesch, E., Andermann, M., & Rupp, A. (2012). Is the effect of tinnitus on auditory steady-state response amplitude mediated by attention? Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 6.
- Dornhoffer, J., Danner, C., Mennemeier M., Blake, D., & Garcia-Rill, E. (2006). Arousal and attention deficits in patients with tinnitus. International Tinnitus Journal, 12(1), 9–16.
- Eggermont, J. J. (2006). Cortical tonotopic map reorganization and its implications for treatment of tinnitus. Acta Oto-Laryngologica, 126, Supplement 556, 9–15.
- Eggermont, J. J. (2015). The auditory cortex and tinnitus a review of animal and human studies. European Journal of Neuroscience, 41(5), 665–676.
- Eggermont, J. J., & Roberts, L. E., (2004). The neuroscience of tinnitus. Trends in Neuroscience, 27(11), 676–82.
- Engineer, N. D., Riley, J. R., Seale, et al. (2011). Reversing pathological neural activity using targeted plasticity. Nature, 470(7332), 101–104.

- Fernandez, K. A., Jeffers, P. W., Lall, K., Liberman, M. C., & Kujawa, S. G. (2015). Aging after Noise Exposure: Acceleration of Cochlear Synaptopathy in "Recovered" Ears. Journal of Neuroscience, 35(19), 7509–7520.
- Friston, K., & Kiebel, S. (2009). Predictive coding under the free-energy principle. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B., 364, 1211-1221.
- Fritz, J. B., Elhilali, M., David, S. V., & Shamma, S. A. (2007). Auditory attention—focusing the searchlight on sound. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 17(4), 437–455.
- Furman, A. C., Kujawa, S. G., & Liberman, M. C. (2013). Noise-induced cochlear neuropathy is selective for fibers with low spontaneous rates. Journal of Neurophysiology, 110(3), 577–586.
- Galazyuk, A., & Hébert, S. (2015). Gap-Prepulse Inhibition of the Acoustic Startle Reflex (GPAIS) for Tinnitus Assessments: Current Status and Future Directions. Frontiers in Neurology, 6:88.
- Gander, P., Bosnyak, D., & Roberts, L. (2010a). Evidence for modality-specific but not frequency-specific modulation of human primary auditory cortex by attention. Hearing Research, 268(1-2), 213–226.
- Gander, P., Bosnyak, D., & Roberts, L. (2010b). Acoustic experience but not attention modifies neural population phase expressed in human primary auditory cortex. Hearing Research, 269(1-2), 81–94.
- Gilles, A., De Ridder, D., & van de Heyning, P. (2013). No cochlear dead regions detected in non-pulsatile tinnitus patients: an assessment with the threshold equalizing noise (sound pressure level) test. Noise and Health, 15(63), 129–133.
- Godey, B., Schwartz, D., Graaf, J. D., Chauvel, P., & Liégeois-Chauvel, C. (2001). Neuromagnetic source localization of auditory evoked fields and intracerebral evoked potentials: A comparison of data in the same patients. Clinical Neurophysiology, 112(10), 1850–1859.
- Grady, C. L., Meter, J. W., Maisog, J. M., Pietrini, P., Krasuski, J., & Rauschecker, J. P. (1997). Attention-related modulation of activity in primary and secondary auditory cortex. NeuroReport, 8(11), 2511-2516.
- Gu, J. W., Halpin, C. F., Nam, E., Levine, R. A., & Melcher, J. R. (2010). Tinnitus, Diminished Sound-Level Tolerance, and Elevated Auditory Activity in Humans With Clinically Normal Hearing Sensitivity. Journal of Neurophysiology, 104(6), 3361–3370.

- Gu, J. W., Herrmann, B. S., Levine, R. A., & Melcher, J. R. (2012). Brainstem Auditory Evoked Potentials Suggest a Role for the Ventral Cochlear Nucleus in Tinnitus. Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, 13(6), 819–833.
- Guinan, J. J. (2006). Olivocochlear Efferents: Anatomy, Physiology, Function, and the Measurement of Efferent Effects in Humans. Ear and Hearing, 27(6), 589–607.
- Hayes, S. H., Radziwon, K. E., Stolzberg, D. J., & Salvi, R. J. (2014). Behavioral Models of Tinnitus and Hyperacusis in Animals. Frontiers in Neurology Front. Neurol., 5.
- Hébert, S., Fournier, P., & Noreña, A. (2013). The Auditory Sensitivity is Increased in Tinnitus Ears. Journal of Neuroscience, 33(6), 2356–2364.
- Heeren, A., Maurage, P., Perrot, H., et al. (2014). Tinnitus specifically alters the top-down executive control sub-component of attention: Evidence from the Attention Network Task. Behavioural Brain Research, 269, 147–154.
- Henry, J. A., Dennis, K. C., & Schechter, M. A. (2005). General review of tinnitus: prevalence, mechanisms, effects, and management. Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 48:1204–1235.
- Herdman, A. T., Lins, O., Van Roon, P., Stapells, D. R., Scherg, M., & Picton, T. W. (2002). Intracerebral Sources of Human Auditory Steady-State Responses. Brain Topography, 15(2), 69–86.
- House, J. W., & Brackmann, D. E. (2008). Tinnitus: Surgical Treatment. Ciba/Tinnitus Novartis Foundation Symposia Ciba Foundation Symposium 85 - Tinnitus, 204–216.
- Husain, F. T. (2016). Neural networks of tinnitus in humans: Elucidating severity and habituation. Hearing Research, 334, 37–48.
- Issa, M., Bisconti, S., Kovelman, I., Kileny, P., & Basura, G. J. (2016). Human Auditory and Adjacent Nonauditory Cerebral Cortices Are Hypermetabolic in Tinnitus as Measured by Functional Near-Infrared Spectroscopy (fNIRS). Neural Plasticity, 2016, 1–13.
- Jahnsen, H., & Llinás, R. (1984). Ionic basis for the electro-responsiveness and oscillatory properties of guinea-pig thalamic neurones in vitro. The Journal of Physiology, 349(1), 227–247.
- Jastreboff, P. J. (1990). Phantom auditory perception (tinnitus): Mechanisms of generation and perception. Neuroscience Research, 8(4), 221–254.
- Jastreboff, P. J., Brennan, J. F., Coleman, J. K., & Sasaki, C. T. (1988). Phantom auditory sensation in rats: An animal model for tinnitus. Behavioral Neuroscience, 102(6), 811–822.

- Joos, K., Vanneste, S., & Ridder, D. D. (2012). Disentangling Depression and Distress Networks in the Tinnitus Brain. PLoS ONE, 7(7).
- Kaas, J. H., & Hackett, T. A. (2000, 10). Subdivisions of auditory cortex and processing streams in primates. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 97(22), 11793–11799.
- Kalappa, B. I., Brozoski, T. J., Turner, J. G., & Caspary, D. M. (2014). Single unit hyperactivity and bursting in the auditory thalamus of awake rats directly correlates with behavioural evidence of tinnitus. The Journal of Physiology, 592(22), 5065–5078.
- Kaltenbach, J. A., Zacharek, M. A., Zhang, J., & Frederick, S. (2004). Activity in the dorsal cochlear nucleus of hamsters previously tested for tinnitus following intense tone exposure. Neuroscience Letters, 355(1-2), 121–125.
- Kiani, F., Yoganantha, U., Tan, C. M., Meddis, R., & Schaette, R. (2013). Offfrequency listening in subjects with chronic tinnitus. Hearing Research, 306, 1–10.
- Koehler, S. D., & Shore, S. E. (2013). Stimulus Timing-Dependent Plasticity in Dorsal Cochlear Nucleus Is Altered in Tinnitus. Journal of Neuroscience, 33(50), 19647–19656.
- Koehler, S. D., Pradhan, S., Manis, P. B., & Shore, S. E. (2010). Somatosensory inputs modify auditory spike timing in dorsal cochlear nucleus principal cells. European Journal of Neuroscience, 33(3), 409–420.
- Kujawa, S. G., & Liberman, M. C. (2009). Adding Insult to Injury: Cochlear Nerve Degeneration after "Temporary" Noise-Induced Hearing Loss. Journal of Neuroscience, 29(45), 14077–14085.
- Kujawa, S. G., & Liberman, M. C. (2015). Synaptopathy in the noise-exposed and aging cochlea: Primary neural degeneration in acquired sensorineural hearing loss. Hearing Research, 330, 191–199.
- Landgrebe, M., & Langguth, B. (2011). Tinnitus and Anxiety. In Møller, A. (ed). Textbook of Tinnitus, 499–503.
- Langers, D. R., Kleine, E. D., & Dijk, P. V. (2012). Tinnitus does not require macroscopic tonotopic map reorganization. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 6.
- Lanting, C., Kleine, E. D., Bartels, H., & Dijk, P. V. (2008). Functional imaging of unilateral tinnitus using fMRI. Acta Oto-Laryngologica, 128(4), 415–421.
- Lee, A. K., Larson, E., Maddox, R. K., & Shinn-Cunningham, B. G. (2014). Using neuroimaging to understand the cortical mechanisms of auditory selective attention. Hearing Research, 307, 111-120.

- Li, S., Choi, V., & Tzounopoulos, T. (2013). Pathogenic plasticity of Kv7.2/3 channel activity is essential for the induction of tinnitus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110(24), 9980–9985.
- Li, S., Kalappa, B. I., & Tzounopoulos, T. (2015). Noise-induced plasticity of KCNQ2/3 and HCN channels underlies vulnerability and resilience to tinnitus. ELife, 4.
- Liberman, M. C. (1978). Auditory-nerve response from cats raised in a low-noise chamber. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 63(2), 442.
- Llano, D. A., Turner, J., & Caspary, D. M. (2012). Diminished Cortical Inhibition in an Aging Mouse Model of Chronic Tinnitus. Journal of Neuroscience, 32(46), 16141–16148.
- Lobarinas, E., Salvi, R., & Ding, D. (2013). Insensitivity of the audiogram to carboplatin induced inner hair cell loss in chinchillas. Hearing Research, 302, 113–120.
- Lockwood, A. H., Salvi, R. J., & Burkard, R. F. (2002). Tinnitus. New England Journal of Medicine, 347(12), 904–910.
- Longenecker, R. J., & Galazyuk, A. V. (2011). Development of Tinnitus in CBA/CaJ Mice Following Sound Exposure. Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, 12(5), 647–658.
- Lorenz, I., Müller, N., Schlee, W., Hartmann, T., & Weisz, N. (2009). Loss of alpha power is related to increased gamma synchronization—A marker of reduced inhibition in tinnitus? Neuroscience Letters, 453(3), 225–228.
- Makary, C. A., Shin, J., Kujawa, S. G., Liberman, M. C., & Merchant, S. N. (2011). Age-Related Primary Cochlear Neuronal Degeneration in Human Temporal Bones. Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, 12(6), 711–717.
- Maison, S. F., Usubuchi, H., & Liberman, M. C. (2013). Efferent Feedback Minimizes Cochlear Neuropathy from Moderate Noise Exposure. Journal of Neuroscience, 33(13), 5542–5552.
- Malmierca, M. S., Merchan, M. A., Henkel, C. K, & Oliver, D. L. (2002) Direction projections from the cochlear nucleus and inferior colliculus. Journal of Neuroscience, 22, 10891–97.
- Maudoux, A., Lefebvre, P., Cabay, J., Demertzi, A., Vanhaudenhuyse, A., Laureys, S., & Soddu, A. (2012). Auditory Resting-State Network Connectivity in Tinnitus: A Functional MRI Study. PLoS ONE, 7(5).
- Melcher, J. R., & Kiang, N. Y. (1996). Generators of the brainstem auditory evoked potential in cat III: Identified cell populations. Hearing Research, 93(1-2), 52–71.

- Melcher, J. R., Levine, R. A., Bergevin, C., & Norris, B. (2009). The auditory midbrain of people with tinnitus: Abnormal sound-evoked activity revisited. Hearing Research, 257(1-2), 63–74.
- Middleton, J. W., Kiritani, T., Pedersen, C., Turner, J. G., Shepherd, G. M., & Tzounopoulos, T. (2011). Mice with behavioral evidence of tinnitus exhibit dorsal cochlear nucleus hyperactivity because of decreased GABAergic inhibition. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(18), 7601–7606.
- Mirz, F. (2000, 01). Cortical Networks Subserving the Perception of Tinnitus a PET Study. Acta Oto-Laryngologica, 120(543), 241–243.
- Moerel, M., De Martino, F., Formisano, E. (2014). An anatomical and functional topography of human auditory cortical areas. Frontiers in Neuroscience, 8:225.
- Noreña, A. J., & Farley, B. J. (2013). Tinnitus-related neural activity: Theories of generation, propagation, and centralization. Hearing Research, 295, 161–171.
- Noreña, A. J., Tomita, M., & Eggermont, J. J. (2003). Neural Changes in Cat Auditory Cortex After a Transient Pure-Tone Trauma. Journal of Neurophysiology, 90(4), 2387–2401.
- Nowotny, T., Zhigulin, V. P., Selverston, A. I., Abarbanel, H. D., & Rabinovich, M. I. (2003). Enhancement of Synchronoization in a Hybrid Neural Circuit by Spike-Timing Dependent Plasticity. Journal of Neuroscience, 23, 9776–785.
- Paltoglou, A. E., Sumner, C. J., & Hall, D. A. (2009). Examining the role of frequency specificity in the enhancement and suppression of human cortical activity by auditory selective attention. Hearing Research, 257(1-2), 106–118.
- Pinto, Y., Leij, A. R., Sligte, I. G., Lamme, V. A., & Scholte, H. S. (2013). Bottom-up and top-down attention are independent. Journal of Vision, 13(3), 16–16.
- Puel, J., Ruel, J., D'aldin, C. G., & Pujol, R. (1998). Excitotoxicity and repair of cochlear synapses after noise-trauma induced hearing loss. NeuroReport, 9(9), 2109–2114.
- Rauschecker, J. P., May, E. S., Maudoux, A., & Ploner, M. (2015). Frontostriatal Gating of Tinnitus and Chronic Pain. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 19(10), 567–578.

- Roberts, L. E., Bosnyak, D. J., Bruce, I. C., Gander, P. E., & Paul, B. T. (2015). Evidence for differential modulation of primary and nonprimary auditory cortex by forward masking in tinnitus. Hearing Research, 327, 9–27.
- Roberts, L. E., Bosnyak, D. J., & Thompson, D. C. (2012). Neural plasticity expressed in central auditory structures with and without tinnitus. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 6.
- Roberts, L. E., Eggermont, J. J., Caspary, D. M., Shore, S. E., Melcher, J. R., & Kaltenbach, J. A. (2010). Ringing Ears: The Neuroscience of Tinnitus. Journal of Neuroscience, 30(45), 14972–14979.
- Roberts, L. E., Husain, F. T., & Eggermont, J. J. (2013). Role of attention in the generation and modulation of tinnitus. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 37(8), 1754–1773.
- Roberts, L. E., Moffat, G., Baumann, M., Ward, L. M., & Bosnyak, D. J. (2008).
 Residual Inhibition Functions Overlap Tinnitus Spectra and the Region of Auditory Threshold Shift. Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, 9(4), 417–435.
- Ropp, T. F., Tiedemann, K. L., Young, E. D., & May, B. J. (2014). Effects of Unilateral Acoustic Trauma on Tinnitus-Related Spontaneous Activity in the Inferior Colliculus. Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, 15(6), 1007–1022.
- Ross, B., & Pantev, C. (2004). Auditory steady-state responses reveal amplitude modulation gap detection thresholds. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 115(5), 2193–2206.
- Rossiter, S., Stevens, C., & Walker, G. (2006, 02). Tinnitus and Its Effect on Working Memory and Attention. J Speech Lang Hear Res Journal of Speech Language and Hearing Research, 49(1), 150–160.
- Saenz, M., & Langers, D. R. M. (2014). Tonotopic mapping of human auditory cortex. Hearing Research, 307, 42–52.
- Salloum, R. H., Sandridge, S., Patton, D. J., Stillitano, G., Dawson, G., Niforatos, J., Santiago, L., Kaltenbach, J. A. (2016). Untangling the effects of tinnitus and hypersensitivity to sound (hyperacusis) in the gap detection test. Hearing Research, 331, 92–100.
- Sametsky, E. A., Turner, J. G., Larsen, D., Ling, L., & Caspary, D. M. (2015). Enhanced GABAA-Mediated Tonic Inhibition in Auditory Thalamus of Rats with Behavioral Evidence of Tinnitus. Journal of Neuroscience, 35(25), 9369–9380.
- Sarter, M., Hasselmo, M. E., Bruno, J. P., & Givens, B. (2005). Unraveling the attentional functions of cortical cholinergic inputs: Interactions between

signal-driven and cognitive modulation of signal detection. Brain Research Reviews, 48(1), 98–111.

Schaette, R., & Kempter, R. (2006). Development of tinnitus-related neuronal hyperactivity through homeostatic plasticity after hearing loss: A computational model. European Journal of Neuroscience, 23(11), 3124– 3138.

- Schaette, R., & Mcalpine, D. (2011). Tinnitus with a Normal Audiogram:Physiological Evidence for Hidden Hearing Loss and Computational Model. Journal of Neuroscience, 31(38), 13452–13457.
- Schreiner, C. E., & Winer, J. A. (2007, 10). Auditory Cortex Mapmaking: Principles, Projections, and Plasticity. Neuron, 56(2), 356–365.
- Sedley, W., Parikh, J., Edden, R. A., Tait, V., Blamire, A., & Griffiths, T. D. (2015). Human Auditory Cortex Neurochemistry Reflects the Presence and Severity of Tinnitus. Journal of Neuroscience, 35(44), 14822–14828.
- Sedley, W., Teki, S., Kumar, S., Barnes, G. R., Bamiou, D., & Griffiths, T. D. (2012). Single-subject oscillatory gamma responses in tinnitus. Brain, 135(10), 3089–3100.
- Sergeyenko, Y., Lall, K., Liberman, M. C., & Kujawa, S. G. (2013). Age-Related Cochlear Synaptopathy: An Early-Onset Contributor to Auditory Functional Decline. Journal of Neuroscience, 33(34), 13686–13694.
- Serra, L., Novanta, G., Sampaio, A. L., Oliveira, C. A, Granjeiro, R., & Braga, S. C. (2015). The Study of Otoacoustic Emissions and the Suppression of Otoacoustic Emissions in Subjects with Tinnitus and Normal Hearing: An Insight to Tinnitus Etiology. International Archives of Otorhinolaryngology, 19(2), 171–175.
- Shaheen, L. A., Valero, M. D., & Liberman, M. C. (2015). Towards a Diagnosis of Cochlear Neuropathy with Envelope Following Responses. Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, 16(6), 727–745.
- Shore, S. E., Roberts, L. E., & Langguth, B. (2016). Maladaptive plasticity in tinnitus — triggers, mechanisms and treatment. Nature Reviews Neurology, 12(3), 150–160.
- Statistics Canada. 2013. Hearing loss of Canadians, 2012 and 2013. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 82-625-X. Ottawa. Version updated November 2015. Ottawa. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-625x/2015001/article/14156-eng.htm#n8 (Accessed 01 May 2016).
- Stevens, C., Walker, G., Boyer, M., & Gallagher, M. (2007). Severe tinnitus and its effect on selective and divided attention. International Journal of Audiology, 46(5), 208–216.

- Stolzberg, D., Salvi, R. J., & Allman, B. L. (2012). Salicylate toxicity model of tinnitus. Front. Syst. Neurosci. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 6.
- Sun, W., Deng, A., Jayaram, A., & Gibson, B. (2012). Noise exposure enhances auditory cortex responses related to hyperacusis behavior. Brain Research, 1485, 108–116.
- Tan, C. M., Lecluyse, W., Mcferran, D., & Meddis, R. (2013). Tinnitus and Patterns of Hearing Loss. Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, 14(2), 275–282.
- Tardif, E., & Clarke, S. (2001). Intrinsic connectivity of human auditory areas: A tracing study with DiI. European Journal of Neuroscience, 13(5), 1045– 1050.
- Turner, J. G., Brozoski, T. J., Bauer, C. A., Parrish, J. L., Myers, K., Hughes, L. F., & Caspary, D. M. (2006). Gap Detection Deficits in Rats With Tinnitus: A Potential Novel Screening Tool. Behavioral Neuroscience, 120(1), 188–195.
- Turrigiano, G. (2011). Too Many Cooks? Intrinsic and Synaptic Homeostatic Mechanisms in Cortical Circuit Refinement. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 34(1), 89–103.
- Turrigiano, G. G., & Nelson, S. B. (2004). Homeostatic plasticity in the developing nervous system. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 5(2), 97–107.
- Wake, M., Takeno, S., Ibrahim, D., & Harrison, R. (1994). Selective Inner Hair Cell Ototoxicity Induced by Carboplatin. The Laryngoscope, 104(4).
- Wang, H., Brozoski, T., Turner, J., Ling, L., Parrish, J., Hughes, L., & Caspary, D. (2009). Plasticity at glycinergic synapses in dorsal cochlear nucleus of rats with behavioral evidence of tinnitus. Neuroscience, 164(2), 747–759.
- Weisz, N., Hartmann, T., Dohrmann, K., Schlee, W., & Noreña, A. (2006). Highfrequency tinnitus without hearing loss does not mean absence of deafferentation. Hearing Research, 222(1-2), 108–114.
- Weisz, N., Moratti, S., Meinzer, M., Dohrmann, K., & Elbert, T. (2005). Tinnitus Perception and Distress Is Related to Abnormal Spontaneous Brain Activity as Measured by Magnetoencephalography. PLoS Medicine, 2(6).
- Weisz, N., Muller, S., Schlee, W., Dohrmann, K., Hartmann, T., & Elbert, T. (2007). The Neural Code of Auditory Phantom Perception. Journal of Neuroscience, 27(6), 1479–1484.
- Wienbruch, C., Paul, I., Weisz, N., Elbert, T., & Roberts, L. E. (2006). Frequency organization of the 40-Hz auditory steady-state response in normal hearing and in tinnitus. NeuroImage, 33(1), 180–194.

- Winer, J. A., & Schreiner, C. (2005). The inferior colliculus. New York, NY: Springer.
- Wu, C., Martel, D. T., & Shore, S. E. (2016). Increased Synchrony and Bursting of Dorsal Cochlear Nucleus Fusiform Cells Correlate with Tinnitus. Journal of Neuroscience, 36(6), 2068–2073.
- Yost, W. (2007). Fundamentals of Hearing: An Introduction (Fifth Edition). Brill: Boston, MA.
- Young, E. D., and Barta, P. E. (1986). Rate responses of auditory nerve fibers to tones in noise near masked threshold. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 79, 426–442.
- Zeng, C., Yang, Z., Shreve, L., Bledsoe, S., & Shore, S. (2012). Somatosensory Projections to Cochlear Nucleus Are Upregulated after Unilateral Deafness. Journal of Neuroscience, 32(45), 15791–15801.
- Zhang, J., Ma, L., Li, W., Yang, P., & Qin, L. (2016). Cholinergic modulation of auditory steady-state response in the auditory cortex of the freely moving rat. Neuroscience, 324, 29–39.
- Zhou, X., Henin, S., Long, G. R., & Parra, L. C. (2011). Impaired cochlear function correlates with the presence of tinnitus and its estimated spectral profile. Hearing Research, 277(1-2), 107–116.

Chapter 2: Amplitude modulation encoding deficits suggest hidden hearing loss in individuals with tinnitus and normal audiograms

Paul, B. T., Bruce, I.C., Roberts, L.E. (Submitted). Amplitude modulation encoding deficits suggest hidden hearing loss in individuals with normal audiograms.

2.1 Preface

The observation that audiometric threshold shifts and tinnitus are not always coincident has challenged the view that hearing loss is necessary for tinnitus (Adjamian et al., 2009), which may be considered one of the biggest challenges to the deafferentation model. However, hearing thresholds are not sensitive to detect loss of peripheral nerve fibers and synapses which can occur after noise damage (Kujawa & Liberman, 2009; Furman et al., 2013) and aging (Sergeyenko et al., 2013). Thus, it is possible that tinnitus sufferers with normal audiograms have such "hidden" loss of peripheral nerve fibers or synapses that remains undetected by the audiogram.

This idea was first supported in humans by studies showing that Wave I of the click-evoked ABR (representing auditory nerve output) was smaller in tinnitus subjects with normal audiograms compared to controls (Schaette & McAlpine, 2011; Gu et al., 2012). The computational model of Schaette and McAlpine (2011) suggested that low-SR fiber loss was responsible for this result, but the small contribution of these fiber types to the ABR (Bourien et al., 2014) casts

doubt on this assumption. A separate way to assess the function of peripheral nerve fibers is by the envelope following response (EFR; Bharadwaj et al., 2014; Shaheen et al., 2015) which had previously been used in non-tinnitus subjects to reveal suprathreshold deficits consistent with low-SR fiber loss (Bharadwaj et al., 2015).

Using similar approaches, the empirical study presented in this chapter tested the hypothesis that tinnitus sufferers with normal audiograms have evidence for loss of auditory nerve fibers. We measured EFRs evoked by an 85 Hz AM tone with a 5 kHz carrier frequency (in the TFR). EFRs were evoked in conditions of quiet and background noise at a level sufficient to strongly saturate high-SR fibers so that contributions of low- and high-SR fibers could be separately assessed. Additionally we measured the detection threshold for an AM tone in background noise, which was compared to EFR measures. Finally, we used a model of the auditory periphery (Zilany et al., 2014) to simulate auditory nerve responses under our stimulus conditions that could be compared to EFR observations. Evidence of "hidden" hearing loss in tinnitus subjects would support the notion that their tinnitus was triggered by deafferentation.

References

- Adjamian, P., Sereda, M., & Hall, D. A. (2009). The mechanisms of tinnitus: Perspectives from human functional neuroimaging. Hearing Research, 253(1-2), 15–31.
- Bharadwaj, H. M., Masud, S., Mehraei, G., Verhulst, S., & Shinn-Cunningham,
 B. G. (2015). Individual Differences Reveal Correlates of Hidden Hearing Deficits. Journal of Neuroscience, 35(5), 2161–2172.
- Bharadwaj, H. M., Verhulst, S., Shaheen, L., Liberman, M. C., & Shinn-Cunningham, B. G. (2014). Cochlear neuropathy and the coding of suprathreshold sound. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 8.
- Bourien, J., Tang, Y., Batrel, C., Huet, A., Lenoir, M., Ladrech, S., & Wang, J. (2014). Contribution of auditory nerve fibers to compound action potential of the auditory nerve. Journal of Neurophysiology, 112(5), 1025–1039.
- Furman, A. C., Kujawa, S. G., & Liberman, M. C. (2013). Noise-induced cochlear neuropathy is selective for fibers with low spontaneous rates. Journal of Neurophysiology, 110(3), 577–586.
- Gu, J. W., Herrmann, B. S., Levine, R. A., & Melcher, J. R. (2012). Brainstem Auditory Evoked Potentials Suggest a Role for the Ventral Cochlear Nucleus in Tinnitus. Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, 13(6), 819–833.
- Kujawa, S. G., & Liberman, M. C. (2009). Adding Insult to Injury: Cochlear Nerve Degeneration after "Temporary" Noise-Induced Hearing Loss. Journal of Neuroscience, 29(45), 14077–14085.
- Schaette, R., & Mcalpine, D. (2011). Tinnitus with a Normal Audiogram: Physiological Evidence for Hidden Hearing Loss and Computational Model. Journal of Neuroscience, 31(38), 13452–13457.
- Sergeyenko, Y., Lall, K., Liberman, M. C., & Kujawa, S. G. (2013). Age-Related Cochlear Synaptopathy: An Early-Onset Contributor to Auditory Functional Decline. Journal of Neuroscience, 33(34), 13686–13694.
- Zilany, M. S, Bruce, I. C., & Carney, L. H. (2014). Updated parameters and expanded simulation options for a model of the auditory periphery. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 135, 283–286..

2.2 Abstract

Most cases of tinnitus (persistent ringing of the ears) are related to audiometric hearing loss, but some individuals with tinnitus do not have threshold shifts measured by the clinical audiogram. We tested whether these individuals may have hidden synaptic losses on auditory nerve fibers with low spontaneous rates of firing (low-SR fibers) that are important for coding suprathreshold sounds in noise while high-SR fibers determining threshold responses in quiet remain relatively unaffected. Tinnitus and control subjects with clinically normal thresholds were required to detect the presence of amplitude modulation (AM) in a 5 kHz, suprathreshold tone when the AM tone was embedded within background noise intended to degrade the contribution of high-SR fibers such that AM coding was preferentially reliant on low-SR fibers. We also recorded by EEG the "envelope following response" (EFR, generated in the auditory midbrain) to a 5 kHz, 85 Hz AM tone in conditions of noise and no noise. Control subjects with EFRs that were comparatively resistant to the addition of background noise displayed better AM detection than controls whose EFRs were more affected by noise. Simulated auditory nerve responses to our stimulus conditions using a well-established peripheral model suggested that low-SR fibers were better preserved in the former cases. Tinnitus subjects had worse AM detection thresholds and reduced EFRs overall compared to controls. Simulated auditory nerve responses found that in addition to severe low-SR fiber loss, a significant degree of high-SR fiber loss that would not be expected to affect audiometric thresholds was needed to explain the results in tinnitus subjects. The results

indicate that hidden hearing loss could be sufficient to account for impaired temporal coding in subjects with normal audiograms as well as for cases of tinnitus without audiometric hearing loss, but do not preclude a role for central factors in these cases.

2.3 Introduction

Most cases of chronic tinnitus are believed to arise from neuroplastic changes that occur in central auditory pathways following hearing loss caused by noise overexposure or aging (Shore et al., 2016; Kaltenbach, 2011). A majority of individuals with tinnitus exhibit hearing loss detectable by the audiogram, a standard clinical test that measures thresholds of detection for tones in quiet. The sound frequencies judged by tinnitus sufferers to resemble their tinnitus commence at the edge of hearing loss and span the region of threshold shift, typically peaking near or above 5 kHz (Roberts et al., 2008), such that threshold shifts and tinnitus frequencies overlap. However, around 15% of individuals with tinnitus do not have audiometric threshold shifts (Henry et al., 2005). While some studies have focused on central auditory factors to explain these cases (Vanneste and De Ridder, 2015; Rauschecker et al., 2010), we investigated whether such cases might reflect peripheral damage that is undetected by the audiogram.

Animal studies have demonstrated that moderate noise exposure that only temporarily raises thresholds can permanently degrade auditory responses to suprathreshold sounds (Kujawa and Liberman, 2009). Such damage is observed predominantly in synaptic terminals of inner hair cells (IHCs) innervated by

auditory nerve fibers (ANFs) with low spontaneous rates of firing and high firing thresholds (low-SR ANFs; Furman et al., 2013), while ANFs with high spontaneous rates and low firing thresholds (high-SR ANFs) are less affected. Because low-SR fiber loss without accompanying high-SR fiber loss will not affect auditory thresholds in quiet, this pattern of damage has been termed "hidden hearing loss" (Schaette and McAlpine, 2011). Previous studies found that tinnitus subjects with normal thresholds had smaller amplitudes of the auditory brainstem response (ABR) wave I (reflecting synchronous firing of ANFs) to suprathreshold clicks compared to controls, suggesting the presence of hidden hearing loss (Schaette and McAlpine, 2011; Gu et al., 2012). However, because low-SR fibers appear to make only a minor contribution to ABR Wave I (Bourien et al., 2014), synaptopathy in tinnitus remains to be characterized.

Low-SR fibers typically respond at sound levels above 40 dB SPL (the level where the discharge rate of high-SR fibers is strongly saturated; Yates et al., 1990) and are robust to masking by background noise (Costaloupes et al., 1985; Young and Barta, 1986). Low-SR fiber loss is thought to degrade auditory sensitivity to temporal modulations of sound that are important for listening in noisy environments, such that individual differences in listening under these conditions may reflect hidden low-SR fiber synaptopathy. Bharadwaj et al. (2015) found large individual differences in the ability of subjects with normal audiograms (and without tinnitus) to detect the presence of amplitude modulation (AM) in a sound presented in narrowband noise. Poor AM detection was further

associated with impaired performance on other temporal coding measures, including a reduction in the magnitude of the scalp-recorded "envelope following response" (EFR) which is evoked from the auditory midbrain when sounds are AM at rates exceeding ~80 Hz (Herdman et al., 2002). Bharadwaj et al. (2015) suggested that poor AM sensitivity and reduced EFR magnitudes may have reflected low-SR fiber loss that was hidden to the audiogram in their otherwise normal hearing subjects. Subjects exhibiting comparatively poor temporal coding abilities were also more likely to report a history of noise exposure, which may have induced hidden low-SR fiber loss in these subjects (Furman et al. 2013).

Given the role of noise exposure in tinnitus (Axelsson and Barrenas, 1992; Penner and Bilger, 1995), we investigated whether hidden hearing loss may be present in young adults experiencing persistent tinnitus with normal audiograms. To assess the contribution of low-SR fibers to AM coding, we measured AM detection thresholds when the contribution of high-SR fibers was degraded by background noise, and EFRs evoked at different AM depths in the same background noise. EFRs were also evoked by a fully modulated tone without background noise, where both high- and low-SR fibers were expected to contribute. Control subjects were included that were matched to the tinnitus subjects for normal hearing thresholds at the tested frequencies but had no history of tinnitus. We then used a model of the auditory periphery (Zilany et al., 2014) to simulate ANF responses to our stimuli with different mixtures of high- and low-SR fiber loss. We found that control subjects with EFRs comparatively resistant to

the addition of background noise displayed better AM detection in background noise than controls whose EFRs were more affected by noise. Simulated auditory nerve responses to our stimulus conditions suggested that low-SR fibers were better preserved in these former cases. We also found that tinnitus subjects had smaller EFRs and poorer AM detection than controls for tones in the frequency range where hidden hearing loss was expected to be present. Cochlear modeling suggested that in addition to severe low-SR fiber loss, a significant loss of high-SR fibers that would not affect the audiogram was needed to explain the EFRs of the tinnitus sufferers.

2.4 Materials and Methods

2.4.1Participants

A total of forty-five subjects were recruited from the McMaster University undergraduate psychology program. Thirty subjects without chronic tinnitus were initially recruited, followed by fourteen individuals that reported chronic tinnitus in both ears. Because chronic tinnitus is less prevalent in young individuals than in older adults (Henry et al., 2005), it was expected that fewer subjects would be found for the tinnitus group. One control subject was excluded as a result of cerumen that occluded the right insert earphone. Three additional control subjects were excluded because of technical failure during measurement of the EFR. One tinnitus subject and two control subjects did not reach our statistical criterion for the presence of an EFR (see below). The remaining 24 control subjects and 13 tinnitus subjects completed all portions of the study, and their demographic

information is portrayed in Table 2.1. One additional tinnitus subject was tested who reported hearing tinnitus at the time of each experimental session but indicated he experienced tinnitus only intermittently at other times. The data of this subject (referred to herein as intermittent tinnitus, IT) will be reported separately from the analysis of group data which was based on the remaining 13 tinnitus subjects all of whom reported experiencing constant tinnitus. No subjects reported a history of head trauma or reported the use of medication during the time of the study. All procedures were approved by the Research Ethics board at McMaster University. Subjects provided informed consent and received monetary compensation (CAD 10.00 / hour) or course credit for participation.

2.4.2 Initial Session (Tinnitus group only)

The initial session began with a questionnaire gathering a detailed personal history of each subject's tinnitus, including how long tinnitus had been experienced, perceived location of tinnitus (e.g., in ears, in head), how often during the day tinnitus is heard, how bothersome it is, and other non-tinnitus factors such as sensitivity to loud sounds and daily hearing difficulties. Each subject then completed the Tinnitus Handicap Questionnaire (THQ, Kuk et al., 1990) to assess the impact of tinnitus on quality of life. After, we obtained hearing thresholds from 125 Hz to 16 kHz (Telephonics TD-39 296 D200 headphones; 8 to 16 kHz through Sennheiser HD250 headphones) in 5 dB steps using the pulsed-tone method for left and right ears separately. We took additional diotic measurements (left and right ear together) at 500 Hz and 5 kHz in 2 dB steps also

using the pulsed-tone method. Subjects then used computerized tools developed by Roberts et al. (2008) to indicate the properties of their tinnitus. The ear of tinnitus (left, right, bilateral) and the quality of tinnitus (tonal, ringing, hissing) were first obtained, followed by a rating of tinnitus loudness on the Borg CR100 scale (Borg and Borg, 2001). Thereafter, subjects adjusted the loudness of 11 pure tones (randomly ordered) ranging from 0.5 to 12 kHz to match the loudness of their tinnitus. Subjects then rated the likeness of each of the same 11 pure tones to their tinnitus on a 100 point scale. The preliminary session concluded with a brief test for residual inhibition (Roberts et al. 2008).

	Tinnitus (N = 13)	Control (N = 24)
Age	M = 23.2 (SD = 6.15; Range = 18–39)	M = 19.5 (SD = 2.82; Range = 18–28)
Sex	9Females; 4 Males	20 Females; 5 Males
500 Hz pure-tone threshold (dB HL, diotic)	M = 0.23 (SD = 4.82; Range = -6-7.5)	M = 1.63 (SD = 3.55; Range = -4-10)
5 kHz pure-tone threshold (dB HL, diotic)	M = 1.65 (SD = 5.63; Range = -8-11)	M = 0.40 (SD = 3.46; Range = -5-8)
Tinnitus Qualities		
Tinnitus Ear	Bilateral = 13	-
Tinnitus Sound	Tonal = 9; Ringing = 4;	-
Tinnitus Duration	Range: 25 yr. to 3 mo.; 1 unsure	
THQ	M = 17.6 (SD = 9.9; Range = 4–40.4)	-
--	---	---
CR100 loudness rating	M = 32.5 (SD = 20.8; Range = 10-65)	-
Loudness match across .5. 1, and 5 kHz (dB SL)	M = 8.20 (SD = 8.55; Range = -4.1-15.5)	-
Likeness match at 5 kHz (1–100 scale)	M = 42.5 (SD = 17.1; Range = 13-79)	-

Table 2.1 Demographic information for tinnitus and control groups, and summary of tinnitus characteristics. M refers to the average and SD refers to one standard deviation.

Audiometric thresholds for the 13 subjects with chronic tinnitus were in the normal range up to 8 kHz (< 25 dB HL; see Figure 2.1a). Above 8 kHz three subjects exceeded 25 dB HL to a maximum of 45 dB HL. Tinnitus likeness spectra of these subjects are shown in Figure 2.1b. Likeness ratings tended to increase with increasing tone frequency, agreeing with tinnitus spectra of younger subjects with normal thresholds reported previously (Roberts et al., 2008). Chronic tinnitus subjects on average reported experiencing their tinnitus for 10.7 years (SD = 9.90); one subject reported uncertainty as to when they began experiencing tinnitus. Tinnitus loudness matches (reported in Table 2.1) averaged 8.20 dB SL (SD = 8.55 dB) for the frequencies 500 Hz, 1 kHz, and 5 kHz, and 4.13 dB SL at 1 kHz (the standard reported by Roberts et al., 2008). THQ scores averaged 17.6 (range 4 - 40.4), indicating that most subjects experienced a mild tinnitus that for most was not highly bothersome.



Figure 2.1. Characteristics of the tinnitus group. a) Audiometric thresholds for all individuals (thin lines) from 125 Hz to 16 kHz. Group means for left (dashed line) and right (solid line) ears are plotted as thick black lines. A vertical line is plotted at 5 kHz, where suprathreshold hearing function was measured. Audiometric thresholds for the intermittent tinnitus case are represented by thick grey lines. b) The tinnitus likeness spectrum in which tinnitus subjects rate the similarity of their tinnitus to pure tone frequencies. Thin lines represent individual spectra, which were measured three times. The median of these three values was taken as the spectrum. The thick line is the group mean. The intermittent tinnitus subject is represented by the thick grey line.

2.4.3 Main session (tinnitus and control subjects)

The main session began by administering to control subjects the same

questionnaire administered to the tinnitus group in their initial session, excluding

questions related to tinnitus. Hearing thresholds were then measured at 500 Hz

and 5 kHz in all subjects diotically (left and right ears together) in 2 dB steps

using the pulsed-tone method. After, participants were tested on AM detection

and measurement of the EFR to AM sounds. During the experiment participants sat in a chair distanced 1.4 m from a computer monitor in a sound-attenuated (ambient noise level 16 dBA SPL) and electrically-shielded booth. All stimuli were generated by a Tucker-Davis RP2.1 digital signal real-time processor and presented through EARtone 3A transducers inserted in both ears.

Amplitude modulation detection task. AM sensitivity was first behaviorally assessed in each subject by obtaining their threshold for AM detection in the presence of a narrowband background noise (NBN). Stimuli were 5 kHz tones that were sinusoidally amplitude modulated at a rate of 19 Hz and presented at 75 dB SPL. Modulation depth (m), where m = 1 corresponds to 100 % modulation, during the task was adaptively varied and herein will be expressed in dB (20 \log_{10} *m*). The AM tone was embedded in NBN centered at 5 kHz with spectrum level set to 40 dB, a level sufficient to degrade high-SR fiber responses (Costaloupes et al., 1985) leaving temporal envelope encoding in the auditory nerve preferentially reliant on low-SR fibers (Bharadwaj et al., 2014). The bandwidth of the NBN was set at 1/3 of an octave. This bandwidth was determined by observing the spread of excitation across the range of auditory nerve fibers with characteristic frequencies (CFs) responding to the 75 dB SPL, 5 kHz AM probe in the Zilany et al. (2014) auditory periphery model, such that the 40 dB spectrum level NBN adequately covered this range.

In a 3-alternative forced choice task, subjects listened to three tones embedded in NBN. One tone was AM, while the other two were unmodulated. After all three tones were presented, subjects indicated by keypress which tone they perceived was amplitude modulated (the target). Each tone was presented for 1 s, with background NBN commencing 500 ms before the first tone and played continuously until 500 ms after the third tone. The spacing between each tone was fixed at 1 s. The position of the target tone on each trial was random, and a target tone was present on each trial. AM depth of the target started at -6 dB (50% AM) and was adjusted adaptively by the method of parameter estimation through sequential testing (PEST; Taylor and Creelman, 1967) until a final modulation step size of 0.45 dB was achieved. The average AM depth of the two final steps was taken as the threshold. It should be noted that because AM detection thresholds are represented with respect to 100% AM depth in dB (20 log₁₀ *m*), large negative values in this metric signify low (good) AM detection thresholds.

Each subject also completed the task for a 500 Hz tone amplitude modulated by 19 Hz, to compare results at 5 kHz to a frequency region where hidden hearing loss was unlikely to be present in these groups, and where tinnitus is unlikely to be experienced in the tinnitus cohort. The 500 Hz tone was presented at 75 dB SPL and the 40 dB spectrum level background NBN was centered at 500 Hz with a 2/3 octave bandwidth.

EFR measurement. Following the AM detection task, we recorded the 32-channel EEG and evoked the EFR in five conditions depicted in Figure 2.2. All tones evoking the EFR were at 5 kHz, presented at 75 dB SPL, and were amplitude modulated by 85 Hz, a rate consistent with anatomical generators in the auditory midbrain (Herdman et al., 2002). The first condition was an amplitude modulated tone with an AM depth of 0 dB (100% modulation) presented without background NBN, intended to evoke contributions from both low- and high-SR fibers to AM coding. The second through fourth conditions embedded the AM tones in background NBN (identical to that used in the AM detection task) aimed at saturating high-SR fibers, leaving primarily low-SR fibers available to code AM. Low-SR fibers were further tested in these conditions by reducing AM depths from 0 dB (100% AM depth), to -2.5 dB (75% depth), and -6 dB (50% depth). Finally, a no-tone NBN-only condition was included as a control. For each condition the stimulus was presented continuously for three minutes. After each condition there were three seconds of silence before the next condition began. The condition order was randomly selected for each participant. During EFR recording participants were instructed to ignore sound stimuli and watch a subtitled silent film of their choice.



Figure 2.2. Frequency spectrum representations of AM stimuli that evoked the EFR. Solid black lines on the spectrum represent the 5 kHz amplitude modulated (AM) tone. Gray lines depict the bandwidth and level of the background narrowband noise (NBN). Stimulus AM depth is expressed in dB relative to 100% modulation depth: 0 dB = 100% AM depth, -2.5 dB = 75% AM depth, and -6 = 50% AM depth.

EEG recording and analysis. The EEG was sampled at 2048 Hz by a BioSemi ActiveTwo amplifier (Cortech Solutions, Wilmington, NC) from 0 to 417 Hz and stored as continuous data files. Using custom offline routines in MATLAB (The Mathworks, Natick, MA) the EEG was first rereferenced to the scalp average, high-pass filtered at 70 Hz, and downsampled to 850 Hz. For each condition data were epoched into 1000 ms periods, creating 180 total trials per condition per person. Epochs that exceeded \pm 50 μ V in any channel were rejected. If a channel contributed to more than 1/3 of trials being rejected, the channel was removed. With these criteria an average of 156.2 trials were retained per subject per condition. To extract EFR power at 85 Hz, we used a multi-channel complex principal components analysis approach (Bharadwaj and Shinn-Cunningham, 2014) that was likewise used for EFR analysis in Bharadwaj et al. (2015). This technique adjusts for phase disparities of the EFR present in each channel and combines them across recording sites, providing a more reliable EFR measurement and robustness to noise compared to single-channel recordings.

The presence of an EFR was assessed statistically for each subject and each condition by comparing the phase locking value (PLV) of the response at 85 Hz to 20 adjacent frequency bins (71-81 Hz; 89-99 Hz in 1 Hz steps). We subtracted the mean PLV of the adjacent bins from the 85 Hz PLV and divided this value by the standard deviation across the adjacent bins, creating a standardized score. Following Kuwada et al. (2002), if this score was greater than 3 (corresponding to the 99th percentile of the normal distribution) the EFR was deemed statistically present. Two control subjects and one tinnitus subject of the original recruited sample did not meet this criterion in one or more conditions, and were excluded. EFR power at 85 Hz herein is expressed in dB as a signal to noise ratio (SNR) relative to mean of the same 20 frequency bins used in the PLV analysis.

2.4.4 Peripheral auditory modeling

To determine if our EFR results could be interpreted by loss to populations of ANFs, we used a model of the auditory periphery (Zilany et al., 2014) to simulate levels of damage to ANF types that could modify the response of the auditory nerve to our stimulus conditions. Stimuli from each EFR condition were shortened to 400 ms and passed into the model. After the signal passes through a series of components simulating realistically the filtering and compression properties of the middle ear and cochlear structures, the model generates a

neurogram depicting the spiking response of a set of ANFs to the stimulus. For our simulations we used 128 sets of ANFs with characteristic frequencies (CFs) ranging from 170 Hz to 7 kHz. For each CF there were 150 ANFs, reflecting the number of fibers covering this range in the human cochlea as determined by the Greenwood function (Greenwood, 1961). The fiber types were distributed in a 3:1:1 ratio for high-, medium-, and low-SR fiber types respectively, roughly consistent with the distribution found in the cochlea (Liberman, 1978). In modeling simulations that involved removal of ANFs, medium and low-SR fibers were always removed together. Herein loss of both fiber types is simply referred to as low-SR fiber loss.

In order to calculate the modulation response of the auditory nerve at 85 Hz, we collapsed the neurogram into an average of 4 AM periods and then passed this average through a spectro-temporal modulation filter bank (modified from Elhilali et al., 2003) to obtain a modulation power spectrum for modulation rates ranging from 0 to 105 Hz. We then averaged the response of CFs from 2.8 to 7 kHz, which covered the range over which spiking was observed in the model neurograms to our stimuli, and averaged again over all spectral modulation rates and over time. The absolute value of the averaged modulation magnitude for the filters with best modulation frequencies neighboring 85 Hz was taken and referred to herein as the "modulation response magnitude." Similar to the EFR, the model's modulation response magnitude was expressed as dB SNR relative to the mean 85-Hz modulation response of CFs averaged from 1 to 2.6 kHz where no

signal energy was present in the stimuli. All simulations reported below were repeated 8 times to obtain a mean and variance.

2.4.5 Statistics

Unless otherwise noted, independent samples t tests and Pearson's r were twotailed, and the alpha criterion for all tests was set at 0.05. Statistics were performed using the MATLAB statistics toolbox.

2.5 Results

2.5.1 Audiometric thresholds and behavioural AM detection

Diotic audiometric thresholds measured at 500 Hz and 5 kHz and AM detection thresholds measured in NBN are reported for the control group and the 13 subjects with chronic tinnitus in Figure 2.3. Audiometric thresholds (Figure 2.3a) did not exceed 11 dB HL for any subject (Table 2.1). A 2x2 mixed-model analysis of variance (ANOVA) evaluating the between-subjects factor of group (tinnitus versus control) and within-subjects factor of audiometric frequency (5 kHz versus 500 Hz) on audiometric thresholds found no main effects or interactions (ps >0.17). AM detection thresholds in NBN for both groups shown in Figure 2.3b were similarly examined in a 2x2 ANOVA with the between-subjects factor as group (tinnitus versus control) and stimulus condition (500 Hz vs 5 kHz) as a within-subjects factor. A main effect of stimulus condition was found (F(1,70) =376.78, p < 0.0001) suggesting that AM detection for the 5 kHz probe was higher (i.e., worse) than the 500 Hz probe. A main effect of subject group was not present (p = 0.177) but a significant interaction was found between subject group and stimulus condition (F(1,70) = 6.44, p = 0.013). Follow-up tests indicated that tinnitus subjects had worse AM detection thresholds for the 5 kHz probe (p = 0.016, Fisher's Least Significant Difference (LSD) test), but AM detection thresholds for 500 Hz did not significantly differ (p = 0.48, LSD test). These results indicate that the tinnitus group had poorer suprathreshold AM sensitivity in background noise for the 5 kHz tone, but had normal AM sensitivity at 500 Hz.



Figure 2.3. Behavioral and electrophysiological measurements for tinnitus and control groups. a) Diotic audiometric thresholds for both groups at 500 Hz and 5 kHz. The intermittent tinnitus case is represented by the white stars. b) Amplitude modulation detection thresholds for 500 Hz and 5 kHz AM tones embedded in background narrowband noise. AM thresholds for the intermittent tinnitus case are depicted as white stars. c) EFR magnitudes (dB SNR) for tinnitus and control groups for the five stimulus conditions in which the EFR was evoked. Error bars for all panels are 1 standard error of the mean (SEM).

2.5.2 Envelope Following Responses

EFR power values for each stimulus condition and subject group are plotted in

Figure 2.3c. For both groups, power decreased significantly with the addition of

NBN to the AM tone. During the three conditions in which AM depth decreased while the tone was in NBN, EFR power further declined. Group differences were examined using a two-way mixed-model ANOVA with factors of group (tinnitus versus control) and condition (all conditions in Figure 2.2 excluding the last NBN-only condition). A main effect of group was found (F(1,140) = 4.9, p =0.028) indicating that individuals with tinnitus had overall smaller EFRs suggesting poorer subcortical AM coding. A main effect of stimulus condition was also found (F(3,140) = 14.55, p < 0.0001) indicating that EFR power depended on stimulus condition. The interaction of group with condition was not significant. Post-hoc tests of the group main effect did not reveal significant contrasts between tinnitus and control groups for any individual stimulus condition, although the 0 dB condition (p = 0.16) and the -2.5 dB AM, NBN condition (p = 0.10, LSD tests) appeared to have contributed most to the overall group effect. Post-hoc LSD tests of the condition main effect found that in controls, the no-noise, 0 dB AM (fully modulated) condition in quiet was larger than the remaining conditions (ps < 0.0001). In tinnitus subjects the EFR in the 0 dB AM condition in quiet was larger than in the -2.5 and -6 dB AM conditions in NBN (ps < 0.016), but not the 0 dB AM condition in NBN (p = 0.310).

2.5.3 Individual differences in AM detection and subcortical encoding in background noise

Control Subjects. Although the average EFR power of control subjects dropped significantly with the addition of background NBN ("drop" referring herein to the decrease of EFR power from the no-noise, 0 dB fully modulated AM tone to the 0 dB AM tone in NBN; see Figure 2.3c), some control subjects showed large drops whereas others showed small drops. These individual differences significantly correlated with AM detection thresholds in NBN (Figure 2.4a; r = 0.45, p = 0.027). Thus control subjects with EFRs that were strongly diminished by NBN had worse AM detection thresholds in NBN compared to subjects whose EFR power dropped little in NBN.

One explanation of these results could be that subjects with large EFR drops and worse AM detection in NBN had fewer low-SR fibers available to support AM coding once high-SR fibers were degraded by NBN. To assess this assumption we used a peripheral auditory model (Zilany et al., 2014) to simulate ANF responses to our stimulus conditions. We computed first a set of simulations in which all ANFs were intact (0% loss), and then in subsequent simulations removed low-SR fibers progressively until all low-SR fibers were absent. Similar to EFR power, the addition of NBN to the AM tone severely reduced ANF modulation response magnitude for all conditions, and the size of the response drop increased as more low-SR fibers were removed (see Figure 2.4b). This result is qualitatively consistent with the suggestion that control subjects with large EFR drops had more low-SR fiber loss.

With high-SR fibers predominantly saturated by NBN, we aimed to further assess low-SR fiber function by reducing the AM depth of the stimulus. We fit a straight line to each subject's three EFR power values for the 0 dB, -2.5dB, and -6dB AM depth conditions (Figure 2.2, the three middle stimuli) and calculated the slope of this line ("slope" referring herein to changes in response magnitude across these three conditions). For control subjects, slope did not correlate with AM detection thresholds (r = -0.01, p = 0.96). To better understand if EFR slope related to the effect of adding NBN, we correlated EFR slope with the EFR drop observed when NBN was added to the AM tone. A relationship was found indicating that individuals with smaller EFR drops had steeper EFR slopes (r =0.47, p = 0.019). In other words, individuals whose EFR was not strongly reduced when NBN was added showed a sensitivity to decreasing AM depths in NBN (steep slopes), perhaps because (in contrast to the remaining individuals) they had enough low-SR fibers to code variations in AM depth. Peripheral model simulations (not shown) supported this interpretation, revealing that when low-SR fiber loss was greater the slope of the ANF response magnitude across the three NBN conditions was shallower. These results suggest that the EFR recorded at varying AM depths in NBN can reveal information about the status of low-SR fibers, but only when a sufficient number of low-SR fibers is available to encode suprathreshold sound.



Figure. 2.4. Individual differences in AM detection and EFRs in tinnitus and control groups, and modeling simulations of ERF magnitude. a,c) Behavioral AM detection thresholds in NBN plotted against the size of EFR drop when NBN was added to the AM tone. Dotted lines are 95% confidence intervals around the solid regression line. b,d) Auditory peripheral model simulations which calculate the ANF response magnitude drop when NBN was added to the AM tone (ordinate). Percent loss of either low or high spontaneous rate fibers is plotted along the abscissa.

Tinnitus Subjects. Control subjects with EFRs strongly degraded by NBN had poorer AM detection thresholds (Figure 2.4a), consistent with low-SR fiber loss in the model (Figure 2.4b). In contrast to this finding, tinnitus subjects with worse AM detection thresholds tended to have smaller EFR drops. Although the correlation relating EFR drop to AM detection thresholds did not reach significance in the tinnitus subjects (r = -0.27, p = 0.37, see Figure 2.4c), its direction was opposite to that seen in controls (contrast Figures 2.4a and 2.4c), and the opposing correlations differed significantly between the two groups (p =0.047, Fisher's r-to-z transformation). A possible explanation for these results could be that undetected high-SR fiber loss in the tinnitus subjects may have reduced their EFRs in the no-noise condition compared to controls (see Figure 2.3c earlier and 2.5b below), such that smaller EFR drops occurred in tinnitus subjects when NBN was added. To assess this possibility, we progressively removed high-SR fibers in the peripheral model with low-SR fiber loss set at 100%. As shown in Figure 2.4d, the size of ANF response magnitude drop caused by NBN decreased as high-SR fibers were removed. If a pattern of undetected high-SR fiber loss (affecting EFR drops) and substantial low-SR fiber loss (affecting EFR slope) were to approximate the conditions present in our tinnitus subjects, relationships of EFR drops to AM detection and of EFR drops to slope would be expected to differ from those of control subjects where ANF function is likely better preserved for both fiber types. While EFR drops were significantly correlated to AM detection in background noise and EFR drop in controls (r = 0.45, p = 0.027 and r = 0.47, p = 0.019, respectively, see section 2.5.3), neither correlation reached significance in the tinnitus subjects.

2.5.4 Comparison of simulated and observed EFR responses in control and tinnitus subjects

Figure 2.5a presents a summary of model results for all EFR stimulus conditions, including simulations of no ANF loss, 100% low-SR fiber loss, and varying amounts of high-SR fiber loss. Because the amount of high-SR fiber damage that would best describe EFRs of tinnitus subjects is unclear from the observed data, we plotted a range from 0% high-SR fiber loss to 70% high-SR fiber loss, which is the range of loss over which normal audiometric thresholds could still be expected as observed in our tinnitus and control subjects. In Figure 2.5b we present for qualitative comparison to the simulated results the mean EFR of the 13 subjects with chronic tinnitus and the EFRs of the control subjects that were separated into two subgroups based upon a median split of their AM detection thresholds in NBN. It may be noticed that the EFRs of the two control subgroups do not differ in quiet, suggesting little high-SR fiber loss in the poor AM subgroup. However, the EFRs of this subgroup dropped more with the addition of NBN than was the case for controls with good AM detection, in agreement with the correlation of EFR drop to AM detection reported in Figure 2.4a. The EFRs of the poor AM detection subgroup also trended lower across the NBN conditions than was the case for controls with good AM detection, suggesting an impairment of low-SR fibers for AM coding in this subgroup. Comparison of these data with the simulations in Figure 2.5a for no fiber loss (0%) and 100% low-SR fiber loss are qualitatively congruent with this picture. The modeled EFRs of the tinnitus group with 100% low-SR fiber loss and 0-70% fiber loss in Figure 2.5a were

overall lower than in the two control subgroups, consistent with their EFRs which were overall significantly smaller than in controls as were their AM detection thresholds in NBN (ps = 0.028 and 0.012 respectively, reported earlier).



Figure 2.5. Summary of simulations of the auditory nerve and corresponding EFR power of tinnitus and control subjects separated by AM detection thresholds. a) Means of modulation response magnitude in dB SNR of the peripheral auditory model to the five EFR stimulus conditions. The white bars represent the range of means observed for 0–70% high-SR loss. b) EFR magnitudes for tinnitus and control subjects. Control subjects are broken out into two groups based upon the median split of their AM detection thresholds. Error bars are 1 SEM calculated for each condition separately.

2.5.5 Relationship of AM detection and EFR to audiometric thresholds

For both groups, diotic audiometric thresholds at 5 kHz did not correlate with 5

kHz AM detection in NBN (Control: r = -0.27, p = 0.206; Tinnitus: r = -0.243, p

= 0.423), EFR drop in NBN (Control: r = 0.07, p = 0.732; Tinnitus: r = 0.17, p =

0.590) or EFR slope as AM depth decreased (Control: r = -0.07, p = 0.755;

Tinnitus: r = -0.05, p = 0.882). AM detection thresholds in NBN at 500Hz also did not correlate with diotic 500 Hz thresholds (Control: r = 0.14, p = 0.522; Tinnitus: r = -0.342, p = 0.253). These results indicate that suprathreshold measurements of AM detection and EFR encoding did not relate to audiometric thresholds in either subject group. Hence the synaptic losses suggested by our simulations for controls with poor AM coding and in the tinnitus group appear to have been hidden from the audiogram. This is consistent with animal data showing that synaptopathy consequent destruction of up to 80% of IHCs (and thus loss of drive to ANFs) does not affect audiometric thresholds (Lobarinas et al., 2013).

2.5.6 Intermittent Tinnitus Case

The individual who reported intermittent (IT) episodes of tinnitus was an 18 year old male who experienced tinnitus bilaterally and with a tonal quality for 16 months. His THQ score was 14.4 indicating a mild tinnitus. The audiogram for left and right ears of this subject is plotted in Figure 2.1a as thick grey lines, showing normal thresholds (< 25 dB HL) in both ears to 12.5 kHz, but at 14 and 16 kHz threshold shifts were present in both ears to a maximum of 40 dB HL. His diotic thresholds were –6 dB HL and 1 dB HL for 500 and 5 kHz respectively (Figure 2.3a, white stars), which were lower than but within two standard deviations of the group mean for subjects with chronic tinnitus. The tinnitus likeness spectrum of the IT subject is produced in Figure 2.1b as a thick grey line, showing an increasing tinnitus match to increasing frequency, which did not

appear to qualitatively differ from the chronic tinnitus group. Notably, his tinnitus loudness matches at the time he experienced his tinnitus in the laboratory averaged 55 dB SL across the frequencies of 500 Hz, 1 kHz, and 5 kHz, which was 5.51 SD higher than the chronic tinnitus group mean. AM detection thresholds in NBN for the IT subject (Figure 2.3b, white stars) were -23.6 dB for 500 Hz, close to the chronic tinnitus group mean for this frequency, and surprisingly –23.2 dB for the 5 kHz condition which was 3.4 standard deviations better than the chronic tinnitus group mean. This individual also had an EFR that was 2.54 standard deviations higher than the mean of the chronic tinnitus subjects. Good AM detection thresholds in NBN and large EFRs are consistent with each other but inconsistent with tinnitus-associated low/high-SR fiber loss. Given the many aetiologies of tinnitus (Henry et al., 2005), it is possible that this individual's intermittent tinnitus may have been caused by inflammatory (Yüksel and Karataş, 2016), neuromodulatory (Simoens and Hébert, 2012), or unknown transient factors and not by cochlear injuries. The episodic nature of his tinnitus is also not consistent with ANF damage, although environmental masking of the tinnitus sound cannot be discounted.

2.6 Discussion

2.6.1 Summary

Low-SR fiber loss has been hypothesized to be present in individuals with tinnitus and normal audiograms (Schaette and McAlpine, 2011; Plack et al., 2014; Roberts et al., 2013). To evaluate this hypothesis, we measured detection thresholds for

AM and EFRs evoked by 5 kHz tones at 75 dB SPL in young adults experiencing chronic tinnitus with audiometrically normal hearing and in non-tinnitus control subjects matched for age and hearing level for the test stimuli. Measurements were taken in quiet and again when the contribution of high-SR fibers was suppressed by 40 dB spectrum level background noise such that AM coding relied preferentially on low-SR fibers. EFRs of control subjects with poor AM detection in noise were more strongly reduced by the addition of background noise than was the case for controls with good AM detection, which was consistent with hidden low-SR fiber loss in the poor-performing control subjects estimated by a computational model of the auditory nerve. Tinnitus subjects had overall worse AM detection in noise and smaller EFRs across no-noise and noise conditions compared to controls, which was in agreement with the hypothesized hidden hearing impairment in this group. The EFRs of tinnitus subjects with poor AM detection however were not best approximated by 100% low-SR fiber loss alone, as was suggested for controls with poor AM detection. An additional loss of high-SR fibers gave an improved congruence of the modeled and obtained EFR results for tinnitus subjects, particularly in the no-noise condition where high-SR fibers would have been expected to contribute to AM coding. This extent of high-SR fiber loss would not be expected to elevate audiometric thresholds which remain unaffected with up to ~80% IHC loss (Lobarinas et al., 2013). Correspondingly, EFRs and AM sensitivity did not correlate with audiometric thresholds at 5 kHz in either subject group.

2.6.2 Individual differences in AM sensitivity in control subjects

Our control subjects with normal audiometric thresholds at the test frequencies varied widely in their AM detection thresholds and in the magnitude of their EFRs when these auditory processing attributes were measured in background noise. Comparatively poor performance on these tasks may signify difficulties in coding temporal modulations in sound that can impact spatial listening and speech comprehension in multi-talker environments (Ruggles et al., 2011; Mehraei et al., 2016). Consistent with this supposition, individual differences in the extent to which temporal modulations are coded by the EFR have been shown to correlate positively with the ability of subjects to detect shifting interaural time delays (a skill needed to detect a change in the spatial location of a sound source) and with their ability to direct attention to one of two speech streams presented simultaneously (Bharadwaj et al., 2015). These same investigators also found that EFR slope measured at different modulations depths in notched background noise correlated inversely with behavioral AM detection thresholds, such that subjects with steep slopes were comparatively poorer at AM detection. This relationship was taken to suggest the presence of low-SR synaptopathy in the latter subjects. Although this correlation was not present in our control subjects, it should be noted that Bharadwaj et al. (2015) measured the EFR in background noise containing a notch around the AM tone. This procedure was intended to prevent off-frequency contributions to performance, but in doing so it allowed both highand low-SR fibers to contribute to AM coding. In contrast, we suppressed the contribution of high-SR fibers to AM coding with unnotched background noise,

and reduced AM depth thereafter to test predominantly low-SR fibers. We found that the slope was significantly steeper in controls for subjects whose EFR drop was smaller when NBN was added to 100% AM depth. Cochlear modeling suggested that low-SR fibers were comparatively well preserved in these subjects, such that the EFR now decreased in noise as AM depth diminished.

2.6.3 Role of high- and low-SR fiber loss in tinnitus

Our findings suggesting hidden hearing loss in our tinnitus subjects invite a reevaluation of earlier results revealing differences in audiometric thresholds between individuals with and without tinnitus. Roberts et al. (2008) compared audiometric thresholds to 16 kHz between human tinnitus sufferers and controls matched in age while thresholds were allowed to vary. Audiometric thresholds were normal ($\leq 20 \text{ dB HL}$) to 10 kHz in controls and tinnitus subjects aged less than fifty years, whereas those over fifty showed expected high-frequency audiometric hearing loss above 2 kHz. However, audiometric thresholds above 2 kHz were on average 11 dB higher in tinnitus than control subjects in both age cohorts. Similar results are found in studies by Paul et al. (2014) and Wienbruch et al. (2006). If age matching is assumed to control for OHC and IHC losses caused by aging (Sergeyenko et al., 2013), the difference between young tinnitus and control subjects with normal thresholds to 10 kHz could reflect a degree of hair cell damage and or synaptic losses that reflected a vulnerability to the effects of noise exposure insufficient to increase audiometric thresholds into the clinically abnormal range. These losses may have been comparatively greater

among older subjects with tinnitus and threshold shifts compared to their age matched controls owing to the cumulative effects exposure to environmental sounds. Detailed sound exposure histories were not collected in these studies, and we were not able to distinguish our tinnitus and controls subjects on the basis our questionnaire data. However, risky listening habits are highly prevalent among adolescents and young adults (Sanchez et al., 2016) and histories of exposure to loud environmental sounds are prevalent among older adults with tinnitus (Axellson and Barrenas, 1992). In animals, low-SR synaptopathy for ANFs tuned to high frequencies can be induced by a single noise trauma and is known to accelerate synaptic changes that occur with aging (Fernandez et al., 2015).

Other findings point to undetected cochlear pathology as a factor distinguishing tinnitus and control subjects that were (unlike the above) explicitly matched for audiometric thresholds. Tan et al. (2013) found that tinnitus subjects with high-frequency threshold shifts had better frequency selectivity and compression measured psychophysically compared to non-tinnitus subjects matched closely in thresholds. The results suggested that tinnitus was not strongly associated with OHC impairment estimated by the psychophysical tests, and by that inference IHC cell dysfunction and reduced auditory innervation may underlie threshold elevation and the presence of tinnitus. Our modeling results are consistent with this view and add the hypothesis that hidden synaptic loss including a degree of high-SR fiber loss is also present in individuals with chronic tinnitus and hearing thresholds in the clinically normal range. Weisz et al. (2006)

studied a group of young tinnitus subjects (mean age 26.7 years) and age-matched controls with normal hearing thresholds, comparing the groups for evidence of off-frequency listening expected at frequencies where hidden cochlear dead regions may have been present. Compared to controls, tinnitus subjects showed steeper slopes for functions relating perceived pitch to frequency, reflecting a shift of pitch judgments for sounds in the tinnitus spectrum toward lower frequencies and suggesting off-frequency listening in the tinnitus group. Auditory thresholds measured in threshold-equalizing noise (TEN test, Moore et al., 2000) after pitch scaling were higher for sounds in the tinnitus region in 8 of the 11 tinnitus subjects studied (Weisz et al., 2006), giving added confirmation that hidden cochlear injury was present. The findings were taken to suggest damage specifically to inner hair cells in the tinnitus group. Hidden synaptic loss is an alternative and not incompatible interpretation of these findings, but synaptic loss could be a more likely explanation owing to a separate study which attempted to replicate Weisz et al. (2006) but failed to find evidence of off-frequency listening in tinnitus subjects with normal audiograms (Gilles et al., 2013). In this regard, some animal models of tinnitus have reported evidence for high-SR fiber loss after noise exposure while concurrent low-SR fiber loss (although present) was insufficient to produce tinnitus behavior (Bauer et al., 2007; Rüttiger et al., 2013). Knipper et al. (2015) suggested that the protein expression necessary to centrally compensate for peripheral deafferentation could not be achieved once high-SR fibers sustained a significant loss, which may trigger central hyperactivity and

hypersynchrony underlying tinnitus (Rüttiger et al., 2013; Singer et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2016). This notion could also explain why some individuals with suprathreshold temporal processing deficits consistent with low-SR fiber synaptopathy do not develop tinnitus (Bharadwaj et al., 2015; Mehraei et al., 2016; control subjects with poor AM detection in the present data).

A summary model incorporating these results for normal and impaired temporal coding in subjects with and without tinnitus with a normal audiogram is presented in Figure 2.6. IHCs and ANFs tuned to high frequencies covering the tinnitus spectrum are depicted for three cases. Tinnitus is not present in cases (a) and (b) since high-SR fibers are preserved; however, temporal coding dependent on intact low-SR fibers is reduced in case (b) in the presence of background noise. Tinnitus is present in case (c) owing to added partial loss of high-SR fibers but not enough to elevate audiometric thresholds. AM coding in quiet is also reduced in this case, since high-SR fibers would be expected to contribute to temporal processing when not saturated by background sound. Although the subjects we studied did not have high frequency hearing loss, the model can be extended to account for audiometric threshold shifts with and without tinnitus. Here tinnitus with threshold shift would correspond to case (c), and threshold shift without tinnitus to case (b), adding OHC loss and/or hair cell stereocilia damage in both cases to elevate audiometric thresholds.



Figure 2.6. Conceptual model of peripheral synaptic loss (broken lines) in tinnitus and non-tinnitus individuals. Noise exposure or other auditory insults damage vulnerable low-SR auditory nerve fibers (thin lines) and less vulnerable high-SR nerve fibers (thick lines). (a) Subjects with normal AM coding, normal audiometric thresholds, and no tinnitus. All synapses are intact. (b) Subjects have low-SR loss that degrades AM coding, but because hair cell mechanical function and a sufficient population of high-SR fibers remain, tinnitus is not present and auditory thresholds are normal. (c) Tinnitus subjects have additional synaptic loss to high-SR fibers sufficient to trigger aberrant hyperactivity in higher auditory structures, but the extent of high-SR fiber loss is not enough to affect auditory thresholds.

2.6.4 Role of central mechanisms in AM coding

The EFR reflects a composite of phase-locked activity from the auditory nerve

and subcortical structures (Kuwada et al., 2002; Shaheen et al., 2015) and when

evoked at 85 Hz the EFR has sources consistent with generators in the auditory

midbrain (Herdman et al., 2002; Kiren et al., 1994). After noise exposure, animals

with behavioral evidence of tinnitus typically exhibit increased spontaneous

activity throughout the auditory pathway including in the auditory cortex (Basura

et al., 2015), the dorsal cochlear nucleus (DCN; Kaltenbach et al., 2004; Demel et

al., 2012; Wu et al, 2016), and the inferior colliculus (IC; Bauer et al. 2008).

Increased neural synchrony accompanies these changes in the auditory cortex (Engineer et al., 2011), IC (Bauer et al., 2008), DCN (Wu et al., 2016) and possibly other brain regions (Eggermont and Roberts, 2014). These changes are believed to reflect diminished inhibition and increased central gain in central auditory pathways (Berger and Coomber, 2015; Noreña and Farley, 2013) after deafferentation, with altered spike-timing dependent plasticity playing a role (Dehmel et al., 2012). Any of these effects could disrupt subcortical AM processing (Burger and Pollack, 1998) and thereby alter EFR amplitude in tinnitus, although increased central gain (Gu et al, 2012) might be expected to have the opposite effect. In mice, EFRs recorded at AM rates of <600 Hz appear to be less sensitive to verified synaptic losses on IHCs compared to EFRs recorded at higher AM rates, possibly because EFRs recorded at lower rates reflect activity in the later-occurring ABR waves IV and V which localize to midbrain nuclei and are subject to increased gain after deafferentation (Shaheen et al., 2015) while EFRs recorded at higher AM rates are more closely related to the activity of the cochlear nerve. To the extent that gain changes increase the EFR, the difference we observed between tinnitus and control subjects may understate those that might be observed at higher modulation frequencies, particularly for carrier frequencies close to the peak of individual tinnitus spectra. These considerations underscore that adaptations in central auditory pathways consequent on deafferentation may modulate EFRs recorded from individuals with tinnitus. Our findings indicate, however, that hidden synaptopathy could by

itself be sufficient to account for impaired temporal coding in subjects with normal audiograms, and for cases of tinnitus unrelated to audiometric hearing loss.

While the auditory periphery model was able to qualitatively describe the patterns of EFR responses in the different stimulus conditions for both of our control and tinnitus groups, the range of EFR drops observed in our control subjects exceeded the comparatively narrower range estimated by the model (cf. ordinates, Figure 2.4a and 2.4b). Central AM processing is known to enhance strong but not weak modulations (Joris et al., 2004), which could partly explain the quantitative differences between the obtained and modeled EFR data. In addition, not evaluated in the model was the function of the medial olivocochlear reflex (MOCR), an efferent gain control mechanism that suppresses ANF firing rates under continuous stimulation and may assist listening in noise (Guinan, 2006). There are known individual differences in MOCR strength (De Ceulaer et al., 2001), which may additionally explain the wider range of EFR drops in the control subjects. Central hyperactivity present in tinnitus may also modify the MOCR such that cochlear gain is suppressed in the absence of background noise, but this is unlikely to have occurred for our tinnitus subjects since cochlear gain reduction would have produced audiometric threshold shifts in quiet compared to controls, which we did not observe.

2.7 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Council of Canada. The authors thank Heba Osman, Alicia Ovcjak, Olivia Paserin, Monique Tardif, and Sajal Waheed for their assistance in data collection, Hari Bharadwaj for sharing the MATLAB code used for our EFR analysis, and Roland Schaette for calling our attention to the study of Bourien et al., (2014) on the contribution of ANFs to the compound action potential.

2.8 References

- Axelsson, A., Barrenas, M.L. 1992. Tinnitus in noise-induced hearing loss. In: Dancer, A.L., Hnederson, D., Salvi R.J., Hamernick, R.P. (Eds.) Noiseinduced hearing loss. Mosby, Boston, pp. 269–276.
- Basura, G.J., Koehler, S D., Shore, S.E. 2015. Bimodal stimulus timingdependent plasticity in primary auditory cortex is altered after noise exposure with and without tinnitus. J. Neurophysiol., 114, 3064–3075.
- Bauer, C.A., Brozoski, T.J., Myers K. 2007. Primary afferent dendrite degeneration as a cause of tinnitus. J. Neurosci. Res. 85,1489–1498.
- Bauer, C.A., Turner, J.G., Caspary, D.M., Myers, K.S., Brozoski, T.J. 2008. Tinnitus and inferior colliculus activity in chinchillas related to three distinct patterns of cochlear trauma. J. Neurosci. Res. 86, 2564–2578.
- Berger, J.I., Coomber, B. 2015. Tinnitus-Related Changes in the Inferior Colliculus. Front. Neurol. 6, 61. doi:10.3389/fneur.2015.00061.
- Bharadwaj, H.M., Masud, S., Mehraei, G., Verhulst, S., Shinn-Cunningham, B.G. 2015. Individual differences reveal correlates of hidden hearing deficits. J. Neurosci. 35, 2161–2172.
- Bharadwaj, H.M., Shinn-Cunningham, B.G. 2014. Rapid acquisition of auditory brainstem steady state responses using multichannel recordings. Clin. Neurophysiol. 125, 1878–1888.
- Bharadwaj, H.M., Verhulst, S., Shaheen, L., Liberman, M.C., Shinn-Cunningham, B.G. 2014. Cochlear neuropathy and the coding of supra-threshold sound. Front. Sys. Neurosci. 8, 26. doi:10.3389/fnsys.2014.00026.
- Borg, G., Borg, E. 2001. A new generation of scaling methods: Level-anchored ratio scaling. Acta Psychologica, 28,14–45.
- Bourien, J., Tang, Y., Batrel, C., Huet, A., Lenoir, M., Ladrech, S., Desmadryl, G., Nouvian, R., Puel, J.L., Wang, J. 2014. Contribution of auditory nerve fibers to compound action potential of the auditory nerve. J. Neurophysiol. 112, 1025–1039.
- Burger, R.M., Pollak, G.D. 1998. Analysis of the role of inhibition in shaping responses to sinusoidally amplitude-modulated signals in the inferior colliculus. J. Neurophysiol. 80,1686–1701.
- De Ceulaer, G., Yperman, M., Daemers, K., Van Driessche, K., Somers, T., Offeciers, F.E., Govaerts, P.J. 2001. Contralateral Suppression of Transient Evoked Otoacoustic Emissions: Normative Data for a Clinical Test Set-Up. Otol. Neurotol. 22, 350–355.
- Dehmel, S., Pradhan, S., Koehler, S., Bledsoe, S., & Shore, S. 2012. Noise Overexposure Alters Long-Term Somatosensory-Auditory Processing in

the Dorsal Cochlear Nucleus--Possible Basis for Tinnitus-Related Hyperactivity? J. Neurosci., 32, 1660–1671.

- Eggermont, J.J, Roberts, L.E. 2014. Tinnitus: animal models and findings in humans. Cell Tissue Res. 261, 311–36.
- Elhilali, M., Chi, T., Shamma, S.A. 2003. A spectro-temporal modulation index (STMI) for assessment of speech intelligibility. Speech Comm. 41, 331–348.
- Engineer, N. D., Riley, J. R., Seale, et al. (2011). Reversing pathological neural activity using targeted plasticity. Nature, 470, 101–104.
- Fernandez, K.A., Jeffers, P.W., Lall, K., Liberman, M.C., Kujawa, S.G. 2015. Aging after Noise Exposure: Acceleration of Cochlear Synaptopathy in "Recovered" Ears. J. Neurosci, 35, 7509–7520.
- Furman, A.C., Kujawa, S.G., Liberman, M.C. 2013. Noise-induced cochlear neuropathy is selective for fibers with low spontaneous rates. J. Neurophysiol. 110, 577–586.
- Greenwood, D.D. 1961. Critical Bandwidth and the Frequency Coordinates of the Basilar Membrane. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 33,1344–1356.
- Gilles, A., De Ridder, D., van de Heyning, P. 2013. No cochlear dead regions detected in non-pulsatile tinnitus patients: an assessment with the threshold equalizing noise (sound pressure level) test. Noise Health, 15, 129–133.
- Gu, J.W., Herrmann, B.S., Levine, R.A., Melcher, J.R. 2012. Brainstem Auditory Evoked Potentials Suggest a Role for the Ventral Cochlear Nucleus in Tinnitus. J. Assoc. Res. Otolaryngol. 13, 819–833.
- Guinan, J.J. 2006. Olivocochlear efferents: anatomy, physiology, function, and the measurement of efferent effects in humans. Ear. Hear. 27, 589–607.
- Henry, J.A., Dennis, K.C., Schechter, M.A. 2005. General review of tinnitus: prevalence, mechanisms, effects, and management. J. Speech Lang. Hear. Res. 48, 1204–1235.
- Herdman, A.T., Lins, O., Van Roon, P., Stapells, D.R., Scherg, M., Picton, T.W. 2002. Intracerebral Sources of Human Auditory Steady-State Potentials. Brain Topo. 15, 69–86.
- Joris, P.X., Schreiner, C.E., Rees, A. 2004. Neural processing of amplitudemodulated sounds. Physiol. Rev. 84, 541–577.
- Kaltenbach, J.A. 2011. Tinnitus: Models and mechanisms. Hear. Res. 276, 52–60.

- Kaltenbach, J.A., Zacharek, M.A., Zhang, J., Frederick, S. 2004. Activity in the dorsal cochlear nucleus of hamsters previously tested for tinnitus following intense tone exposure. Neurosc. Lett. 355, 121–125.
- Kiren, T., Aoyagi, M., Furuse, H., Koike, Y. 1994. An experimental study on the generator of amplitude-modulation following response. Acta Otolaryngol. Suppl. 511, 28–33.
- Knipper, M., Panford-Walsh, R., Singer, W., Rüttiger, L., Zimmermann, U. 2015. Specific synaptopathies diversify brain responses and hearing disorders: you lose the gain from early life. Cell Tissue Res. 361, 77–93.
- Kujawa, S.G., Liberman, M.C. 2009. Adding insult to injury: cochlear nerve degeneration after "temporary" noise-induced hearing loss. J. Neurosci. 29, 14077–14085.
- Kujawa, S.G., Liberman, M.C. 2015. Synaptopathy in the noise-exposed and aging cochlea: Primary neural degeneration in acquired sensorineural hearing loss. Hear. Res. 330, 191–199.
- Kuwada. S., Anderson, J.S., Batra, R., Fitzpatrick, D.C., Teissier, N., D'Angelo,W.R. 2002. Sources of the scalp-recorded amplitude-modulation following response. J. Am. Acad. Audiol. 13, 188–204.
- Kuk, F.K., Tyler, R.S., Russel, D., Jordan, H. 1990. The psychometric properties of a tinnitus handicap questionnaire. Ear. Hear. 11, 434–445.
- Liberman, M.C. 1978. Auditory-nerve response from cats raised in a low-noise chamber. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 63, 442–454.
- Lobarinas, E., Salvi, R., Ding, D. 2013. Insensitivity of the audiogram to carboplatin induced inner hair cell loss in chinchillas. Hear. Res. 302, 113–120.
- Mehraei, G., Hickox, A.E., Bharadwaj, H.M., Goldberg, H., Verhulst, S., Liberman, M.C., Shinn-Cunningham, B.G. 2016. Auditory Brainstem Response Latency in Noise as a Marker of Cochlear Synaptopathy. J. Neurosci. 36, 3755:3764.
- Moore, B.C., Huss, M., Vickers, D.A., Glasberg, B.R., Alcántara, J.I. 2000. A test for the diagnosis of dead regions in the cochlea. Br. J. Audiol. 34, 205–224.
- Noreña, A.J., Farley, B.J. 2013. Tinnitus-related neural activity: theories of generation, propagation, and centralization. Hear. Res. 295, 161–171.
- Paul, B.T., Bruce, I.C., Bosnyak, D.J., Thompson, D.C., Roberts, L.E. 2014. Modulation of electrocortical brain activity by attention in individuals with and without tinnitus. Neural Plast. Article ID 127824. doi:10.1155/2014/127824.

- Plack, C.J., Barker, D., Prendergast, G. 2014. Perceptual Consequences of "Hidden" Hearing Loss. Trends Hear. 18, 1–11.
- Penner, M.J., Bilger, R.C. 1995. Psychophysical observations and the origin of tinnitus. In: Vernon, J.A., Møller, A.R. (Eds.) Mechanisms of Tinnitus. Allyn and Bacon, Boston, pp 219–230.
- Roberts, L.E., Husain, F.T., Eggermont, J.J. 2013. Role of attention in the generation and modulation of tinnitus. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 37, 1754–1773.
- Roberts, L.E., Moffat, G., Baumann, M., Ward, L.M., Bosnyak, D.J. 2008. Residual Inhibition Functions Overlap Tinnitus Spectra and the Region of Auditory Threshold Shift. J. Assoc. Res. Otolaryngol. 9, 417–435.
- Ruggles, D., Bharadwaj, H., Shinn-Cunningham, B.G. 2011. Normal hearing is not enough to guarantee robust encoding of suprathreshold features important in everyday communication. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 108, 15516–15521.
- Rüttiger, L., Singer, W., Panford-Walsh, R., Matsumoto, M., Lee, S.C., Zuccotti,
 A., Zimmermann, U., Jaumann, M., Rohbock, K., Xiong, H., Knipper, M.
 2013. The reduced cochlear output and the failure to adapt the central auditory response causes tinnitus in noise exposed rats. PLoS One 8, e57247. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0057247
- Sanchez, T.G., Moraes, F., Casseb, J., Cota, J., Freire, K., Roberts, L.E. 2016. Tinnitus is associated with reduced sound level tolerance in adolescents with normal audiograms and otoacoustic emissions. Sci. Rep. 6:27109, doi:10.1038/srep27109
- Schaette, R., McAlpine, D. 2011. Tinnitus with a normal audiogram: physiological evidence for hidden hearing loss and computational model. J. Neurosci. 31, 13452–13457.
- Sergeyenko, Y., Lall, K., Liberman, M.C., Kujawa, S.G. 2013. Age-Related Cochlear Synaptopathy: An Early-Onset Contributor to Auditory Functional Decline. J. Neurosci. 33, 13686–13694.
- Simoens, V.L., Hebert, S. 2012. Cortisol suppression and hearing thresholds in tinnitus after low-dose dexamethasone challenge. BMC Ear Nose Throat Disord. 12:4 doi: 10.1186/1472-6815-12-4.
- Singer, W., Zuccott, i A., Jaumann M, et al. 2013. Noise-induced inner hair cell ribbon loss disturbs central arc mobilization: a novel molecular paradigm for understanding tinnitus. Mol. Neurobiol. 47, 261–279.
- Shore, S.E., Roberts, L.E., Langguth, B. 2016. Maladaptive plasticity in tinnitustriggers, mechanisms, and treatments.Nat. Rev. Neurol., 12, 150–160.

- Tan, C.M., Lecluyse, W., McFerran, D., Meddis, R. 2013. Tinnitus and Patterns of Hearing Loss. J. Assoc. Res. Otolaryngol. 14, 275–282.
- Taylor, M.M., Creelman, C.D. 1967. PEST: Efficient Estimates on probability functions. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 41, 782–787.
- Vanneste, S., De Ridder, D. 2016. Deafferentation-based pathophysiological differences in phantom sound: Tinnitus with and without hearing loss. NeuroImage 129, 80–94.
- Weisz, N., Hartmann, T., Dohrmann, K., Schlee, W., Noreña, A. 2006. Highfrequency tinnitus without hearing loss does not mean absence of deafferentation. Hear. Res. 222, 108–114.
- Wienbruch, C., Paul, I., Weisz, N., Elbert, T., Roberts, L.E. 2006. Frequency organization of the 40-Hz auditory steady state response in normal hearing and in tinnitus. NeuroImage 33, 180–194.
- Wu, C., Martel, D.T., Shore, S.E. (2016). Increased Synchrony and Bursting of Dorsal Cochlear Nucleus Fusiform Cells Correlate with Tinnitus. J. Neurosci., 36, 2068–2073.
- Yates, G.K., Winter, I.M., Robertson, D. 1990. Basilar membrane nonlinearity determines auditory nerve rate-intensity functions and cochlear dynamic range. Hear. Res. 45, 203–220.
- Young, E.D., Barta, P.E. 1986. Rate responses of auditory nerve fibers to tones in noise near masked threshold. J. Acoust. Soc Am. 79, 426–442.
- Yüksel F, Karataş D. In press. Can Platelet Indices Be New Biomarkers for Subjective Tinnitus? J. Craniofac. Surg. doi: 10.1097/SCS.00000000002693.
- Zilany, M.S., Bruce, I.C., Carney, L.H. 2014. Updated parameters and expanded simulation options for a model of the auditory periphery. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 135, 283–286.

Chapter 3: Modulation of Electrocortical Brain Activity by Attention in Individuals with and without Tinnitus

Paul, B. T., Bruce, I, C., Bosnyak, D. J., Thompson, D. C., & Roberts, L. E.
(2014). Modulation of electrocortical brain activity by attention in individuals with and without tinnitus. Neural Plasticity, vol. 2014, Article ID 127824. doi:10.1155/2014/127824.

Article reprinted with permission under the Creative Common License 4.0

3.1 Preface

One view derived from the results and conceptual model of Chapter 2 is that peripheral loss may be necessary for tinnitus to arise in the absence of audiometric threshold shifts, which may also extend to cases in which threshold shifts are present. Deafferentation would also be expected to have consequences on central auditory and non-auditory factors. The next two chapters investigate how attention is modified in tinnitus. The observation that tinnitus arises in conscious perception and is known to detract from attentional focus formed the basis for a model that positioned a role for an attention-related neuromodulatory system in the development of tinnitus (Roberts et al., 2013). The experiment in the present chapter first tests if the attention system itself might be persistently engaged in tinnitus subjects.

In a previous study, Roberts et al. (2012) evoked ASSR and N1 responses using a 5 kHz tone (well within the TFR) in tinnitus and control subjects that were matched in age and hearing threshold shifts. In one condition, subjects were asked

to either listen and respond to tones evoking these responses or in another condition passively listen and not respond. ASSR and N1 amplitudes increased on active listening trials compared to passive trials in controls, but this effect was absent in tinnitus subjects. The results could either be interpreted as a failure of top-down attention to modulate neurons in A1 and A2 of the TFR because of the presence of tinnitus-related activity, or that attention was persistently engaged and active listening could not increase A1 and A2 responses any further. These alternatives stem from one aspect of the Roberts et al. (2013) attention model suggesting that attention is broadly engaged across auditory cortex in the tinnitus brain as it was trying to resolve the disparity between the tinnitus activity in A1 and the diminished input coming in from the periphery. This view could be supported if attentional modulation failed for tones evoked outside the TFR in tinnitus subjects.

Accordingly, the experiment in Chapter 3 replicated the design used in Roberts et al. (2012) but instead used a 500 Hz tone well below the TFR to evoke the ASSR and N1. These results were combined with the 5 kHz data in a unified analysis comparing the effects of active listening on A1 and A2 responses in attention. Also included was an analysis on the effects of attention on the latelatency N2 and sustained responses in tinnitus and control subjects at both frequencies.
References

- Roberts, L. E., Bosnyak, D. J., & Thompson, D. C. (2012). Neural plasticity expressed in central auditory structures with and without tinnitus. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 6.
- Roberts, L. E., Husain, F. T., & Eggermont, J. J. (2013). Role of attention in the generation and modulation of tinnitus. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 37(8), 1754–1773.

Hindawi Publishing Corporation Neural Plasticity Volume 2014, Article ID 127824, 16 pages http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2014/127824



Research Article

Modulation of Electrocortical Brain Activity by Attention in Individuals with and without Tinnitus

Brandon T. Paul,¹ Ian C. Bruce,^{1,2,3} Daniel J. Bosnyak,^{1,3} David C. Thompson,¹ and Larry E. Roberts^{1,3}

¹ Department of Psychology, Neuroscience & Behaviour, McMaster University, 1280 Main Street West, Hamilton, ON, Canada L8S 4K1
² Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, McMaster University, 1280 Main Street West, Hamilton, ON, Canada L8S 4K1
³ McMaster Institute for Music and the Mind, McMaster University, 1280 Main Street West, Hamilton, ON, Canada L8S 4K1

Correspondence should be addressed to Larry E. Roberts; roberts@mcmaster.ca

Received 27 March 2014; Accepted 15 April 2014; Published 12 June 2014

Academic Editor: Aage Møller

Copyright © 2014 Brandon T. Paul et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Age and hearing-level matched tinnitus and control groups were presented with a 40 Hz AM sound using a carrier frequency of either 5 kHz (in the tinnitus frequency region of the tinnitus subjects) or 500 Hz (below this region). On attended blocks subjects pressed a button after each sound indicating whether a single 40 Hz AM pulse of variable increased amplitude (target, probability 0.67) had or had not occurred. On passive blocks subjects rested and ignored the sounds. The amplitude of the 40 Hz auditory steady-state response (ASSR) localizing to primary auditory cortex (A1) increased with attention in control groups probed at 500 Hz and 5 kHz and in the tinnitus group probed at 500 Hz, but not in the tinnitus group probed at 5 kHz (128 channel EEG). NI amplitude (this response localizing to nonprimary cortex, A2) increased with attention at both sound frequencies in controls but at neither frequency in tinnitus. We suggest that tinnitus-related neural activity occurring in the 5 kHz but not the 500 Hz region of tonotopic A1 disrupted attentional modulation of the 5 kHz ASSR in tinnitus subjects, while tinnitus-related activity in A1 distributing nontonotopically in A2 impaired modulation of N1 at both sound frequencies.

1. Introduction

Forms of neural plasticity are expressed by many neurons in central auditory structures and are believed to sculpt the neural changes that underlie the development of tinnitus and hyperacusis associated with hearing loss [1, 2]. Examples of neural changes attributed to neural plasticity in animal models include upregulation of somatosensory inputs to principal neurons in the dorsal cochlear nucleus (DCN) following section of the cochlear nerve [3] and broadening of the temporal integration window of spike-timing dependent plasticity for neurons in the DCN [4] and auditory cortex [5] in animals exhibiting behavioral evidence of tinnitus. Neural changes taking place after deafferentation may in turn affect how neural activity is modified when auditory training is applied to individuals with tinnitus, as is done by sound therapies intended to treat this condition. Roberts et al. [6] trained individuals with tinnitus and age and hearinglevel matched controls to detect an auditory target embedded in a 5 kHz 40 Hz amplitude modulated (AM) sound. The 5 kHz 40 Hz AM sound was in the tinnitus frequency region (TFR) of the tinnitus subjects and evoked the stimulus-driven 40 Hz auditory steady response (ASSR) known to localize to sources in primary auditory cortex (A1) [7-10]. In agreement with earlier results obtained from normal hearing subjects [11, 12], the phase of the ASSR phase (the time delay between the 40 Hz stimulus and response waveforms) decreased progressively over training sessions in the control group, but ASSR phase did not change in the tinnitus group. In contrast, the amplitude of the ASSR (which was known from earlier research to be resistant to change) did not increase with training in controls, but ASSR amplitude increased with training in the tinnitus group, as did online ratings of the loudness of their tinnitus percept. It was suggested that abnormal synchronous neural activity underlying the tinnitus percept may have obstructed changes in ASSR phase in the tinnitus group, whereas reduced inhibition in A1 associated with tinnitus may have permitted an expansion of

the cortical representation for 5 kHz that was prevented by competitive interactions within the tonotopic map of control subjects without tinnitus [6].

2

These results suggest that the effects of plasticity are modified in tinnitus sufferers by tinnitus-related neural activity occurring in auditory pathways. Further findings of Roberts et al. [6] suggested that effects of attention on neural responses are also modified in the tinnitus brain. In hearing-intact animals, neural plasticity is modulated by subcortical cholinergic and other neuromodulatory systems that receive top-down input from prefrontal cortex and project widely to the neocortex where they perform an attention-like function, making neurons more sensitive to their afferent inputs [13-17]. These mechanisms may account for the observation in normal hearing humans that auditory tasks that require top-down attention increase not only the amplitude of the ASSR localizing to A1, but also the amplitude of the N1 transient response whose cortical sources localize to secondary auditory cortex (A2) in the region of the planum temporale [7, 18]. In agreement with results obtained in normal hearing subjects, control subjects in the study of Roberts et al. [6] showed increased ASSR and N1 amplitude on active trials where detection of targets was required, compared to a passive condition where subjects were told to ignore the sounds and rest until the next active block was presented. However, modulation of ASSR and N1 amplitude by attention was abolished in the tinnitus group for N1 in all sessions of training and for ASSR amplitude on the first session with a weak modulation appearing subsequently as ASSR amplitude increased over trials. The results suggested that, although the top-down auditory attention system may work normally in tinnitus, its expression was obstructed by tinnitus-related neural activity occurring in the TFR of the tinnitus group where the sound to be detected (a 40 Hz AM 5 kHz carrier frequency) was located.

The present experiment evaluated this hypothesis by determining whether deficient modulation of ASSR and N1 amplitude by attention is observed when subjects with tinnitus are required to detect auditory targets embedded in a 40 Hz AM carrier of 500 Hz, which is well below the region where tinnitus-related neural activity is expected to occur. The results were compared in a unified analysis to the 5 kHz groups reported by Roberts et al. [6] which performed the same auditory detection task except for the carrier frequency chosen. In addition, two additional long-latency responses, namely, the N2 transient response (latency \sim 325 ms) and the auditory sustained response (SR, commencing after N2 and persisting to the end of stimulation), were studied in both groups, to determine whether modulation of these late responses was similarly affected by tinnitus.

2. Methods

2.1. Participants and Design. 60 subjects (30 tinnitus and 30 controls) were recruited via McMaster University faculty and staff by email list servers and from our laboratory archive. One control subject was excluded from analysis due to noise in the electroencephalogram (EEG) that could not meet the

requirement for artifact rejection in offline processing. Two further controls withdrew for unrelated medical reasons. Two tinnitus participants withdrew after expressing concern that the procedures might worsen their tinnitus. Of the remaining 55 subjects, 22 completed the 5 kHz study of Roberts et al. [6] and 33 subjects were new recruits assigned to 500 Hz and tested here. No subjects in the total sample reported use of medication during the time of the study; controls reported no history of tinnitus or ear diseases. Participants received an honorarium of \$10 CAD per hour as well as reimbursement for parking fees. Subjects provided informed consent using procedures approved by the Research Ethics Board of McMaster University and consistent with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Tinnitus subjects completed a preliminary interview (intake session, about 90 minutes) that collected detailed information on personal history of their tinnitus. The Tinnitus Handicap Questionnaire (THQ) was administered to assess tinnitus attributes and impact on quality of life [19]. Pure-tone audiometric thresholds were measured using a GSI 61 audiometer with Telephonics 296 D200 (0.125-8.0 kHz) and Sennheiser HDA 200 (8.0-16 kHz) headphones using the pulsed-tone method. Properties of tinnitus were measured by computerized tools described by Roberts et al. [12]. Using the tools, subjects first identified the ear of tinnitus (left, right, or both) and tinnitus bandwidth (tonal, ringing, or hissing) following which they rated tinnitus loudness on a Borg CR100 visual analog scale. Next, subjects adjusted the loudness of each of 11 pure tones between 0.5 and 12.0 kHz to equal that of their tinnitus. The tinnitus frequency spectrum (likeness rating) was then taken for the same pure tones at the determined loudness level, followed by a brief test for residual inhibition. Control subjects completed the same intake procedure as tinnitus subjects except for procedures pertaining to tinnitus.

Four groups of subjects were studied: controls tested at 500 Hz (Cont500 Hz), tinnitus subjects at 500 Hz (Tinn500 Hz), control subjects at 5 kHz (Cont5 kHz), and tinnitus subjects at 5 kHz (Tinn5 kHz). The tinnitus and control groups were matched for age within the two stimulus frequencies and as much as possible between the two frequencies. The number, age, and gender of subjects in each group and the sound levels experienced by the subjects are given in Table 1 where properties of tinnitus are also reported for the two tinnitus groups. Figure 1 shows audiometric thresholds for each group and, for tinnitus subjects only, the tinnitus spectrum and loudness matches for sound frequencies between 500 Hz and 12 kHz. Approximately one week lapsed between the intake session and the experimental session described next.

2.2. Stimuli. The stimuli were 500 Hz and 5 kHz pure tones AM by a 40.96 Hz sinusoid (called 40 Hz, 100% modulation depth following the modulation wave). Tone duration was 975.56 ms, such that each stimulus contained 40 AM pulses. Stimuli were generated by a digital signal processor (Tucker-Davis RP.2) and presented binaurally through ear inserts (Etymotic ER2). Sound levels were determined by a loudness

TABLE 1: Participant demographics.							
	Tin500 Hz group	Cont500 Hz group	Tinn5 kHz group	Cont5 kHz group			
Characteristics of participants							
Number (male)	17 (10)	16 (5)	11 (7)	11 (8)			
Age in years, mean (SE)	62.0 (3.31)	62.0 (2.29)	48.6 (4.75)	53.9 (5.86)			
Age range in years	22-77	42-74	22-68	22-76			
Audiometric Data							
Mean (SE) threshold @ 500 Hz (dB HL)	10.6 (3.49)	11.9 (2.90)	8.0 (2.56)	10.5 (2.88)			
Mean (SE) threshold @1kHz (dBHL)	18.4 (3.76)	13.1 (3.25)	7.9 (2.70)	10.7 (3.67)			
Mean (SE) threshold @ 2 kHz (dB HL)	nold @ 2 kHz (dB HL) 24.5 (4.24) 12.5		9.8 (3.65)	13.6 (3.61)			
Mean (SE) threshold @ 5 kHz (dB HL)	43.8 (5.04)	33.3 (5.19)	28.5 (6.24)	25.7 (7.01)			
Sound levels							
Standard for matching	1 kHz pure tone 65 dB SL	1 kHz pure tone 65 dB SL	2 kHz 40 Hz AM tone at 65 dB SPL	2 kHz 40 Hz AM tone at 65 dB SPL			
Mean (SE) stimulus intensity (dB SPL)	81.2 (1.68)	78.7 (2.90)	60.0 (2.05)	58.5 (2.01)			
Stimulus intensity range (dB SPL)	69-93	47-93	50-74	40-66			
Tinnitus characteristics							
Mean (SE) duration in years	12.5 (2.68)		11.7 (3.03)				
Mean (SE) loudness rating Borg CR100 scale	44.8 (5.62)		57.1 (6.21)				
Mean (SE) loudness match (1 kHz tone, dB SPL)	36.7 (9.05)		53.9 (6.32)				
THQ Mean Total Score (SE)	32.5 (5.64)		48.9 (6.66)				
Tinnitus bandwidth (number of participants)							
Tonal	12		6				
Ringing	2		2				
Hissing	3		3				
Tinnitus ear							
Bilateral	15		11				
Left	1		0				
Right	1		0				

matching paradigm in which subjects in the 500 Hz groups matched the loudness of the stimulus to a reference pure tone of 1kHz presented at 65 dB SL and subjects in the 5 kHz groups to a reference tone of 2 kHz presented at 65 dB SPL. These matching procedures aligned the groups with those of earlier research [2, 6] and equated subjective stimulus loudness between the tinnitus and control groups at each probe frequency. However, it was inevitable that probe intensity measured in SPL would vary between the 500 Hz and 5 kHz groups as a consequence of threshold shifts at 5 kHz and hyperacusis in the tinnitus groups. Possible effects of probe intensity were evaluated by regressing effects of attention expressed in each brain response on probe intensity in SPL, which was known for each subject.

2.3. Auditory Task. The auditory task is described in Figure 2. Subjects sat in a sound-attenuated (ambient noise level 16 dBA SPL) and electrically shielded booth, comfortably in a chair distanced 1.4 m from a computer monitor. There were two types of stimuli: standard stimuli and stimuli containing a target. The two stimuli were identical except that target stimuli contained a single 40 Hz pulse of variable increased

amplitude (target) that occurred randomly at 415 ms, 610 ms, or 805 ms after stimulus onset. Approximately 2/3rd of the stimuli contained a target; however, because approximately 1/3rd of the targets were expected to be below or close to the threshold of detection, target stimuli likely were heard on about 50% of trials. Trials of both types (standard and target) unfolded in either active blocks or passive blocks with each block containing 54 stimuli and lasting roughly 2.5 minutes. On active blocks, the word "Listen" appeared in a text box on the computer screen, instructing participants to attend to the trial for a target event. After stimulus completion text on the screen prompted, "Did you hear a target?" As per instructions on the screen, participants pressed the left mouse button "yes" if they had detected a target and a right mouse button "no" if they had not. Correct responses (hits and correct rejections) generated a green text box for 400 ms providing appropriate feedback. Incorrect responses (misses and false alarms) produced a red text box for the same duration. An intertrial interval (ITI) varying between 1400 and 1600 ms commenced with each behavioral response, giving a variable interval of about 1900 ms including the feedback cue and depending on behavioral response latency. During passive blocks, the text "Stop responding and ignore

4

Neural Plasticity



FIGURE 1: Audiogram, tinnitus spectrum, and tinnitus loudness matches. (a) Pure-tone audiograms (pulsed-tone method) from 0.125 to 16 kHz showing each ear and group separately. Comparisons of thresholds averaged across ears at 500 Hz and 5 kHz are shown in the inset bar graph (5 kHz interpolated between 4 kHz and 6 kHz) separately for groups probed with 500 Hz and 5 kHz sounds. (b) Tinnitus likeness ratings from 0.5 to 12 kHz for both tinnitus groups and an inset bar graph comparing 500 Hz ratings to 5 kHz ratings in each group. 500 Hz ratings are below the tinnitus spectrum which commences above a likeness rating of 40 (a sound beginning to resemble tinnitus; Roberts et al. 2008). (c) Tinnitus loudness matches from 0.5 to 12 kHz for both tinnitus groups. Inset bar graphs compare loudness matches at a common 1 kHz frequency.



FIGURE 2: Auditory task. Upper panel: three standard 40 Hz AM stimuli and one target stimulus containing a single amplitude-enhanced AM pulse (target) are illustrated by cartoons containing 8 AM pulses (40 pulses were delivered on each trial). Approximately 2/3rd of the stimuli contained a target of variable enhanced amplitude such that not all targets were detectable. Lower panel: on active blocks participants identified whether a target was present or not; on passive blocks participants ignored the sounds and waited for the next active block. Blocks contained 54 trials and alternated between active and passive blocks for a total of 20 blocks per session.

stimulus" appeared continuously on the computer screen, indicating that participants should ignore the sounds and wait until the next active block. The ITI was randomly varied between 1600 and 1900 ms (stimulus offset to onset) for passive blocks, to be comparable to active blocks. Each session began with an active block and alternated with passive blocks for a total of 20 blocks (10 active and 10 passive) with 54 trials in each (Figure 2).

It should be noted that active trials on this task not only required attention to the stimuli but also involved other cognitive functions such as processing of target events, behavioral response selection, and perhaps also anticipation of correctness feedback. Short latency responses such as the ASSR and N1 are likely to be dominated by attention since this process was necessarily deployed commencing at trial onset with other functions following after target detection. Consistent with this expectation, Gander et al. [7] found that attention modulated ASSR amplitude in a dual auditoryvisual task when all other task requirements (processing of feedback events, response selection, and correctness feedback) were held constant. We refer herein to the active/passive manipulation as one affecting attention but acknowledge that long-latency brain responses in particular may reflect overlapping cognitive functions.

Immediately prior to the session, each subject completed a staircase procedure in order to determine a set of target amplitudes suitable for the detection task. 80 stimuli were presented each containing a target, commencing with a 200% amplitude increase known to be detectable by inexperienced subjects. Target amplitude decreased after each "yes" response and increased after each "no"; target amplitude at the end of 80 trials was taken as the amplitude corresponding to the subject's threshold of detection (TH). A set of six target stimuli was then generated for each subject consisting of TH, TH \pm 5%, TH \pm 10%, and TH \pm 20% for use on the detection task. TH varied between subjects and averaged 47% over all subjects.

2.4. Electrophysiological Recording. The EEG was recorded from a 128-channel Biosemi ActiveTwo amplifier (Cortech

Solutions, Wilmington, NC) and sampled at 2048 Hz. Before recording, the electrode array positions were digitized for each participant (Polhemus Fastrak). EEG data were stored as continuous data files referenced to the vertex electrode.

5

2.5. Signal Processing. Eyeblink and other movement artifacts were removed from raw continuous data by the spatial filtering option of BESA (version 5.1.8; MEGIS Software GmbH, Grafelfing, Germany). Responses were epoched around 100 ms pre- and poststimulus baselines.

40 Hz Steady-State Response. EEG responses for ~85% of trials (rejecting trials with artifacts exceeding 100 μ V between 30 and 50 Hz) were used for analysis of the ASSR. Data were converted to the average reference and filtered 40 to 42 Hz (zero phase). For each of the 128 channels, data between 244 and 952 ms poststimulus were collapsed to a two-AM cycle average waveform for each subject (see Figure 3). Because the ASSR is reflected in most electrodes, ASSR amplitude was calculated as the total field power (TFP) determined by Fourier transform summed over 128 electrodes, following Gander et al. [20] and Roberts et al. [6].

Transient Responses. EEG responses for ~80% of trials (rejecting trials with artifacts exceeding $150 \,\mu\text{V}$ between 1 and 20 Hz) were used for analysis of transient responses. Epoched data were averaged and interpolated to the 81channel "reference free" average reference montage of BESA using each participant's digitized electrode array positions, which reduced individual differences in electrode cap placement between subjects. Data were then filtered from 0.2 to 20 Hz (zero phase). The latencies of P1 (from time window 30-85 ms), N1 (85-140 ms), P2 (140-230 ms), and N2 (250-350 ms) transient responses were identified from electrode Fz where the responses typically reached their amplitude maximum [7]. TFP for each response was calculated as the sum of each channel's squared voltage at the peak latency of electrode Fz (Figure 3). The auditory sustained response (SR) was calculated as the TFP over the time interval 400-900 ms (Figure 3). Two subjects (both in the 500 Hz tinnitus



FIGURE 3: Representative topographies and time domain waveforms for the 40 Hz auditory steady-state response (ASSR) and N1 response derived from the grand average of active trials from control subjects probed with a 500 Hz stimulus. (a) shows the ASSR during the interval 244–952 ms poststimulus, collapsed down to two 40 Hz AM cycles. An alternating dipolar waveform is observed (one for each AM cycle). ASSR amplitude was calculated as the total field power of all electrodes in the two-cycle AM waveform. (b) A dipolar N1 is seen peaking at 100 ms poststimulus. N1 amplitude was calculated as total field power at the peak of the dipolar waveform. The transient responses P1, P2, and N2 and the time range for the auditory sustained response (SR) are also labeled in the waveform. For the purpose of visualization, the trace in the right panel is high pass filtered at 2 Hz to distinguish N2 from the SR which is attenuated as shown here. In each panel the Fz electrode is shown in red.

group) were omitted from the analysis of the SR because of the electrode drift exceeding $-50\,\mu V$ past 400 ms.

6

2.6. Statistical Evaluation. Repeated measures ANOVAs were performed using the General Linear Model of Statistica (version 6.0). Least significant difference (LSD) tests were used to describe significant main effects and interactions. Group comparisons not addressed by ANOVA were evaluated by *t*-tests. Significance level was set at $\alpha = 0.05$. Further details

regarding statistical approach are reported where appropriate in Section 3.

3. Results

3.1. Behavioral Responses. Performance on the behavioral task is presented in Figure 4. The probability of a hit (P(H)) exceeded the probability of a false alarm (P(FA)) for all subjects with no differences between the tinnitus and control



FIGURE 4: Performance on the behavioral task for both tinnitus and control groups probed at 500 and 5 kHz. The probability of a hit (P(Hit)) is averaged across the six target amplitude enhancements. The probability of a false alarm (P(FA)) was determined from trials with no target.

groups or the two carrier frequencies on this measure. P(H) averaged 0.85 overall indicating that for most subjects at least one of the six target stimuli was not detectable.

3.2. Electrophysiological Responses

3.2.1. Effects of Carrier Frequency and Group on Passive Blocks. In the first analysis, ANOVAs including the variables group (tinnitus/control) and frequency (500 Hz and 5 kHz) were applied to passive blocks for each brain response to identify effects of these variables on brain activity in the absence of attended performance. ANOVA returned main effects for carrier frequency (500 Hz versus 5 kHz groups) on these blocks for the ASSR (F(1, 51) = 10.38, P = 0.002), P1 (F(1, 51) =11.87, P = 0.001), N1 (F(1, 51) = 10.17, P = 0.002), P2 (F(1,51) = 12.93, P = 0.001), and the SR (F(1,49) =5.31, P = 0.025), with similar results for N2 (F(1.51) = 2.40, P = 0.127). For each response TFP was larger in the 500 Hz groups than in the 5 kHz groups in accordance with the known dependence of the amplitude of the ASSR and transient responses on carrier frequency [21]. No main effects involving group reached significance for any response on passive blocks, although P2 tended to be larger in control subjects than in the tinnitus groups (P = 0.078) on these blocks. Interactions between carrier frequency and group did not reach significance for any response on passive blocks.

3.2.2. Effects of Attention (Active versus Passive Blocks). Effects of attention were evaluated first by comparing

response TFP on active blocks where attention to the probe stimuli was required with that on passive blocks where subjects were instructed to ignore the stimuli and rest. No main effects or interactions involving active/passive were found for Pl and P2 responses, and these responses are not discussed further. However, the main effects of attention were found for the ASSR (F(1,51) = 10.38, P = 0.002), N1 (F(1,51) = 7.51, P = 0.008), N2 (F(1,51) = 29.12, P < 0.001), and the SR (F(1,49) = 28.71, P < 0.001).

Effects of attention on these responses were examined in more detail, as follows. For each subject and response, the effect of attention was calculated (1) as the difference in TFP between active and passive blocks (passive subtracted from active) and by (2) representing the attention effect as TFP on active trials divided by TFP on passive trials (this ratio minus 1, to represent no effect of attention as zero). Distributions of these measures (n = 55 subjects) were then examined for kurtosis, which can be pronounced for the ASSR where large but repeatable individual differences are known to occur (test-retest reliability r > 0.90, [2]), likely reflecting summation of ASSR fields across two tonotopic maps sharing a common low frequency border in Heschl's gyrus. For ASSR amplitude kurtosis was lower for the ratio measure (2.94) than for the difference measure (19.4), whereas the reverse was true for N1 (5.95/2.37), N2 (13.4/10.37), and the SR (9.50/2.64). Thus for the additional analyses reported below, effects of attention were analyzed as the ratio measure for the ASSR and as the difference in TFP between active and passive blocks for N1, N2, and the SR. Effects were evaluated statistically by t-tests and by ANOVA applied to 8





FIGURE 5: ASSR and N1 attention effects. (a) Effect of attention on ASSR TFP in each group (A/P TFP-1). (b) Voltage map of the ASSR taken at the time point of maximum total field power on active and passive blocks and the voltage difference map (active-passive blocks). (c) Effect of attention on N1 TFP in each group (active-passive blocks). (d) Active, passive, and difference voltage maps for N1 at the peak latency of electrode Fz. The error bars in (a) and (c) are one standard error (*P < 0.05; $^+P = 0.052$).

these measures. In addition, the topography of TFP on active and passive blocks and the difference in TFP (active-minus passive) are shown for all responses.

ASSR. Effects of attention on the ASSR are shown in each group as TFP ratios in Figure 5(a) and as voltage difference maps in Figure 5(b). TFP ratios increased on active compared to passive blocks in the Cont500 Hz group (t(15) = 2.53,

P = 0.023), Cont5 kHz group (t(10) = 2.199, P = 0.052), and in the Tinn500 Hz group (t(16) = 2.42, P = 0.028), but the TFP ratio did not increase on active blocks in the Tinn5k group (t(10) = -0.49, P = 0.628). This pattern can also be seen in the voltage difference maps presented for the four groups in Figure 5(b) (right column) where the voltage difference was minimal in the Tinn5 kHz condition. When the four groups were collapsed into one, the TFP ratio

differed significantly from zero (t(54) = 3.54, P = 0.001)confirming the sensitivity of ASSR amplitude to attention. An ANOVA applied subsequently to TFP ratios with group and frequency as between-subjects variables found no significant effects, although the interaction of group and frequency approached significance (F(1, 51) = 2.69, P = 0.106)reflecting the pattern seen in Figure 5(a). LSD tests within this interaction found the 5 kHz and 500 Hz tinnitus groups to be different from one another (P = 0.032) whereas contrasts of the Cont500 Hz group and the Cont5khz group to the Tinn5 kHz group reached P = 0.09 in each case. Effects of attention on ASSR amplitude were unrelated to ASSR amplitude on passive blocks when correlations were calculated between the two responses for the total sample (r = 0.09, P > 0.53) or for the tinnitus and control groups separately collapsing over probe frequency (rs = 0.24 and 0.09, resp., $Ps \ge 0.21$).

N1. Effects of attention on the N1 are shown for each group in Figure 5(c) (TFP difference between active and passive blocks) and in Figure 5(d) (voltage difference maps, right column). TFP increased on active compared to passive blocks in Cont500 Hz group (t(15) = 3.35, P = 0.043) and in the Cont5 kHz group (t(10) = 9.48, P < 0.001), but this difference did not reach significance in tinnitus groups probed at either frequency (Ps > 0.17) notwithstanding a weak posterior modulation which can be seen in the voltage difference map for the Tinn500 Hz group. ANOVA applied to the difference in TFP between active and passive blocks returned the main effects of group (F(1, 51) = 13.37), P = 0.001) and a significant interaction between group and frequency (F(1, 51) = 4.12, P = 0.048). LSD tests within the interaction found that the N1 TFP difference was larger in the Cont5 kHz group than in either tinnitus condition (P < 0.04 or better) and also larger in the Cont500 Hz control group than in the Tinn5 kHz group (P < 0.004). Correlations between N1 TFP on passive blocks and the effect of attention on N1 TFP did not reach significance when the four groups were collapsed into a single sample (r = -0.23, P = 0.09) or when correlations were calculated for the tinnitus and control subjects separately collapsing over probe frequency (rs = -0.26 and -0.13, resp., $Ps \ge 0.19$).

N2. Effects of attention on N2 are shown for each group in Figure 6(a) (TFP difference measure) and as voltage difference maps in Figure 6(b) (right column). TFP increased on active compared to passive blocks in Cont500 Hz (t(15) =4.42, P < 0.001, Cont5 kHz (t(10) = 4.47, P = 0.001), and Tinn500 Hz (t(16) = 2.21, P = 0.042) groups, while the difference in Tinn5 kHz approached significance (t(10) = 1.94, P = 0.081). Comparison of the groups by ANOVA found no significant main effects or interactions involving group or frequency, although the TFP difference between active and passive blocks tended to be larger in the control groups than in the tinnitus groups at both probe frequencies (main effect of group P = 0.105). The voltage maps of Figure 6(b) show further that N2 reached its maximum negativity at central electrodes, as did the TFP difference between active and passive blocks. This contrasts with the ASSR and N1 where 9

amplitude maxima were focused frontocentrally on active trials (see Figures 5(b) and 5(d), resp.), particularly for the ASSR whose sources are localized tonotopically in the region of Heschl's gyrus.

Sustained Response. SR TFP increased on active compared to passive trials in all groups (Figure 6(c)). The results for each group were Tinn500 Hz (t(14) = 2.27, P = 0.039), Cont500 Hz (t(15) = 2.78, P = 0.0139), Tinn5 kHz (t(10) = 3.07, P = 0.012), and Cont5 kHz (t(10) = 5.46, P < 0.001). While active-passive differences in SR TFP tended to be larger in the control groups than in tinnitus, SR TFP differences for each group subjected to ANOVA revealed no main effects or interactions of group or frequency. On active blocks the SR showed a predominant negativity at central electrodes (Figure 6(d)) where the effect of attention was also predominantly expressed.

3.3. Demographics. The mean age of the subjects, their hearing thresholds at four sound frequencies, the intensity of the probe stimuli they received, and, where applicable, properties of their tinnitus are summarized for each group in Table 1. Correlations between several of these variables and (1) ASSR and N1 responses measured on passive blocks in the absence of attended performance and (2) effects of attention on ASSR and N1 TFP are reported in Table 2.

3.3.1. Age. Subjects in the 500 Hz groups of Table 1 were on average 60.0 years old and those in the 5 kHz groups were 51.3 years old, a difference that was significant (F(1, 51) = 8.33, P = 0.005). However, age range was similar among the four groups, and the tinnitus and control groups within each frequency were matched with no significant differences found in age between them. Age did not correlate significantly with ASSR and N1 responses measured on passive blocks or with effects of attention expressed in these responses when the tinnitus and control groups were collapsed at each frequency (Table 2).

3.3.2. Hearing Thresholds. The audiograms for each group and ear measured to 16 kHz are reported in Figure 1(a). All groups exhibited thresholds exceeding 25 dB HL above 3 kHz while for the Tinn500 Hz group this criterion was met at 2 kHz. Threshold shifts were similar in both ears, with the only difference being thresholds about 7 dB greater in the right ear than in the left ear in the Tinn5kHz group at the audiometric frequencies of 500 Hz and 1 kHz. To compare audiometric thresholds across all groups, 5 kHz thresholds were interpolated from 4 and 6 kHz thresholds, collapsed over left and right ears, and submitted to repeated-measures ANOVA with 500 Hz thresholds (see inset, Figure 1(a)). ANOVA returned the main effect of audiometric threshold frequency confirming higher thresholds at 5 kHz than 500 Hz in each subject group (F(1, 51) = 66.23, P < 0.001). The main effect of group (tinnitus versus control) on 500 Hz and 5 kHz audiometric thresholds was not significant. Audiometric thresholds at 500 Hz and 5 kHz did not correlate with ASSR or N1 amplitude measured on passive blocks or with effects 10





FIGURE 6: N2 and auditory SR scalp topography and attention effects. (a) Effect of attention on N2 TFP in each subject group (active-passive blocks). (b) Active, passive, and difference voltage maps for N2 at the peak latency of electrode Fz. (c) Effect of attention on SR TFP in each subject group (active-passive blocks). (d) Active, passive, and difference voltage maps for SR averaged from 400 to 900 ms. The error bars in (a) and (c) are one standard error (*P < 0.05; $^{\dagger}P = 0.08$).

of attention in these responses when the tinnitus and control groups were collapsed at each frequency (Table 2).

3.3.3. Probe Intensity. Probe intensity ranged from 47 to 93 dB SPL (M = 79.9) in the 500 Hz probe groups and from 40 to 74 dB SPL (M = 59.3) in the 5 kHz groups. Differences in probe SPL between the tinnitus and control

groups tested at each carrier frequency averaged 2.5 dB or less (Ps > 0.51), indicating that sound level matching between the groups was achieved within the 500 Hz and 5 kHz conditions. However, probe intensity collapsed over the tinnitus and control groups differed between the 500 Hz (80.0 dB SPL) and 5 kHz (59.2 dB SPL) conditions (F(1, 51) = 73.05, P < 0.001). This difference was a function of several factors including a 15.7 dB HL threshold shift at 1 kHz in the 500 Hz groups (who

TABLE 2: Relationship of ASSR and N1 responses on passive blocks and ASSR and N1 attention effects to subject and tinnitus variables. The table entries are product-moment correlations reported for the 500 Hz and 5 kHz conditions separately.

	Subject variables*				Tinnitus variables			
	Age	500 Hz threshold [†]	5 kHz threshold †	Probe SPL	Loudness match (1 kHz)	Borg CR100	THQ	Years with tinnitus
			500 Hz	condition				
ASSR TFP passive	0.16	0.30	0.06	0.55 [‡]	0.44	-0.03	0.44	-0.24
N1 TFP passive	0.10	0.24	-0.14	0.07	-0.25	-0.52 [‡]	0.04	0.14
ASSR TFP ratio	-0.30	0.27	0.12 0.05	0.32	0.14	0.14	0.14	0.13
N1 TFP diff.	-0.28	0.06		0.02	-0.08	-0.26	0.10	0.13
			5 kHz	condition				
ASSR TFP passive	0.25	0.11	-0.19	$-0.01 \\ -0.04$	0.24	0.19	-0.40	0.05
N1 TFP passive	0.18	0.32	0.14		0.52	0.19	-0.62 [‡]	0.57
ASSR TFP ratio	-0.13	0.02	-0.20 -0.18	-0.04	0.43	0.23	-0.41	0.27
N1 TFP diff.	-0.07	-0.10		-0.06	-0.46	-0.11	0.46	-0.43

*Tinnitus and control subjects combined.

[†]Left and right ears combined.

 $^{\ddagger}P < 0.05.$

would have experienced their 500 Hz probes at about 65 dB SL when matching to a 1 kHz 65 dB SL standard), a tendency for subjects to find 5 kHz 40 Hz AM sounds perceptually more salient than 500 Hz 40 Hz AM sounds, the presence of threshold shifts at 5 kHz in groups tested at this frequency, and some degree of unreported hyperacusis for a 5 kHz sound in the 5 kHz groups (which would have reduced probe SPL when matching a 65 dB SPL 2 kHz standard).

To assess whether probe intensity affected the brain responses, probe SPL was correlated with ASSR and N1 amplitude on passive blocks in the absence of attended performance and with effects of attention observed for these two responses. A correlation between probe level and ASSR amplitude was found on passive blocks in the 500 Hz group (r(31) = 0.55, P = 0.001; Table 2), indicating that louder 500 Hz probe stimuli evoked large ASSR responses in this group on passive trials. Probe intensity did not correlate significantly with ASSR responses evoked by 5 kHz probes or with N1 evoked by probes of either frequency on passive blocks. We also correlated probe intensity with effects of attention on ASSR and N1 amplitude collapsing the tinnitus and control groups within the 500 Hz and 5 kHz conditions. There was a weak tendency for stronger probe stimuli to be associated with larger effects of attention on ASSR amplitude in the 500 Hz groups (r = 0.32, P < 0.07), but no correlations between probe intensity and ASSR and N1 attention effects reached significance in the 500 Hz and 5 kHz conditions (see Table 2).

3.3.4. Tinnitus Characteristics. The tinnitus likeness matches obtained in the Tinn500 Hz and Tinn5 kHz groups are shown in Figure 1(b) where a likeness rating of 40 indicates a sound that is beginning to resemble tinnitus [12]. In each group the likeness matches given for 500 Hz sounds were well below the tinnitus spectrum and those for 5 kHz sounds well within it (effect of sound frequency F(1, 26) = 58.74, P < 0.001) with no difference observed between the likeness matches of the groups at either frequency. Tinnitus loudness

was assessed by a Borg CR100 scale (range zero to 100) and by loudness matches obtained using a 1kHz tone (after Roberts et al. 2008) and tinnitus handicap by the THQ (total score range zero to 100). Loudness matches given by Tinn5 kHz group were higher at 1 kHz (mean = 53.9 dB SPL, see Table 1) than those of Tinn500 Hz group (M =36.7 dB SPL, t(26) = 2.61, P = 0.014), although when all matching frequencies were considered the groups did not differ from one another (F(1, 26) = 1.13, P > 0.71,Figure 1(c)). Loudness ratings on the BorgCR100 scale were nonsignificantly higher in the Tinn5 kHz group (P = 0.16) while THQ scores were significantly worse in this group compared to the Tinn500 Hz group (t(26) = 2.14, P = 0.042). To assess whether these results suggesting a stronger tinnitus in the Tinn5 kHz group may have influenced the attention effects, pairwise correlations were calculated between tinnitus loudness matches at 1 kHz, BorgCR100 ratings, and the THQ, on one hand, and ASSR and N1 attention effects, on the other hand. The resulting correlations were directionally inconsistent and did not reach significance either in the Tinn500HZ and Tinn5kHz groups considered separately (see Table 2) or when the two groups were combined into one sample. When passive trials only were considered, N1 TFP correlated negatively with the BorgCR100 loudness in the Tinn500 Hz group and with the THQ score in the Tinn5 kHz group reflecting lower TFP for a more disturbing tinnitus (Table 2). When the tinnitus groups were collapsed together, correlations involving tinnitus loudness measures and brain responses on passive trials were near zero and not significant. The duration of tinnitus was similar in the Tinn500 Hz and Tinn5 kHz groups (M = 12.5 and 11.7 years, resp., Table 1) and did not correlate significantly with the two brain responses in either group (Table 2) or when the two groups were combined.

4. Discussion

We previously reported that the amplitude of the ASSR (localizing to cortical sources in A1) and the N1 transient

12

response (localizing to cortical sources in A2) was not modulated by top-down attention in tinnitus sufferers when the probe frequency was 5 kHz, a frequency known to be in the region in which tinnitus sufferers experience their tinnitus [6]. Conversely, age and hearing-threshold matched controls successfully modulated the amplitude of both responses [6] in accordance with prior evidence showing the responses to be sensitive to attention in normal hearing subjects [7, 8, 20]. It was suggested that tinnitus-related neural activity in central auditory pathways may have prevented modulation of the two responses by attention in the tinnitus sufferers. In the current experiment we tested this possibility by determining whether attention modulates these brain responses normally when evoked by a 500 Hz sound in tinnitus sufferers, which is a sound well below the TFR where tinnitus-related neural activity is believed to occur. The procedure used to assess modulation by attention was the same for the two groups, and the 500 Hz and 5 kHz datasets were combined into a single analysis which also included the long-latency auditory evoked potentials N2 and SR. We found that top-down attention modulated ASSR amplitude normally in tinnitus and control subjects probed with 500 Hz sounds and for control subjects probed with a 5 kHz sound, but not for tinnitus subjects probed with a 5 kHz sound. N1 amplitude was modulated by attention for control groups tested at each probe frequency, but modulation of N1 amplitude by attention failed for tinnitus groups tested at both frequencies. The amplitude of N2 and SR responses was modulated by attention in all groups. We discuss how attention may work in tinnitus sufferers compared to normal hearing individuals and consider how differences between these groups may be expressed in ASSR and N1 amplitude in the absence of attended performance.

4.1. Auditory Attention in Normal Hearing and in Tinnitus. Several lines of evidence have suggested that mechanisms that support auditory attention are persistently aroused in tinnitus [2]. One approach has been to compare the performance of subjects with chronic tinnitus with that of control subjects matched for age and verbal intelligence on cognitive tasks that require divided attention and access to memory. The rationale has been that obligatory attention to the tinnitus percept may deplete the cognitive resources needed to perform such tasks. Following this approach it has been shown that, while subjects with tinnitus perform as well as controls on tasks such as simple word naming, they do not perform as well on more complex tasks requiring retention of words in working memory over a series of sentences [22] or on Stroop tasks that divide attention between word naming and color naming [23]. The performance deficits observed in the tinnitus groups in these studies remained intact when measures of anxiety, depression, and hearing level were regressed out by covariate analyses. A more direct approach was followed by Cuny et al. [24]. In an initial demonstration based on research by Schröger [25], Cuny et al. presented normal hearing subjects with S1 stimuli in one ear that were to be ignored while they categorized S2 stimuli presented to the other (attended) ear. Performance on the S2 task was disrupted

by infrequent deviant SI stimuli, which appeared to draw attention away from the S2 task presented to the other ear. Cuny et al. subsequently found that when this task was presented to subjects with unilateral tinnitus, the interfering effect of deviant SI stimuli was diminished when the S2 task was presented to the tinnitus ear compared to the reverse arrangement. It was suggested that persistent topdown auditory attention was directed to the tinnitus ear, such that deviant SI stimuli presented to the nontinnitus ear could not draw attention away from it [24]. These results are in agreement with functional imaging studies of tinnitus [26, 27] which have reported increased activity in A1 and in auditory association areas that are modulated by attention when normal hearing subjects perform auditory detection tasks [2].

The presence of tinnitus did not impair behavioral performance during auditory discrimination under the conditions of our test, likely because there was no competing task requirement and most of the targets presented on the discrimination task were easy to detect. However, while ASSR and N1 responses known to be attention sensitive were modulated normally by attention in our control groups, modulation of these responses by attention was modified in tinnitus subjects. The pattern of impairment we observed could reflect differences in the functional organization of A1 and A2 and aberrant neural activity occurring in these regions in tinnitus sufferers. Unlike ASSR sources in A1 that show a frequency (tonotopic) organization in the region of Heschl's gyrus, N1 sources localize to lateral aspects of the superior temporal gyrus [18], are weakly or not tonotopic [28], and appear to reflect contributions arising from several cortical areas that comprise A2. A2 regions exhibit a heterogeneous cytoarchitectonic structure [29, 30] in which layer II/III pyramidal neurons receive inputs from diverse regions of the brain and in turn form intrinsic contacts that are more distal than in A1 where links are made in more localized modules [31]. Frequency representations which are prominent in A1 are virtually absent in A2, which appears to be specialized for processing of multidimensional auditory objects and for conveying perceptual information to higher cortical structures [30, 32, 33]. Hence it is possible that neural changes related to tinnitus (such as reduced intracortical inhibition [34], increased spontaneous activity [34, 35], and increased synchronous firing [34]) occurring in tonotopic regions of A1 may have diffusely activated A2, impairing modulation of N1 responses at both probe frequencies in tinnitus subjects. However, because A1 regions coding 500 Hz sounds are below the frequency region of A1 where tinnitusrelated activity is presumed to occur, attentional modulation of the ASSR was expressed normally when tinnitus subjects were probed with this sound frequency. This interpretation is consistent with evidence from animal [1, 36] and human [37] studies which suggests that aberrant neural activity occurring in frequency regions of A1 affected by hearing impairment contributes to tinnitus percepts. It can also be aligned with previous results [38] showing that the mismatch negativity (a brain response initiated in A1 by bottom-up auditory attention, [39]) was increased in individuals with tinnitus when evoked by unexpected frequency deviants adjacent to

Neural Plasticity

the audiometric edge but not one octave below it. Overall it appears that persistent tinnitus-related activity occurring in the frequency region of A1 affected by hearing loss may impair modulation of the ASSR by top-down attention in this frequency region in tinnitus, but bottom-up disparities may still evoke larger responses near the lesion edge where cortical reorganization may be present [36].

Notwithstanding prior evidence for persistent auditory attention in tinnitus [24], this interpretation suggests that mechanisms of top-down auditory attention functioned normally in tinnitus sufferers under the conditions of our test, but their expression was modified by the presence of tinnitus-related neural activity occurring in central auditory pathways. Other findings of the study can be aligned with this interpretation. Subjects in the Tinn5 kHz and Cont5 kHz groups received an additional six sessions of training on the auditory detection task in the earlier study of Roberts et al. [6]. ASSR amplitude increased over training sessions in the tinnitus subjects but not in their matched controls [6] nor in previous studies using subjects with normal hearing [11, 20], possibly reflecting reduced lateral inhibition in the tinnitus subjects [1]. As training progressed, ASSR amplitude began to modulate on active blocks compared to the passive baseline in tinnitus subjects revealing an effect of attention on this response, although this modulation subsequently declined and was weak compared to that seen in controls (N1 did not modulate with attention during any session of training in the tinnitus subjects). New analyses reported in the present paper have gone further to show that the long-latency responses N2 and SR (which reach their negative maxima at central electrodes) were modulated between active and passive trials in our tinnitus groups as well as by control subjects. It is possible that these responses reflect communication between auditory regions and global networks in frontoparietal cortex that are involved in memory processing and response preparation [40]; moreover, the performance deficits cited above in tinnitus [22, 23] may derive in part from competition for resources in these pathways. In this respect we note that, while N2 and SR responses were modulated by attention in our tinnitus subjects, there was a tendency toward stronger effects in the control groups at both probe frequencies.

4.2. Group Differences in the Absence of Attention. Neuromodulatory systems in the basal forebrain and midbrain tegmentum are widely believed to be activated by tasks requiring attention and serve to make neurons more sensitive to their afferent input [2]. On this basis, evidence for persistent auditory attention in tinnitus could be expected to modulate the amplitude of brain responses evoked by auditory stimuli under passive conditions where tinnitus sufferers would experience tinnitus but control subjects would not. In a previous study using 40 Hz AM stimuli similar to those used here but different groups of subjects [2], we found that ASSR amplitude was larger in a tinnitus group than in controls when the carrier frequency of the probe was 500 Hz (P = 0.004), but this difference was reversed in groups for whom the carrier frequency was 5 kHz (P = 0.045). Reduced ASSR amplitude at 5 kHz was attributed to

tinnitus-related synchronous activity occurring in the TFR of the tinnitus subjects (a busy line effect). Additionally, N1 amplitude was larger in the tinnitus groups compared to controls at both probe frequencies (P = 0.023). These results were obtained during a continuous 20-minute baseline condition in which individuals in the tinnitus groups would have heard their tinnitus. To compare these findings with the current dataset, we performed paired t-tests contrasting the tinnitus and control groups on passive blocks for the ASSR measured as TFP and N1 amplitude measured at electrode Fz (as in the previous work). ASSR TFP tended to be smaller in tinnitus than control subjects at 5 kHz (P = 0.26) and N1 larger (P = 0.18) at this frequency in qualitative agreement with previous results, but no group differences in ASSR or N1 amplitude reached significance in the present dataset. Overall, current evidence suggests that ASSR amplitude is larger in tinnitus subjects than in controls, at least for sounds below the TFR [2, 37]. Results regarding N1 are less consistent [2] and may reflect differences among studies with regard to the conditions of testing, stimulus procedure, and other variables that have yet to be identified.

4.3. Limitations and Future Directions. Within each probe frequency, our tinnitus and control groups were well matched for tinnitus characteristics, age, hearing status, and stimulus levels. Group differences in the effects of attention on brain responses at each probe frequency could not be attributed to these variables which did not differ between tinnitus and control subjects. However, while our 5 kHz and 500 Hz groups were well matched for hearing function, age range, and years of tinnitus, subjects in the 500 Hz groups tended on average to be 10 years older and their THQ scores lower than subjects in the 5 kHz groups. The intensity of the probe stimuli also differed between the 500 Hz and 5 kz conditions, in part because of the presence of threshold shifts at 5 kHz in the Tinn5 kHz and Cont5 kHz groups. To assess whether differences in these variables may have influenced our results, we correlated each variable with the effects of attention on ASSR and N1 responses at each probe frequency, collapsing tinnitus and control subjects within each frequency to increase the likelihood of uncovering alternative explanations for the findings. None of the variables correlated significantly with the effects of attention on ASSR and N1 responses, at either probe frequency. Within the limits of this analysis we conclude that differences between tinnitus and control groups in the effect of attention on ASSR and N1 amplitude reflected the presence of tinnitus in the tinnitus subjects and not the other attributes or the conditions of testing. Although interactions among different stimuli could be a limiting factor, looking forward it could be informative to modify our stimulus procedure to allow examining effects of tinnitus on attention-sensitive responses when both probe frequencies are tested within the same subjects.

A further possible limitation to consider is the extent to which a given brain response reflects the operation of an attention mechanism rather than brain processes concerned with other cognitive or behavioral functions. Active trials in our procedure required not only the deployment of attention

but also the processing of target events using memory, the preparation of behavioral responses depending on target occurrence or nonoccurrence, and likely the anticipation of correctness feedback depending on outcome. As we have noted, auditory attention is known to increase ASSR amplitude when these additional factors are held constant [7], confirming the sensitivity of this response specifically to attention. Although the transient N1 response is widely believed to be sensitive to attention, as far as we are aware similar detailed analyses precluding contributions from other task features are surprisingly lacking this response. In the absence of such studies it is reasonable to assume that brain responses with short latencies are likely to reflect attention, assuming that on any attention task this process is deployed at trial onset.

Many individuals with tinnitus also experience some degree of hyperacusis expressed either by verbal reports of sensitivity to environmental sounds [41] or by loudness growth functions that are steeper than those observed in individuals with similar audiometric profiles [42]. Because we did not have a basis in the present study to distinguish between these two conditions, failure of attentional modulation could relate in principle either to the presence of tinnitus or hyperacusis or to both. It is not easy to disentangle these correlated factors in tinnitus research. However, the current findings are not easily explained in terms of altered perceptual responses to the probe stimuli in the tinnitus groups. ASSR and N1 responses might have been expected to reflect such differences under passive conditions, but the differences we observed between tinnitus and control groups were small and did not reach significance. Our practice of requiring subjects to adjust probe sound intensity to comfortable-level standard sounds presented in the frequency range of normal hearing may have attenuated effects attributable to hyperacusis in our tinnitus samples. It is also relevant that effects of attention on ASSR and N1 responses did not correlate with physical sound intensity within tinnitus and control subjects tested at 500 Hz or 5 kHz. Had perceptual responses to the probe stimuli affected attentional modulations, such correlations might have been expected but did not occur.

5. Conclusion

14

Previous studies have provided behavioral evidence of impaired performance on tasks involving control of attention in individuals with tinnitus compared to individuals without tinnitus. Our study extended the analysis to compare, between age and hearing-level matched tinnitus and control groups, the effect of attention on brain responses known to be sensitive to attention in normal hearing subjects. We focused in particular on the 40 Hz ASSR which localizes to sources in tonotopically organized primary auditory cortex (A1) and the NI transient response which localizes to sources in nontonotopic secondary auditory cortex (A2). We found that, unlike in controls where all responses were modulated by attention, the presence of tinnitus impaired attentional modulation of the ASSR evoked by a 5 kHz but not a 500 Hz sound and the NI evoked at both sound frequencies. We suggest that impairments of auditory attention are expressed preferentially in the 5 kHz region of tonotopically organized Al where tinnitus-related neural activity is typically expected to occur and more diffusely in nontonotopic A2 where neuron response properties are more broadly tuned for spectrotemporal and multisensory integration.

Abbreviations

Primary	auditory	cortex
	Primary	Primary auditory

- A2: Secondary (nonprimary) auditory cortex
- AM: Amplitude modulated
- ANOVA: Analysis of variance
- ASSR: Auditory steady-state response
- DCN: Dorsal cochlear nucleus
- EEG: Electroencephalogram
- ITI: Intertrial interval
- SPL: Sound pressure level
- SL: Sensation level
- SR: Auditory sustained response
- TH: Threshold
- THQ: Tinnitus Handicap Questionnaire
- TFP: Total field power
- TFR: Tinnitus frequency region.

Conflict of Interests

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interests.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by funding from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada and the Tinnitus Research Initiative.

References

- A. J. Noreña and B. J. Farley, "Tinnitus-related neural activity: theories of generation, propagation, and centralization," *Hearing Research*, vol. 295, pp. 161–171, 2013.
- [2] L. E. Roberts, F. T. Husain, and J. J. Eggermont, "Role of attention in the generation and modulation of tinnitus," *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, vol. 37, no. 8, pp. 1754–1773, 2013.
- [3] C. Zeng, N. Nannapaneni, J. Zhou, L. F. Hughes, and S. Shore, "Cochlear damage changes the distribution of vesicular glutamate transporters associated with auditory and nonauditory inputs to the cochlear nucleus," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 29, no. 13, pp. 4210–4217, 2009.
- [4] S. D. Koehler and S. E. Shore, "Stimulus-timing dependent multisensory plasticity in the Guinea pig dorsal cochlear nucleus," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 8, no. 3, article e59828, 2013.
- [5] G. J. Basura, S. D. Koehler, and S. E. Shore, "Multi-sensory integration in brainstem and auditory cortex," *Brain Research*, vol. 1485, pp. 95–107, 2012.
- [6] L. E. Roberts, D. J. Bosnyak, and D. C. Thompson, "Neural plasticity expressed in central auditory structures with and without tinnitus," *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, no. 2012, article 40, 2012.
- [7] P. E. Gander, D. J. Bosnyak, and L. E. Roberts, "Evidence for modality-specific but not frequency-specific modulation of

human primary auditory cortex by attention," *Hearing Research*, vol. 268, no. 1-2, pp. 213–226, 2010.

- [8] B. Ross, T. W. Picton, A. T. Herdman, S. A. Hillyard, and C. Pantev, "The effect of attention on the auditory steady-state response," *Neurology and Clinical Neurophysiology*, vol. 22, pp. 1–4, 2004.
- [9] A. Bidet-Caulet, C. Fischer, J. Besle, P.-E. Aguera, M.-H. Giard, and O. Bertrand, "Effects of selective attention on the electrophysiological representation of concurrent sounds in the human auditory cortex," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 27, no. 35, pp. 9252–9261, 2007.
- [10] J. F. Brugge, K. V. Nourski, H. Oya et al., "Coding of repetitive transients by auditory cortex on Heschl's gyrus," *Journal of Neurophysiology*, vol. 102, no. 4, pp. 2358–2374, 2009.
- [11] D. J. Bosnyak, R. A. Eaton, and L. E. Roberts, "Distributed auditory cortical representations are modified when non-musicians are trained at pitch discrimination with 40 Hz amplitude modulated tones," *Cerebral Cortex*, vol. 14, no. 10, pp. 1088–1099, 2004.
- [12] L. E. Roberts, G. Moffat, M. Baumann, L. M. Ward, and D. J. Bosnyak, "Residual inhibition functions overlap tinnitus spectra and the region of auditory threshold shift," *JARO -Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 417–435, 2008.
- [13] J. B. Fritz, M. Elhilali, S. V. David, and S. A. Shamma, "Auditory attention—focusing the searchlight on sound," *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 437–455, 2007.
- [14] D. Ramanathan, M. H. Tuszynski, and J. M. Conner, "The basal forebrain cholinergic system is required specifically for behaviorally mediated cortical map plasticity," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 29, no. 18, pp. 5992–6000, 2009.
- [15] M. Sarter, V. Parikh, and W. M. Howe, "Phasic acetylcholine release and the volume transmission hypothesis: time to move on," *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 383–390, 2009.
- [16] N. M. Weinberger, "Auditory associative memory and representational plasticity in the primary auditory cortex," *Hearing Research*, vol. 229, no. 1-2, pp. 54–68, 2007.
- [17] T. Tzounopoulos, Y. Kim, D. Oertel, and L. O. Trussell, "Cell-specific, spike timing-dependent plasticities in the dorsal cochlear nucleus," *Nature Neuroscience*, vol. 7, no. 7, pp. 719–725, 2004.
- [18] B. Godey, D. Schwartz, J. B. De Graaf, P. Chauvel, and C. Liégeois-Chauvel, "Neuromagnetic source localization of auditory evoked fields and intracerebral evoked potentials: a comparison of data in the same patients," *Clinical Neurophysiology*, vol. 112, no. 10, pp. 1850–1859, 2001.
- [19] F. K. Kuk, R. S. Tyler, D. Russell, and H. Jordan, "The psychometric properties of a tinnitus handicap questionnaire," *Ear and Hearing*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 434–445, 1990.
- [20] P. E. Gander, D. J. Bosnyak, and L. E. Roberts, "Acoustic experience but not attention modifies neural population phase expressed in human primary auditory cortex," *Hearing Research*, vol. 269, no. 1-2, pp. 81–94, 2010.
- [21] B. Roß, C. Borgmann, R. Draganova, L. E. Roberts, and C. Pantev, "A high-precision magnetoencephalographic study of human auditory steady-state responses to amplitudemodulated tones," *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, vol. 108, no. 2, pp. 679–691, 2000.
- [22] S. Rossiter, C. Stevens, and G. Walker, "Tinnitus and its effect on working memory and attention," *Journal of Speech, Language,* and Hearing Research, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 150–160, 2006.

- [23] C. Stevens, G. Walker, M. Boyer, and M. Gallagher, "Severe tinnitus and its effect on selective and divided attention," *International Journal of Audiology*, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 208–216, 2007.
- [24] C. Cuny, A. Norena, F. El Massioui, and S. Chéry-Croze, "Reduced attention shift in response to auditory changes in subjects with tinnitus," *Audiology and Neuro-Otology*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 294–302, 2004.
- [25] E. Schröger, "A neural mechanism for involuntary attention shifts to changes in auditory stimulation," *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, vol. 8, pp. 527–539, 1996.
- [26] C. P. Lanting, E. de Kleine, and P. van Dijk, "Neural activity underlying tinnitus generation: results from PET and fMRI," *Hearing Research*, vol. 255, no. 1-2, pp. 1–13, 2009.
- [27] P. Adjamian, M. Sereda, and D. A. Hall, "The mechanisms of tinnitus: perspectives from human functional neuroimaging," *Hearing Research*, vol. 253, no. 1-2, pp. 15–31, 2009.
- [28] B. Lütkenhöner, K. Krumbholz, and A. Seither-Preisler, "Studies of tonotopy based on wave N100 of the auditory evoked field are problematic," *NeuroImage*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 935–949, 2003.
- [29] C. E. Schreiner and M. S. Cynader, "Basic functional organization of second auditory cortical field (AII) of the cat," *Journal of Neurophysiology*, vol. 51, no. 6, pp. 1284–1305, 1984.
- [30] D. R. M. Langers, W. H. Backes, and P. van Dijk, "Representation of lateralization and tonotopy in primary versus secondary human auditory cortex," *NeuroImage*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 264–273, 2007.
- [31] E. Tardif and S. Clarke, "Intrinsic connectivity of human auditory areas: a tracing study with Dil," *European Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 1045–1050, 2001.
- [32] C. E. Schreiner and J. A. Winer, "Auditory cortex mapmaking: principles, projections, and plasticity," *Neuron*, vol. 56, no. 2, pp. 356–365, 2007.
- [33] B. Tian and J. P. Rauschecker, "Processing of frequencymodulated sounds in the lateral auditory belt cortex of the rhesus monkey," *Journal of Neurophysiology*, vol. 92, no. 5, pp. 2993–3013, 2004.
- [34] S. Seki and J. J. Eggermont, "Changes in spontaneous firing rate and neural synchrony in cat primary auditory cortex after localized tone-induced hearing loss," *Hearing Research*, vol. 180, no. 1-2, pp. 28–38, 2003.
- [35] A. J. Noreña and J. J. Eggermont, "Changes in spontaneous neural activity immediately after an acoustic trauma: implications for neural correlates of tinnitus," *Hearing Research*, vol. 183, no. 1-2, pp. 137–153, 2003.
- [36] J. J. Eggermont and L. E. Roberts, "The neuroscience of tinnitus," *Trends in Neurosciences*, vol. 27, no. 11, pp. 676–682, 2004.
- [37] C. Wienbruch, I. Paul, N. Weisz, T. Elbert, and L. E. Roberts, "Frequency organization of the 40-Hz auditory steady-state response in normal hearing and in tinnitus," *NeuroImage*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 180–194, 2006.
- [38] N. Weisz, S. Voss, P. Berg, and T. Elbert, "Abnormal auditory mismatch response in tinnitus sufferers with high-frequency hearing loss is associated with subjective distress level," *BMC Neuroscience*, vol. 5, article 8, 2004.
- [39] M. Schönwiesner, N. Novitski, S. Pakarinen, S. Carlson, M. Tervaniemi, and R. Näätänen, "Heschl's gyrus, posterior superior temporal gyrus, and mid-ventrolateral prefrontal cortex have different roles in the detection of acoustic changes," *Journal of Neurophysiology*, vol. 97, no. 3, pp. 2075–2082, 2007.

- [40] S. Dehaene and J.-P. Changeux, "Experimental and theoretical approaches to conscious processing," *Neuron*, vol. 70, no. 2, pp. 200–227, 2011.
- [41] R. Dauman and F. Bouscau-Faure, "Assessment and amelioration of hyperacusis in tinnitus patients," Acta Oto-Laryngologica, vol. 125, no. 5, pp. 503–509, 2005.
- [42] S. Hébert, P. Fournier, and A. Noreña, "Auditory sensitivity is increased in tinnitus ears," *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 33, no. 6, pp. 2356–2364, 2013.

Chapter 4: Top-down attention modifies a spectral estimate of phase shifts during resets of the auditory steady state response.

Paul, B. T., Bruce, I. C., Roberts, L. E. (Submitted). Top-down attention modifies a spectral estimate of phase shifts during resets of the auditory steady state response.

4.1 Preface

Findings in Chapter 3 suggested that top-down attention operates normally for tinnitus sufferers, but tinnitus-related activity in the TFR may have prevented the expression of attention in A1 and broadly in A2. The wider implication of this interpretation is that A1 neurons in the TFR are perhaps resistant to their inputs because they are constantly engaged in the synchronous hyperactivity that is associated with the presence of tinnitus. For this claim to be supported and the role of attention to be clarified within the deafferentation model, a direct test of the insensitivity of neurons in the TFR of A1 to input—such as from the bottomup—needs to be conducted.

As discussed in Section 1.5.3, one procedure that would permit a view into how A1 neurons respond to bottom-up input is by evoking the ASSR reset response, which occurs when the ASSR is interrupted by a silent gap or noise burst and recovers over a 200 ms interval (Ross et al., 2005; Ross & Pantev, 2004). This response likely represents how cortical neural networks rebuild the representation of the AM envelope after it has been disrupted (Ross et al., 2012). One quality of the ASSR reset phenomenon that is not known is whether the response dynamics are sensitive to top-down attention, which might be observable when comparing conditions of active and passive listening. It is important to understand this effect in control subjects before bringing it into use with tinnitus subjects, so that hypotheses can be formed regarding how tinnitus-related changes in A1 might affect normal modulation of the reset response. For that reason, subjects in Chapter 4 do not have tinnitus.

Accordingly, the experiment in Chapter 4 tested the hypothesis that ASSR resets evoked by silent gaps are sensitive to top-down attention. As will be seen, one challenge we faced was that noise in the electrophysiological measurement did not permit a valid analysis of phase for individual subjects, which is an important dynamic in the reset phenomenon. However we dealt with that issue by calculating changes in spectral centroid, a novel frequency spectrum analysis of EEG determining the frequency where most power is concentrated in the ASSR signal, in order to infer phase shifts. The centroid effects we observed were consistent with expected changes in phase found previously for ASSR resets (Ross et al., 2012).

References

- Ross, B., Herdman, A. T., & Pantev, C. (2005). Stimulus induced desynchronization of human auditory 40-Hz steady-state responses. Journal of Neurophysiology, 94, 4082–4093
- Ross, B. & Pantev, C. (2004). Auditory steady-state responses reveal amplitude modulation gap detection thresholds. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 115, 2193.
- Ross, B., Miyazaki, T., & Fujioka, T. (2012). Interference in dichotic listening: The effect of contralateral noise on oscillatory brain networks. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 35, 106–118.

4.2 Abstract

We tested the hypothesis that top-down auditory attention modulates rapid interruptions (resets) of the 41-Hz auditory steady state response (ASSR), an evoked potential localizing to tonotopic primary auditory cortex (A1). While recording the electroencephalogram (EEG), 15 subjects heard 41 Hz amplitude modulated (AM) tone bursts containing brief silent gaps of short (~ 12 ms) or long (61 ms) duration that were known to evoke ASSR resets. In one condition participants indicated whether the sound had contained one or two long gaps (attention condition), while in another condition subjects did not respond and ignored sounds (passive condition). Each subject completed the procedure twice, once for a 400 Hz and once for a 5 kHz carrier frequency. To compare attended and passive conditions, we measured ASSR power and the spectral centroid, a novel frequency spectrum analysis of the steady-state EEG that reflects the frequency where most power is concentrated in the signal. The centroid analysis is used here to infer changes in ASSR phase. Before gap interruptions, ASSR power for both carrier frequencies was larger and centroids were closer to the 41 Hz AM rate during attended compared to passive conditions, consistent with known attention effects on the stable ASSR. After the gap, the centroid decreased from baseline toward a lower frequency (analogous to a phase lengthening) under active conditions, while centroid shifts under passive conditions trended upward but were less appreciable. ASSR power did not differ between attended and passive conditions during the reset period. These results suggest that attention is expressed on the phase but not amplitude of the ASSR reset response.

4.3 Introduction

In complex environments, listeners require auditory attention to track acoustic signals that may contain information about desired behavioral goals. One brain response known to be sensitive to attention is the 40-Hz auditory steady state response (ASSR), a scalp-recorded oscillatory potential that reaches its maximum amplitude when a carrier frequency is amplitude modulated (AM) at rates near 40 Hz. The cortical sources of ASSRs evoked by different carrier frequencies exhibit a coarse low-frequency-anterolateral to high-frequency-posteriomedial spatial organization in the region of A1when measured intracortically (Bidet-Caulet et al. 2007; Godey et al. 2001) or determined by electromagnetic source imaging (Gander et al., 2010a, Pantev et al., 1996; Wienbruch et al., 2006). This organization may reflect the summation of evoked fields across two tonotopic maps that have been found to share a low frequency border situated anterolaterally in the region of Heschl's gyrus (Kaas & Hackett, 2000; Langers et al., 2007).

Studies have shown that the amplitude of the ASSR increases when subjects are required to attend to targets in the AM signal in an active condition, compared to conditions in which subjects ignore the targets and do not respond (Gander et al., 2010b; Paul et al., 2014; Ross et al., 2004). An interpretation of these findings suggests that top-down attention enhances neural responsivity in the auditory cortex, such that a larger population of neurons tuned to the carrier frequency of the AM sound responded on active blocks. The mechanism of

attention-related effects is not presently known, but could reflect activation of neuromodulatory systems (such as cholinergic projections from the basal forebrain) that are known to increase the sensitivity of auditory neurons to their afferent input under conditions of attention (Sarter et al., 2005, 2009; Zhang et al., 2016).

The ASSR can be briefly disrupted by inserting a gap in the AM stimulus, creating a response known as the ASSR reset. Immediately following a gap, the ASSR rapidly uncouples its phase from the AM rhythm and loses amplitude. After the gap ends and the tone resumes, the ASSR synchronizes to the reinstated AM rhythm and recovers its phase and amplitude over ~200 ms (Makeig & Galambos, 1989; Ross & Pantev, 2004). ASSR reset responses are believed to reflect how auditory cortical networks rebuild sensory representations after a change occurs within the stimulus (Ross et al., 2012). By studying the phase and amplitude recovery dynamics of the ASSR within the 200 ms integration time window, studies have inferred limits of temporal integration (Ross & Pantev, 2004), mechanisms of sound localization (Ross, 2008), and effects of noise on detecting stimulus change (Ross et al., 2012; Ross & Fujioka, 2016) in A1. Despite these findings, the effects of top-down attention on the ASSR reset response have not been directly investigated.

In the present study we examined how the amplitude and phase of the ASSR are modified by top-down attention, and how these attributes of the responses are affected by gaps of unpredictable duration inserted into the ASSR

stimulus. In one condition we required subjects to actively listen and respond to gaps in AM stimuli and in another condition had subjects passively listen and not respond. ASSR resets evoked in two carrier frequencies (400 Hz and 5 kHz) were tested in separate conditions to determine if attention-related effects were frequency specific. We found that before gap-evoked resets when the ASSR was stable, ASSR power at both frequencies was larger under the active listening condition, consistent with known effects of top-down attention on ASSR amplitude. However after gap-evoked resets when ASSRs were recovering, attention deployed under the conditions of our test modified a spectral measure of phase dynamics that was not explained by changes in power, and power during the reset interval was not different between attended and passive listening conditions. Results are discussed in terms of known task-related changes observed in A1 and attention-related neuromodulatory systems that assist with stimulus representations in auditory cortex.

4.4 Methods

4.4.1 Participants

Fifteen participants (3 male, 1 left handed) aged between 18–30 years (M = 20.21, SD = 3.04) from the McMaster University undergraduate psychology subject pool enrolled in the study. We obtained audiometric thresholds in all participants up to 8 kHz using the pulsed-tone method on a GSI 61 audiometer (Telephonics TD-39 296 D200 supra-aural headphones). Of the 15 subjects, 11 had thresholds \leq 25 dB HL to 8 kHz. Of the four remaining subjects, two had

thresholds of 40 dB HL at 6 and 8 kHz, one had a threshold of 30 dB HL at 3 kHz, and a final subject had a 30 dB HL threshold at 500 to 750 Hz. At all other frequencies tested in these individuals, thresholds were < 25 dB HL. Because we used a procedure that equated stimulus loudness across probe frequencies and individuals (see below) we did not exclude these four subjects from the total sample. No subjects reported a history of head trauma or hearing problems nor reported the use of medication during the time of the study. All procedures complied with the Declaration of Helsinki and were approved by the Research Ethics board at McMaster University. Subjects provided informed consent and received course credit for participation.

4.4.2 Stimuli and Materials

During all procedures participants sat in a chair distanced 1.4m from a computer monitor in a sound attenuated (ambient noise level 16 dBA SPL) and electricallyshielded booth. Etymotic Research ER-2 transducers were inserted in each ear. Sounds were generated by a Tucker-Davis RP2.1 digital signal real-time processor.

All stimuli were 40.96 Hz (herein referred to as 41 Hz) AM tone bursts (100% AM depth) lasting 2329.25 ms in duration, with carrier frequencies of either 400 Hz or 5 kHz (Figure 4.1a). During the course of the experiment participants received stimulation to the left ear only, since the ASSR is evoked in the hemisphere contralateral to the stimulated ear and has been shown to be larger in the right hemisphere (Ross et al., 2005b). Before the experiment began each

participant matched the loudness of the 400 Hz and 5 kHz probes to a 1 kHz pure tone presented at 65 dB SL. This procedure was designed to equate the perceived loudness of each stimulus to a common reference frequency (1 kHz) where hearing thresholds were \leq 15 dB HL for all subjects. Mean stimulus sound pressure levels (SPLs) established by this procedure were 74.2 dB SPL (SD = 9.91) for the 400 Hz carrier and 74.1 dB SPL (SD = 8.33) for the 5 kHz carrier.

Each tone burst contained three silent gaps known to evoke ASSR resets (Ross and Pantev, 2004). Gap durations were either 12.2 ms (short) or 61 ms (long), whose onset and offset occurred at the zero crossings of the amplitude modulation cycle such that the AM rate following each gap was shifted by 180 degrees in phase from the pre-gap rate. We chose these gap lengths because durations that are integer ratios of the AM period (e.g., 24.4 or 48.8 ms) may produce weaker ASSR resets, since their onset and offset occur at the stimulation rate (Ross and Pantev, 2004). It should be noted that these gap lengths are above the normal threshold for gap detection in the ASSR which is typically around three ms (Ross & Pantev, 2004). For the purposes of our classification task described below, we chose gap durations higher than the threshold so that each gap instance had a high likelihood of being perceptually detected. Gaps commenced every 550 or 575 ms (randomly chosen) following either the probe onset or the preceding gap. Intervals greater than 500 ms permit an adequate amount of time for the ASSR to re-establish after desynchronization (Ross & Pantev, 2004). Tone bursts contained either one long gap with two short gaps, or

two long gaps with one short gap. The type of gap (long or short) and location of gap within the tone burst were unpredictable and randomized for each tone burst presentation.



Figure 4.1. Stimulus and task design. a) A pure tone of either 400 Hz or 5 kHz carrier frequency was AM by 41 Hz, lasting nearly 2400 ms in duration and presented to the left ear only. After loudness matching procedures, stimuli were near 74 dB SPL. Three gaps were randomly interspersed in the tone with at least 500 ms between onset and offset of the probe. Gaps were either short or long, and trials always contained either one or two longer gaps. b) Subjects completed blocks of 50 trials in which they were to passively listen to the sounds, or respond to the number of long gaps present in the signal. A short break unfolded between each block. For each carrier frequency, there were 6 trial blocks that alternated in active and passive conditions.

4.4.3 Procedure

Trials were grouped into active and passive blocks consisting of 50 trials each (Figure 4.1b). During active blocks subjects performed a classification task in which they listened to stimuli and indicated after trial offset whether they heard one or two long gaps in the stimulus. For each active trial, the text "Listen" appeared on the computer screen before and during tone burst presentation. After sound offset participants were prompted by text on the computer screen to classify each stimulus by clicking the left computer mouse button if they heard one long gap or the right mouse button if they heard two long gaps. If participants responded correctly, a green box highlighting the word "Hit" appeared on the screen; if participants responded incorrectly, a red box with the word "Miss" appeared. A variable interval between 1400 and 1600 ms followed the feedback cue. The inter-trial interval (stimulus offset to onset) varied between 1900 and 2100 ms depending on the subject's reaction time. During passive trial blocks, the text "Ignore stimulus and stop responding" appeared on the screen throughout the duration of the block. The experimenter instructed each subject to keep their eyes open at this time but not respond to the stimuli. The passive inter-trial interval varied randomly between 1900-2100 ms, comparable to active blocks. For each carrier frequency, blocks alternated between active and passive trials until a total of six blocks had been presented (Gander et al., 2010b; Paul et al., 2014). The first carrier frequency for each session was chosen at random.

Before the trial blocks commenced, the experimenter described the stimulus and task to the participants. Samples of the stimuli with one or two long

gaps coupled to a visual depiction (similar to Figure 4.1a) iterated repeatedly. Subjects could listen to each type as many times needed to understand the task. After the experimenter received verbal confirmation that subjects understood the task, the main experiment began.

4.4.4 Electrophysiological Recording and Spatial Filtering

The EEG was sampled by a 128-channel Biosemi ActiveTwo amplifier (Cortech Solutions, Wilmington, NC) at 2048 Hz and was referenced online to the vertex electrode. Before recording, electrode positions were digitized for each participant (Polhemus Fastrak). In BESA (version 6.0; MEGIS Software GmbH, Grafelfing, Germany) short and long gaps for active and passive trials were epoched from -200 ms before and 300 ms after gap onset. Trials with ocular, muscle or other artifacts in the 25–57 Hz band exceeding a threshold of $\pm 75 \,\mu$ V were verified by visual inspection and were removed. On average ~80% of trials were retained. Long and short gap trials for each subject were averaged separately for active and passive conditions for both carrier frequencies and attention conditions.

We used inverse modeling in BESA to determine dipole source locations for the ASSR. We computed sources in both hemispheres but for the analysis only considered sources localizing to the right hemisphere, as ASSR generators are strongest contralateral to the ear of stimulation (Ross et al., 2005b). Source models were computed individually for each subject using the 41 Hz ASSR from the passive condition during the 200 ms pre-gap ASSR baseline, with the goal of estimating the cortical source during the most stable period of stimulation and

without interference from attention-related activity that may add variance to the source model. Pre-gap periods before all gap types were collapsed into one average separately for each person and carrier frequency, and then bandpass filtered between 39 and 43 Hz. Dipole source locations were identified in a two-step procedure. In step one, two principal components were calculated and added to the solution. The first component accounted for most field variance (>80% on average) and likely represented ASSR sources while the second component (< 20%) represented primarily noise and non-ASSR variance. In step two, we used the second principal component (non-ASSR component) to spatially filter noise while a dipole model was fit to the remaining field variance.

The coordinates of the dipole model were computed first by seeding two unconstrained regional sources (each consisting of three orthogonal dipoles) in left and right auditory cortex, and their 3D locations were determined by inverse modeling. The sources were then reoriented so that one dipole accounted for the maximum field variance (this vector typically oriented toward channel FCz). Residual variance of all model fits averaged over all subjects amounted to 12.8% (SD = 11.3%) for the 400 Hz solutions and 14.7% (SD = 15.6%) for the 5 kHz solutions. The dipole in the right hemisphere localized in the region of Heschl's gyrus for each subject and carrier frequency. The grand averaged source waveforms and their 3D locations are presented in Figure 4.2. The coordinates and orientations for each individual's right hemisphere source were used as a linear spatial filter through which unfiltered averages for both active and passive stimulus epochs were passed. Thus, our analysis focused on spatially-filtered potentials and not dipole moments.



Figure 4.2. Source locations and waveforms a) Source locations for the 5 kHz and 400 Hz probe tones computed from the grand average waveform of the 200 ms pre-gap interval for the passive condition only in BESA. The 5 kHz source seated more medially than the 400 Hz source, consistent with previous reports (Brugge et al., 2009; Pantev et al., 1996; Wienbruch et al., 2006). b) An example source waveform of the -200 ms pre-gap interval, showing a larger dipole moment for the 400 Hz probe than at 5 kHz, also consistent with known effects of carrier frequency on the ASSR (Roberts et al., 2015; Paul et al., 2014).

4.4.5 Signal Processing

All signal processing was performed in MATLAB (The Mathworks, Inc., Natick,

MA) using custom code and functions from the Digital Signal Processing toolbox.

As discussed, gaps embedded in the AM tone are expected to evoke ASSR resets

characterized by an immediate drop in power and phase shift away from the 41 Hz modulation frequency. Once the tone resumes, the ASSR rebuilds over a 200 ms interval in which the ASSR phase realigns and amplitude recovers to its pregap value (Ross & Pantev, 2004). In past studies (Ross & Pantev, 2004; Ross et al., 2012) the reset interval was analyzed by computing the Hilbert transform over the signal to obtain the instantaneous amplitude and phase. In initial analyses of the present ASSR data, noise in the signal precluded a valid analysis of the instantaneous phase on averaged waveforms of individual subjects. It is noteworthy that in all previous studies ASSR resets were measured by the magnetoencephalogram (MEG), which has a greater signal-to noise ratio than EEG.

In order to estimate phase shifts of ASSRs on individual averages, we instead examined changes in the spectral frequency of the ASSR that occurred before and after gaps. The power spectrum of the ASSR is expected to peak at 41 Hz where phase locking to the 41 Hz stimulus is maximal. Disruptions of the ASSR are known to produce a temporary phase shift in the steady-state neural signal (Ross & Pantev, 2004; Ross, 2008; Ross et al., 2012), which would shift power in the spectrum to higher or lower frequencies during the reset period. This follows the principle that the instantaneous frequency is the temporal derivative of the instantaneous phase (Picinbono, 1997). As an example, Figure 4.3a shows the power spectrum of the ASSR for each individual (thin lines) and the grand averaged ASSR (thick line) during a 200 ms epoch pre- and post-gap, for the 5

kHz probe when subjects were attending to stimuli. The power spectrum expectedly peaked at 41 Hz for most subjects during the pre-gap baseline (left panel) while the AM tone was present. During the post-gap interval following the gap (right panel), power expectedly decreased, and the spectrum shifted away from the 41 Hz peak. However it is clear during the post-gap interval that for each individual there are multiple peaks in the spectrum, making it difficult to determine which peak represents the shift away from 41 Hz pre-gap interval. Thus, phase shifts cannot be easily determined by measuring changes in the peak of the power spectrum in the ASSR reset phenomenon. а



Figure 4.3. Comparison of spectral power and centroid measured for the ASSR. a) Power spectra of the ASSR during the 200 ms pre-gap period (stable ASSR) and the 200 ms post-gap period (ASSR reset) for the active condition during the 5 kHz probe tone. The thick black line represents the grand average mean, with

individual subjects depicted as gray traces. The centroid frequency for each period is shown as a vertical dotted line, with 1 standard deviation bounded by vertical dashed lines and shaded in between. b) Grand-average time frequency representations of the ASSR spectrum and spontaneous (resting-state) EEG at and before the 400 Hz, 41 Hz AM tone in the passive condition for all subjects are shown in the left two panels. Black lines represent the bandwidth of the filter over which the centroid and wideband power were calculated. The white line depicts the centroid trace. Bar graphs in the right two panels depict the mean centroid and normalized power values for the ASSR and spontaneous EEG spectrum. Error bars are 1 SD.

A solution to this problem is to measure the *spectral centroid*, the mean frequency weighted by the power at each frequency, which reflects the frequency around which most power of the signal spectrum is distributed. To our knowledge the centroid has not been previously used to measure ASSRs, and only one other study used the centroid to characterize resting-state EEG (Ali et al., 2014). An example of the ASSR centroid is overlaid on the time-frequency spectrum in Figure 4.3b, leftmost pane, which is the grand average power spectral density (PSD) spectrum of the 400 Hz ASSR for all subjects in the passive listening condition, between 200-500 ms after the onset of the probe. As can be seen power is concentrated at and around 41 Hz (the stimulation rate), while ongoing sustained activity is limited to the frequency band below 25 Hz. For this reason the centroid is calculated across the 25 to 57 Hz band (black lines on spectra in Figure 4.3b), the widest symmetrical bandwidth around 41 Hz that excludes contribution from sub-25 Hz sustained activity. The resulting centroid, shown as a white trace overlaid on the power spectrum, localizes close to 41 Hz, but noticeably the centroid sits lower than the peak frequency. This minor low-
frequency bias results from the 1/*f* power spectrum of the EEG known to be present in the absence of stimulation (Ward, 2002). To demonstrate, the centroid calculated in the 25–57 Hz band of the grand-average PSD plot of the EEG during the 300 ms interval before stimulus onset (when no AM tone was present; herein referred to as the spontaneous EEG) for all subjects sits around 38-Hz (3 Hz below the filter center) because of the 1/f influence (Figure 4.3b, rightmost spectrogram). Comparisons of the mean and standard deviation of the centroid and power for the ASSR and spontaneous EEG spectra are shown in the rightmost bar graphs, where it can be seen that the centroid is closer and less variable around the stimulation rate when the ASSR is present, but the centroid for the spontaneous EEG is lower and more variable (Figure 4.3b, left bar graph). Power is expectedly larger and more variable in the presence of 41 Hz stimulation, compared to the spontaneous EEG which has less power and variance (Figure 4.3b, right bar graph).



Figure 4.4. Relationship of a phase shift to the spectral centroid. a) The frequency of a 40 Hz sinusoid (left) is modulated by a signal (right) such that a transient 2 Hz downward frequency shift is produced. b) The frequency modulated signal resulting from (a). c) The power spectral density (PSD) of the frequency modulated signal as a function of time (color corresponds to power of arbitrary units). A downward frequency shift in the signal spectrum can be observed. d) The instantaneous phase of the Hilbert transform was taken over the 40 Hz signal in (a) and the frequency modulated signal in (b), and the phase angles as a function of time were subtracted and plotted. By the end of the frequency modulation, the phase of the frequency. e) The centroid frequency, computed as average frequency weighted by power of the PSD, shows a transient 2 Hz downward shift. Thus, the temporary drop in the centroid corresponds to the phase shift in d).

These principles may be used to infer phase shifts of the ASSR after gap

perturbation. A demonstration describing how the centroid relates to phase shifts

within a simulated signal is provided in Figure 4.4. A 40 Hz signal shown in Figure 4.4a is frequency modulated by a Hamming window such that a transient 2 Hz downward frequency shift is produced (the composite of these signals is presented in Figure 4.4b), which may represent a likely scenario involving the reset of a 40 Hz ASSR. It is clear in the PSD plot in Figure 4.4c that a transient 2 Hz shift of the signal is present. In past reports (e.g., Ross et al., 2012) shifts in phase of the ASSR signal after a gap-evoked reset were evaluated by computing the instantaneous phase of the Hilbert transform of both an unmodulated 40 Hz reference signal and the resetting ASSR signal. Subtracting the unwrapped instantaneous phase angles of both signals reveals a phase shift of the ASSR reset response away from the 40 Hz signal, here shown in Figure 4.4d as a phase delay of 6 radians by the end of the frequency modulation. The spectral centroid calculated over the power spectral density in 4.4c depicts the transient 2 Hz downward frequency shift of the signal as a consequence of the frequency modulation. Thus, the phase delay corresponds to a transient downward shift in the spectral centroid.

Returning to the ASSR reset example in Figure 4.3, prior to the gap (Figure 4.3a, left panel) the centroid calculated over the range 25–57 Hz (dotted line, Figure 4.3a) was situated at ~40 Hz, close to 41 Hz where power peaked for most subjects. During regeneration of the ASSR following a gap, spectral power distributed to other frequencies thus pulling the centroid downward (Figure 4.3a right panel) to ~38 Hz, notwithstanding that 41 Hz was the AM rate of the

stimulus. A transient downward shift can be thought of as a phase lengthening of the ASSR during the recovery period. Because the centroid is somewhat influenced by background EEG and noise in the signal, it is important to concurrently measure overall power between 25–57 Hz to determine if changes in the centroid reflect a) a shift in the frequency content of the ASSR without a substantial change in its power or b) an increase or decrease in the power of the ASSR relative to the background EEG. These comparisons are provided in the analysis below.

For all conditions the centroid was measured as a time series (such as in Figure 4.3b, left panels) derived from a PSD analysis. After filtering the signal from 25–57 Hz, the PSD was estimated for all signals using a short-time Fourier transform (STFT) with a 250-sample (5 ASSR pulses) Tukey window function. This window function applies a cosine ramp to the first and last 35% of samples of each window to reduce spectral leakage, but for the middle 30% the function is flat so that temporal resolution is preserved. Each window of the STFT overlapped by 249 samples. Through the Goertzel algorithm (Goertzel, 1958) we defined frequency bins in 1 Hz steps from 1 to 80 Hz. We calculated the spectral centroid *C* in each window as

$$C = \frac{\sum_{f=1}^{N} (f * P_f)}{\sum_{f=1}^{N} P_f},$$

where *P* is the PSD value for every f 1 Hz frequency bin, and *N* is the number of frequency bins per window. The measures compared between attended and passive blocks were the centroid, power values averaged across the 25–57 Hz

band, and also power averaged across 40–42 Hz (to afford comparison of our results with those previous studies of the effect of attention on ASSR power).

4.5 Results

4.5.1 Behavioral results

All subjects performed the task above chance, averaging 74.6% percent correct (pc) across all trials (1 within-subjects standard error (SE) = 5.75). Task performance for the 400 Hz carrier (mean pc = 77.5%, SE = 3.74) was somewhat better than for the 5 kHz carrier (mean pc = 71.6%, SE = 4.36), a difference that while small was statistically significant (t(14) = 2.58, p = 0.021, two-tailed test).

4.5.2 Electrophysiological results

Inspection of the grand average time domain EEG waveforms seen in the top row of Figure 4.5a shows that the ASSR at 5 kHz briefly reset following both short and long gaps. The waveforms in the second row show spectral power averaged across the 40–42 Hz narrow band (this frequency range used by Gander et al. 2010b to reveal an effect of attention on ASSR amplitude). Power in this band decreased shortly after gap onset but recovered over a ~200 ms period (thick bracket) to the pre-gap value. Narrowband power did not appear to differ between active and passive conditions after gaps but there was a tendency for it to be larger during active conditions in the pre-gap baseline. In the third row of Figure 4.5a the filter has been widened to 25–57 Hz to explore power changes over the frequency range in which the centroid was calculated. It can be seen that compared to the pre-gap baseline power 25–57 Hz tended to decrease after gaps

but did not appear to differ between the attention conditions. The fourth row of Figure 4.5a shows the spectral centroid across the 25–57 Hz band, and describes how the spectral distribution changed. Before gaps, the centroid localized to a higher frequency during the active compared to the passive condition. During active but not passive trials the centroid decreased by ~1.5 Hz after gaps. In contrast, under the passive condition the centroid was lower than on active trials during the pre-gap baseline, and tended to shift up in frequency after gaps.

ASSR resets during the 400 Hz probe followed a similar pattern to results at 5 kHz. The top row of Figure 4.5b shows a clear reset and recovery of the ASSR time domain waveform after short and long gaps. 40–42 Hz power traces in the second row show a drop in power after each gap, with a tendency toward larger pre-gap power during the active condition compared to the passive condition on long gap trials. Narrowband power in the post-gap interval did not appear to differ between attention conditions. Power in the wider 25–57 Hz band in the third row of Figure 4.5b was only weakly modulated by the gaps and did not appear to differ between the attention conditions. In the last row of Figure 4.5b, centroids during the active condition were close to the 41 Hz stimulus rate during the pre-gap interval, and like centroids of the 5 kHz probe, decreased from their baseline after each gap. Centroids under the passive condition sat lower than the AM rate particularly on long gap trials and did not appear to change from their dominant pre-gap baseline at either gap interval.



Figure 4.5. Time series of ASSR resets for the 5 kHz and 400 Hz probe around short gaps (left column) and long gaps (right column). The top row under each probe frequency shows the 25–57 Hz bandpass filtered time domain waveforms of the ASSR, the second row the narrowband 40–42 Hz power, the third row the 25– 57 Hz band power, and the bottom row the spectral centroid over time for the signal. The thick vertical black line at the 0 ms mark on each time series indicates the onset of the silent gap. The thin vertical line after indicates gap offset and probe onset. Intervals outlined by thick brackets correspond to the 200 ms ASSR reset period that was compared to the 200 ms pre-stimulus period.

To statistically evaluate the results during the pre-gap period when the ASSR was stable, we averaged values across the -200 to 0 ms interval separately for narrowband power, wideband power, and the spectral centroid. For each of these signal measurements, a 2x2x2 repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed comparing conditions of attention (active vs. passive), gap type (long gap vs. short gap), and carrier frequency (400 Hz vs 5 kHz stimulus). No main effects or interactions with gap type or were found in these analyses, so a new 2x2 ANOVA model was run only examining effects of attention and carrier frequency. In this model, a main effect of attention was found (F(1,14) = 6.12, p = 0.027) showing that active attending produced significantly higher 40–42 Hz power during the pre-gap interval compared to passive listening. This result is portrayed in the left panel of Figure 4.6a, where it can be seen that power was larger under active listening for both carrier frequencies. In contrast, power averaged over 25–57 Hz did not significantly differ between the attention conditions or show interactions (all ps > 0.27, results not shown). However, centroids were higher in active compared to passive conditions during the pre-gap baseline (main effect of attention, F(1,14) = 9.01, p = 0.009). This result is shown

in the right panel of Figure 4.6a, again with similar findings for the two carrier frequencies.

а



Figure 4.6. Bar graphs depicting pre-stimulus and pre- and post-gap differences of power spectral centroids for the 5 kHz and 400 Hz carrier. Error bars are 1 within-subjects standard error. *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01.

In a second ANOVA model again using a 2x2x2 design comparing conditions described above, we examined changes in the spectral centroid before and after each gap type. For this purpose we subtracted the pre-gap baseline from the averaged values across the 200 ms recovery period of the ASSR reset (postgap interval). The active condition (see Figure 4.6b) produced a downward shift in centroid frequency in response to the gap compared to the passive condition, which tended to produce an upward frequency shift instead (main effect of attention, F(1,14) = 9.64, p = 0.008). Least Significant Difference tests revealed that the downward shift of the centroid under active conditions was significant (p = 0.02) while the upward shift under the passive condition while visually prominent at 5 kHz did not reach significance (p = 0.18). Although the increase at 400 Hz was smaller, there were no significant main effects or interactions with carrier frequency. No main effects or interactions with gap type were found. There were no significant effects or interactions found for wide or narrowband power for the pre-post gap difference.

4.6 Discussion

4.6.1 Summary

The goal of our study was to determine the effect of top-down attention on the dynamics of the gap-perturbed 41 Hz ASSR reset response, revealing how

attention might facilitate the temporal processing of rapid stimulus changes in auditory cortex. ASSRs were evoked by either a 5 kHz or 400 Hz tone that was amplitude modulated by 41 Hz. We measured separately the ASSR power and spectral centroid (a measure indicating the frequency where power is concentrated in the signal spectrum which could be used to infer changes of phase) after a gap disrupted the ASSR to determine how these properties changed when subjects attended to gaps (active listening) versus when they were not (passive listening). During the reset period, the centroid shifted toward lower frequencies in the attended condition and in contrast tended to shift upwards or remain unchanged in the passive condition. This pattern did not differ significantly between stimuli of high and low carrier frequency that were tested within subjects in separate conditions. Narrowband (40-42 Hz) and wideband (25-57 Hz) power did not differ between active and passive conditions during the reset, indicating that centroid shifts downward toward a lower frequency under active attending were likely a result of a phase lengthening of the ASSR as the ASSR recovered. These results imply that attention is expressed on the phase but not power of the ASSR recovery interval. Subjects' behavioral performance was slightly but significantly better for the 400 Hz versus 5 kHz tone, suggesting frequency-specific differences in gap perception in an AM tone.

Replicating previous findings, we found that 40–42 Hz narrowband ASSR power in the pre-gap interval when the ASSR was stable was larger in the active compared to passive listening condition (Gander et al., 2010b; Paul et al., 2014).

A new finding was that within the pre-gap period the centroid during the active condition was significantly closer to 41 Hz than during the passive condition. Overall power in the 25–57 Hz band (the band over which the centroid was calculated) during this time was not significantly different between active and passive conditions, suggesting that pre-gap centroid effects could either be due to stronger phase locking or more power concentrated at 41 Hz stimulus rate at times when subjects were actively listening.

4.6.2 The effect of attention on the ASSR recovery after gap desynchronization Although attention did not affect power of the ASSR recovery interval after the reset, the decrease and 200 ms recovery of ASSR narrowband power during this interval is consistent with the time course of ASSR resets previously reported (Makeig & Galambos, 1989; Rohrbaugh et al., 1989, 1990a,b; Ross & Pantev, 2004; Ross, et al., 2004; Ross et al., 2012). Similar to amplitude, phase changes evoked by gaps reach a maximum deflection 100 ms after the perturbation onset which realign within 200 ms after the reinstatement of the AM stimulus (Ross & Fujioka, 2016; Ross et al., 2012; Ross & Pantev, 2004), consistent with spectral centroid effects observed in the current results. Ross and Fujioka (2016) and Ross et al. (2012) were the only studies to require subjects to actively listen and respond to gap stimuli that evoked ASSR resets. Both studies used a design in which the ASSR was evoked by stimulating one ear with a 40 Hz AM tone while in the other ear either multi-talker noise or silence was presented. In the presence of contralateral noise, phase shifts were less pronounced and the amplitude recovered within 50 ms, far shorter than the 200 ms recovery interval found without contralateral noise. Although task attention was held constant across these conditions, the pronounced phase shift in quiet may in part be attributed to attentional facilitation at times when gap stimuli were not centrally masked.

To our knowledge only Rohrbaugh et al. (1989) have compared ASSR resets between active and passive listening conditions. In the active condition of that study, the click-evoked 40 Hz ASSR was reset by the presence of standard and oddball pure tone stimuli of different frequencies that the participants had to detect and report, while in the latter condition there were no oddball stimuli and participants passively listened to ASSR disruptions by only a standard stimulus. Oddball stimuli in the active condition were associated with longer ASSR latency shifts (lengthening of ASSR phase) compared to standard stimuli in the passive condition, and ASSR amplitude did not differ between conditions. However it was not possible to dissociate if latency shifts resulted from active listening itself or the novelty of the oddball. The present study however did not use an oddball paradigm and stimuli were identical between active and passive conditions, but the results of both studies align, suggesting that attention is expressed on the phase and not amplitude of the ASSR reset.

At present it is not clear how to interpret the role spectral shifts play in stimulus processing for the two attention conditions. One possibility is that the shifts could reflect the different cognitive operations that were required of the subjects during active and passive blocks. Alternatively, an interaction of top-

down (active) and bottom-up (involuntary) attention could be suggested. On active blocks it appears that gaps uncoupled neural networks in A1 coding the AM envelope leading to a significant phase lengthening over the 200 ms recovery interval. The shift could reflect a pronounced disinhibition of neural networks by a failure of predictive coding (Winkler et al., 2009; Arnal & Giraud, 2012), which may serve to increase the capacity of neural networks to represent unstable auditory scenes. Subsequently the ASSR redeveloped under active attention, shifting the focus of spectral power back to the AM frequency as seen in the pregap interval (Figure 4.6a). On passive blocks where active attention was not deployed, the amount and concentration of pre-gap power was less centered on the AM rate which may also be a consequence of poorer phase locking. Under this condition, bottom-up attention triggered by the gaps may have shifted the phase to align more closely with the AM rate for a brief period of time, although this trend did not reach significance. The trend was more visually pronounced for the 5 kHz carrier, possibly because (as indicated by their behavioral performance) the task was somewhat more difficult for the subjects for this carrier frequency, suggesting a greater engagement of attention mechanisms.

4.6.3 Neuromodulatory systems underlying attention effects in A1

The effects of attention on the ASSR in the current and previous results are consistent with animal studies in which single unit activity was recorded from A1 during attention tasks. A1 neurons in animals trained to detect amplitude modulations in a sound showed higher evoked firing rates and higher phase

locking to the AM sound compared to animals that listened passively with no reward given (Niwa et al., 2012; Dong et al., 2013). Similarly, ferrets that were rewarded for discriminating sound frequencies showed changes in the receptive fields of neurons in A1 over the course of minutes such that these neurons were more sharply tuned to target sounds and less so to non-target sounds (Fritz et al., 2003; Fritz et al., 2005; David et al., 2012). These modulations likely involve activation of neuromodulatory systems such as cholinergic projections from the basal forebrain that are known to gate neural plasticity (Ramanathan et al, 2009) and to increase the sensitivity of auditory neurons to their afferent inputs on attention tasks by targeting muscarinic and nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (Sarter et al., 2005, 2009).

Recently, Zhang et al. (2016) demonstrated that blocking muscarinic receptors of A1 neurons decreased the amplitude and phase locking of the ASSR in rat auditory cortex, while blockage of cholinergic reuptake (leaving acetylcholine to persistently activate both muscarinic and nicotinic receptors) increased ASSR phase locking amplitude. Manipulations that simultaneously block muscarinic receptors and prevent acetylcholine reuptake for nicotinic receptors interestingly enhanced only phase locking of the ASSR but not power. The results support the view that cholinergic modulation mediates attentionrelated effects in A1, and suggest that ASSR phase can be modulated independently of amplitude. A role for inhibitory GABAergic effects and interactions with cholinergic modulation must also be considered.

4.6.4 Conclusions

We provided evidence that active listening can modify a spectral estimate of phase shifts during the gap-evoked ASSR reset recovery interval that is independent of changes to amplitude. When the ASSR was stable before gaps, power was larger, consistent with previous results. During this time the centroid was closer to the 41 Hz AM rate which could indicate better phase-locking and/or more spectral power concentrated to the AM rate. These results may suggest that under the active listening condition, gaps more strongly desynchronized A1 neural networks coding the AM rate than when subjects were passively listening. As the ASSR regenerated, more power became focused at the frequency of the stimulus when the subject was actively attending.

4.7 Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada. We thank Daniel Bosnyak and David Thompson for assisting with the technical set up and signal processing. Additionally, we thank Amanda Howitt and Michelle Mastinsek for their assistance in collecting these data.

4.8 References

- Ali, M. S. A. M., Taib, M. N., Tahir, N. M., & Jahidin, A. H. (2014). EEG subband spectral centroid frequencies extraction based on Hamming and equiripple filters: A comparative study. 2014 IEEE 10th International Colloquium on Signal Processing & its Applications (CSPA).199–203.
- Arnal L. H., & Giraud, A-L. (2012). Cortical oscillations and sensory predictions. Trends in Cognitive Science, 16, 390–398
- Bidet-Caulet, A., Fischer, C., Besle, J., Aguera, P., Giard, M., & Bertrand, O. (2007). Effects of Selective Attention on the Electrophysiological Representation of Concurrent Sounds in the Human Auditory Cortex. The Journal of Neuroscience, 27, 9252–9261.
- Brugge, J. F., Nourski, K. V., Oya, H., Reale, R. A., Kawasaki, H., Steinschneider, M., & Howard, M. A. (2009). Coding of Repetitive Transients by Auditory Cortex on Heschl's Gyrus. Journal of Neurophysiology, 102, 2358–2374.
- David, S. V., Fritz, J. B., & Shamma, S.A. (2012). Stimulus valence and taskrelevance control rapid plasticity in primary auditory cortex. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA, 109, 2144–2149.
- Dong, C., Qin, L., Liu, Y., Zhang, X., & Sato, Y. (2011). Neural responses in the primary auditory cortex of freely behaving cats while discriminating fast and slow click-trains. PLoS One. 2011; 6:e25895.
- Fritz, J. B., Shamma, S., Elhilali, M., & Klein, D. (2003) Rapid task-related plasticity of spectrotemporal receptive fields in primary auditory cortex. Nature Neuroscience, 6, 1216–1223.
- Fritz, J. B., Elhilali, M., & Shamma, S.A. (2005). Differential dynamic plasticity of A1 receptive fields during multiple spectral tasks. The Journal of Neuroscience, 25, 7623–7635.
- Gander, P., Bosnyak, D., & Roberts, L. E. (2010a). Evidence for modalityspecific but not frequency-specific modulation of human primary auditory cortex by attention. Hearing Research, 268, 213–226.
- Gander, P., Bosnyak, D., & Roberts, L. E. (2010b). Acoustic experience but not attention modifies neural population phase expressed in human primary auditory cortex. Hearing Research, 269, 81–94.
- Godey, B., Schwartz, D., De Graaf, J. B., Chauvel, P., & Liegeois-Chauvel, C. (2001). Neuromagnetic source localization of auditory evoked fields and intracerebral evoked potentials: a comparison of data in the same patients. Clinical Neurophysiology, 112, 1850–1859.
- Goertzel, G. (1958). An algorithm for the evaluation of finite trigonometric series. The American Mathematical Monthly, 65, 34–35.
- Kaas, J. H., & Hackett, T. A. (2000). Subdivisions of auditory cortex and processing streams in primates. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA, 97, 11793–11799.
- Langers, D. R. M., Backes, W. H., & van Dijk, P. (2007). Representation of lateralization and tonotopy in primary versus secondary human auditory

cortex. NeuroImage, 34, 264–273.

- Makeig, S., & Galambos, R. (1989). The CERP: Event related perturbation in steady-state responses. In Basar E. & Bullock T., Brain Dynamics: Progress and Perspectives, edited by Basar E and Bullock T. Berlin: Springer, pp. 375–400.
- Niwa, M., Johnson, J. S., O'Connor, K. N., & Sutter, M. L. (2012) Active engagement improves primary auditory cortical neurons' ability to discriminate temporal modulation. The Journal of Neuroscience, 32, 9323–9334.
- Pantev, C., Roberts, L., Elbert, T., Ross, B., & Wienbruch, C. (1996). Tonotopic organization of the sources of human auditory steady-state responses. Hearing Research, 101, 62–74.
- Paul, B. T., Bruce, I, C., Bosnyak, D. J., Thompson, D. C., & Roberts, L. E. (2014). Modulation of electrocortical brain activity by attention in individuals with and without tinnitus. Neural Plasticity, vol. 2014, Article ID 127824.
- Picinbono, B. (1997). On Instantaneous Amplitude and Phase of Signals. IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing, 45(3), 552–560.
- Ramanathan, D., Tuszynski, M. H., & Conner, J. M. (2009). The basal forebrain cholinergic system is required specifically for behaviorally mediated cortical map plasticity. The Journal of Neuroscience, 29, 5992–6000.
- Rohrbaugh, J. W., Varner, J. L., Paige, S. R., Eckardt, M. J., & Ellingson, R. J (1990a). Auditory and visual event-related perturbations in the 40 Hz auditory steady-state response. Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology, 76, 148–164.
- Rohrbaugh, J. W., Varner, J. L., Paige, S. R., Eckardt, M. J., & Ellingson, R. J (1990b). Event-related perturbations in an electrophysiological measure of auditory sensitivity: effects of probability, intensity and repeated sessions. International Journal of Psychophysiology, 10, 17–32.
- Rohrbaugh, J. W., Varner, J. L., Paige, S. R., Eckardt, M. J., Ellingson, R. J. (1989). Event-related perturbations in an electrophysiological measure of auditory function: A measure of sensitivity during orienting? Biological Psychology, 29, 247–271.
- Ross, B. (2005). Stimulus Induced Desynchronization of Human Auditory 40-Hz Steady-State Responses. Journal of Neurophysiology, 94, 4082–4093.
- Ross, B. (2008). A Novel Type of Auditory Responses: Temporal Dynamics of 40-Hz Steady-State Responses Induced by Changes in Sound Localization. Journal of Neurophysiology, 100, 1265–1277.
- Ross, B., & Fujioka, T. (In press). 40-Hz oscillations underlying perceptual binding in young and older adults. Perceptional binding and aging. Psychophysiology.
- Ross, B., Herdman, A. T., & Pantev, C. (2005a). Stimulus induced desynchronization of human auditory 40-Hz steady-state responses.

Journal of Neurophysiology, 94, 4082–4093

- Ross, B., Herdman, A. T., & Pantev, C. (2005b). Right Hemispheric Laterality of Human 40 Hz Auditory Steady-state Responses. Cereberal Cortex, 15, 2029–2039.
- Ross, B., Miyazaki, T., & Fujioka, T. (2012). Interference in dichotic listening: The effect of contralateral noise on oscillatory brain networks. European Journal of Neuroscience, 35, 106–118.
- Ross, B. & Pantev, C. (2004). Auditory steady-state responses reveal amplitude modulation gap detection thresholds. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 115, 2193.
- Ross, B., Picton, T.W., Herdman, A.T., Pantev, C.(2004). The effect of attention on the auditory steady-state response. Neurology and Clinical Neurophysiology, 22.
- Sarter, M., Hasselmo, M. E., Bruno, J. P., & Givens, B. (2005). Unraveling the attentional functions of cortical cholinergic inputs: Interactions between signal-driven and cognitive modulation of signal detection. Brain Research Reviews, 48, 98–111.
- Ward, 2002. Dynamical Cognitive Science. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Wienbruch, C., Paul, I., Weisz, N., Elbert, T., & Roberts, L. E. (2006). Frequency organization of the 40-Hz auditory steady-state response in normal hearing and in tinnitus. NeuroImage, 33, 180–194.
- Winkler, I., Denham, S L., & Nelken, I. (2009). Modeling the auditory scene: predictive regularity representations and perceptual objects. Trends in Cognitive Science, 13, 532–540.
- Zhang, J., Ma, L., Li, W., Yang P., Qin, L. (2016). Cholinergic modulation of auditory steady-state response in the auditory cortex of the freely moving rat. Neuroscience, 324, 29–39.

Chapter 5: Discussion

5.1 Summary and implications of findings

5.1.1 Summary

The chapters of this thesis aimed to address two issues raised under the deafferentation model of tinnitus. The first issue was that audiometric threshold shifts (indicating hearing loss) do not always accompany tinnitus, and tinnitus can arise without threshold shifts. The second issue was that although tinnitus negatively impacts the ability of individuals to attend to their environment, it is not clear if the attention system itself is affected in tinnitus or if the presence of tinnitus in the auditory system resists or detracts from the normal expression of top-down attention on auditory neurons. In brief and in order of Chapters 2, 3 and 4, the findings suggested that a) tinnitus is associated with peripheral loss of highand low-SR fibers that may be undetected by the audiogram, b) top-down attention likely operates normally in tinnitus but its expression on auditory cortical neurons is impeded by tinnitus-related hyperactivity in the hearing loss region of auditory cortex, and c) in normal hearing individuals, top-down attention modulates phase shifts during the ASSR reset recovery interval (a bottom-up response), suggesting that this procedure can be used in tinnitus to test the sensitivity of tinnitus-affected auditory cortical neurons to bottom-up input.

5.1.2 Tinnitus and loss of peripheral synapses or fibers

The study in Chapter 2 provided the first human evidence for loss of both lowand high-SR fibers in individuals with tinnitus and normal audiograms. A

conceptual model in Figure 2.6 introduced the possibility that this pattern of peripheral fiber loss could also be present in tinnitus sufferers with highfrequency threshold shifts in the audiogram, assuming that most of the threshold shift is accounted for by outer hair cell loss and/or hair cell stereocilia damage. One notable implication of this view is that the discussion of factors behind the development of tinnitus is focused back to the auditory periphery. Many tinnitus researchers have taken the stance that the incongruence between hearing loss and tinnitus points to central factors that distinguish between tinnitus and non-tinnitus cases, and a large body of research has attempted to determine what these central factors are (e.g., Adjamian et al., 2009, Vanneste & De Ridder, 2016). Most animal research in tinnitus reported in Chapter 1 measured temporary or permanent threshold shifts in noise-exposed animals, both of which are associated with tinnitus, and concluded that central hyperactivity must distinguish tinnitus since animals in these groups were matched in the amount of noise exposure and degree of threshold shift. However counts of peripheral synapses or spiral ganglion cells are rarely conducted, meaning that in many of these studies there is the possibility that the tinnitus animals had more high- and low-SR fiber loss than non-tinnitus animals that was not expressed in thresholds.

From previous animal research and the findings in Chapter 2, it is not yet clear how high-SR fiber loss would precisely trigger the development of tinnitus. Bauer et al. (2007) described one interpretation based upon the function of highand low-SR fiber input to the DCN. Fusiform cells (the primary input/output

cells) in the DCN receive most of their excitatory drive directly from low-SR auditory nerve fibers, whereas high-SR nerve fibers innervate small cap cells deep in DCN which provide an inhibitory drive onto fusiform cells (Liberman, 1993). Bauer et al. (2007) interestingly observed high- but not low-SR fiber loss in animals with behavioural tinnitus, so it was assumed that disinhibition of fusiform cells indirectly through high-SR fiber loss could account for tinnitus-related changes. Considering both low- and high-SR fiber loss, this view can be interpreted such that loss of direct excitatory drive and indirect inhibitory drive on fusiform cells may combine to account for the downregulation of inhibitory neurotransmission (Wang et al., 2009; Middleton et al., 2011), upregulation of somatosensory sensory inputs (Zeng et al., 2012), and changes in the timing rules of STDP (Koehler & Shore, 2013) on fusiform cells in animals with behavioural tinnitus. These changes are likely implicated in the increased SFRs, burst firing, and neural synchrony that have been together shown to correlate with tinnitus-like behaviour in animals (Wu et al., 2016). In contrast, low-SR fiber loss alone may be insufficient to trigger these changes, possibly because of the indirect inhibitory drive onto fusiform cells provided by intact high-SR fibers. The VCN also receives input from low- and high-SR fibers and is known to provide inhibitory and excitatory drive onto fusiform cells of the DCN (Oertel & Golding, 1997), meaning that a role for this region has yet to be integrated. There has been less focus on correlating tinnitus-related behaviors to VCN changes after noiseexposure in animals to speak to further interpretations, but neurons in this region are known to increase SFRs after noise damage (Vogler et al., 2011).

Findings in Chapter 2 also speak to clinical applications. There are no current standard clinical tests that indicate loss of peripheral auditory fibers or synapses, but a protocol could be developed involving EFRs (as done in Chapter 2) complemented by or in conjunction with ABRs. For example, low-SR fibers have thresholds between 35 and 40 dB SPL (Liberman, 1978), meaning that decrements in EFRs and wave I of ABRs evoked at levels just below the low-SR fiber threshold are likely to indicate high-SR loss in individuals with normal hearing thresholds. In contrast, a 40 dB spectrum level background noise will likely saturate most high-SR fibers (Yates et al., 1989), meaning that EFRs evoked in noise by tones > 40 dB SPL can predominantly reflect the status of low-SR fibers (see stimulus design in Chapter 2). In the presence of audiometric threshold shifts, which are most likely due to the loss of cochlear amplification provided by OHCs, these stimulus levels must be adjusted by threshold values such that each fiber type is properly stimulated. For example, an individual with a 25 dB HL shift at a given frequency in the audiogram will need at least a 60 dB SPL probe (35 dB probe + 25 dB threshold shift) to test high- but not low-SR function. It is important to note that peripheral damage is unlikely to be present in every tinnitus case. The subject reported in Chapter 2 experiencing loud, intermittent tinnitus produced excellent AM sensitivity in quiet and noise, inconsistent with peripheral synaptic loss. Aside from noise exposure and aging,

tinnitus may be caused by somatosensory injuries, illness, and diseases of the auditory periphery (Langguth et al., 2013). These considerations further highlight the importance of developing more sensitive clinical tests for peripheral neuronal degeneration to determine the most likely cause of an individual's tinnitus.

5.1.3 Tinnitus and attention

As stated, the tinnitus research field has placed a considerable focus on both auditory and non-auditory central factors behind the generation of tinnitus because hearing loss does not reliably accompany tinnitus. One debate revolves around the causal relationship between tinnitus-related neural activity in auditory areas and broader brain networks involved in consciousness, arousal, and attention that must interact to bring tinnitus into perception (De Ridder et al., 2013). The model and supporting evidence presented by Roberts et al. (2013), for example, describes a role for auditory attention in the generation of tinnitus, suggesting that hearing damage precipitates central hyperactivity, but neural plasticity directed by persistent attention organizes hyperactive neurons into synchronous ensembles that are responsible for the tinnitus percept. One aspect of this model suggests that attention is broadly engaged across the whole of auditory cortex in tinnitus because the cortex is attempting to resolve uncertainty in the acoustic scene in a frequency nonspecific manner. This suggests the possibility of attentional disruption at frequencies outside the TFR. Inconsistent with this view, Chapter 3 suggested that top-down attention in tinnitus sufferers appears to normally modulate responses below TFR, as well as late-latency responses which

have distributed sources within and anterior to auditory cortex (Scherg et al., 1989).

Effects of tinnitus on attention may relate not to persistent arousal of topdown attention, but to the interfering effect of tinnitus-related neural activity on the expression of attentional modulation in individuals with tinnitus. The interpretation of results in Chapter 3 was that populations of neurons in the TFR of A1 are occupied with coding the tinnitus percept and are (at least initially) insensitive to modulation by active listening. This "busy-line" effect would similarly explain smaller ASSRs in the TFR under passive listening conditions alone, since phase locking of affected neurons to AM sounds is likely to be poor because of the presence of hyperactivity (Roberts et al., 2012; Roberts et al., 2015). In principle the busy-line effect would suggest that these neurons would also be insensitive to detect changes in the acoustic environment. Chapter 4 introduced groundwork for the ASSR reset paradigm that could describe how attention plays a role in rebuilding a stimulus representation in auditory cortex following a brief disruption. The results indicated that in young non-tinnitus subjects, top-down attention shifts spectral estimates of ASSR phase after gapinduced reset in a manner that implies a phase lengthening, but power is not affected. It is not immediately clear what phase shifts of the ASSR reset signify under the condition of active listening. One possibility is that the shifts represent the bottom-up disinhibition of auditory cortical networks that are initially sensitized by attention (evidenced by attentional enhancement of the stable

ASSR), briefly broadening neuronal filtering properties so that the auditory stimulus change is best represented.

The findings of Chapter 4 establish a few notable hypotheses regarding tinnitus and attention under the conditions of the ASSR reset. First, if A1 neurons are busy coding tinnitus-related activity and are less sensitive to input, ASSR resets of tinnitus subjects evoked in the absence of task attention might be expected to show weak resets (less decrement of ASSR amplitude and weak phase transitions/decreases in the centroid) for 5 kHz probes, but at 400 Hz, resets would not be different from controls. These effects would likely not be different between active and passive listening conditions if neurons in the TFR are insensitive to attentional influence. A second alternative could be that reset responses in tinnitus subjects for both active and passive listening conditions inside and outside the TFR are not different from controls, suggesting that A1 neurons in tinnitus are normally sensitive to bottom-up information. These findings would contrast with the frequency-specific effects of top-down attention in tinnitus on the stable ASSR shown in Chapter 3, implying that tinnitus-related neural activity only interferes with top-down attentional modulation of A1.

Irrespective of which of these hypotheses receives support, it could be useful to clarify the role of attention in tinnitus, relevant to clinical interventions that may reduce tinnitus-related neural activity. For example, training-related plasticity in cortex directed by tasks focusing top-down attention away from the

TFR might channel inhibition into hyperactive areas, mitigating the tinnitus percept (Engell et al., 2016).

5.2 Future directions

5.2.1 Efferent contributions to peripheral damage

A question left unresolved by the experiment in Chapter 2 was the role of efferent contributions to cochlear function in tinnitus. Knudsen et al. (2014) reported that some individuals with tinnitus and evidence of hyperacusis have increased suppression of DPOAEs under contralateral stimulation compared to controls and tinnitus subjects without evidence of hyperacusis, suggesting that MOC hyperactivity may be suppressing cochlear output. Since tests of hyperacusis or MOC function were not conducted in Chapter 2, diminished EFRs may in part result from an affected efferent system. Future studies measuring suprathreshold ability to infer peripheral loss should also include measures of the MOC system such as contralateral suppression of DPOAEs and middle ear reflexes (which enhance the impedance of the middle ear by acting on the ossicles), which are known to be affected by low-SR loss (Valero et al., 2016).

5.2.2 The role of subcortical structures in human tinnitus findings

One of the most unexplored areas in human tinnitus research concerns the role of subcortical structures in known peripheral and cortical correlates of tinnitus. There has been an intense focus on CN, IC, and MGB in animal research but few human studies are available to speak to these results (Section 1.4.6). One reason for this disparity is that there are not strong noninvasive measurement techniques in humans that can isolate distinct subcortical functions in a frequency-specific manner. The resolution of fMRI is inadequate to detect fine changes in these regions (especially in CN where there is a wealth of tinnitus evidence in animals) and there are few electrophysiological studies focusing on lower structures of the auditory pathway (Adjamian et al., 2009) because it is difficult to separate individual subcortical sources from a composite neuroelectric potential (Shaheen et al., 2015).

These disparities can be brought to light when considering the results in Chapters 2, 3, and 4. The EFR evoked by an 85 Hz AM tone is consistent with neural generators in the auditory midbrain (IC; Herdman et al., 2002), an area known to have tinnitus-related increases in hyperactivity following noise exposure (Section 1.4.5). Discussion in Section 2.6.4 brought up the notion that degraded AM coding in this region could in part result from disinhibition, which could not be distinguished from AM deficits that resulted from peripheral synaptic loss. A way in which future studies could bypass this issue is by measuring EFRs in tinnitus sufferers evoked by higher rates (> 200 Hz AM) which better approximate contributions from the auditory nerve (Shaheen et al., 2015). However, EFRs to higher AM rates can only be obtained for higher carrier frequencies, and the magnitudes of EFRs in humans at higher AM rates may not produce favourable SNRs. Hyperactivity in the TFR of MGB and IC known in tinnitus animal models may suggest that like EFR reductions, 40 Hz ASSR reductions in the TFR may result from poor subcortical phase locking to the AM

envelope. However Boyen et al. (2014) found reduced connectivity between IC and A1 in tinnitus subjects compared to controls. Although the affected frequency region could not be determined, the results could suggest that peripheral or subcortical changes related to tinnitus may be less influential on cortical processing.

Notwithstanding the effects of tinnitus, a second consideration is that effects of top-down attention on AM processing may commence in lower auditory structures. There are known cholinergic inputs to MGB (Motts & Schofield, 2010; Hallanger et al., 1987) and IC (Motts & Schofield, 2009), which may similarly perform an attention-like modulation as observed in A1. Attentional influence may also descend from AC to IC and MGB by way of corticofugal connections (Suga & Ma, 2003). Evidence for the effect of selective attention (in these cases requiring subjects to attend to one stimulus and ignore the other) on subcortical processing in humans has been found in the IC using fMRI (Rinne et al., 2008) and in the EEG on the frequency following response (FFR; Lehmann & Schönwiesner, 2014) which is known to have subcortical sources (Bidelman, 2015). One report however did not find evidence of selective attention on the 97 or 113 Hz EFR (Varghese et al., 2015), meaning that the effect of attention on subcortical steady-state responses remains to be resolved.

5.3 Conclusions and general importance

The increasing prevalence of tinnitus (Gilles et al., 2013) and hearing loss (Shargorodsky et al., 2010) in adolescents suggests that a significant future health

challenge will be managing and treating tinnitus. These statistics are likely to increase due to poor knowledge of the long term effects of recreational and occupational noise exposure in this age cohort (Gilles et al., 2013) and a recent report finding that 42% of adolescents are engaged in dangerously high levels of everyday recreational listening (Dehnert et al., 2015). Because there is not yet an effective treatment or cure (Langguth et al., 2013), it is critical that the research community develops a better scientific understanding of factors causing and modulating tinnitus. The empirical research presented in this thesis contributes to this understanding by characterizing a pattern of peripheral damage that may be necessary for tinnitus development, and clarifying how effects of tinnitus on attention tasks may be realized.

5.4 References

- Adjamian, P., Sereda, M., & Hall, D. A. (2009). The mechanisms of tinnitus: Perspectives from human functional neuroimaging. Hearing Research, 253(1-2), 15–31.
- Bauer, C. A., Brozoski, T. J., & Myers, K. (2007) Primary afferent dendrite degeneration as a cause of tinnitus. Journal of Neuroscience Research, 85, 1489–1498.
- Bidelman, G. M. (2015). Multichannel recordings of the human brainstem frequency-following response: scallop topography, source generators, and distinctions from the transient ABR. Hearing Research, 323, 68–80.
- Boyen, K., de Kleine, E., van Dijk, P., & Langers, D. R. (2014). Tinnitus-related dissociation between cortical and subcortical neural activity in humans with mild to moderate sensorineural hearing loss. Hearing Research, 312, 48–59.
- De Ridder, D., Vanneste, S., Weisz, N., Londero, A., Schlee, W., Elgoyhen, A. B., Langguth, B. (2013). An integrative model of auditory phantom perception: Tinnitus as a unified percept of interacting separable subnetworks. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 44, 16–32.
- Dehnert K., Raab, U., Perez-Alvarez, C., Steffens, T., Bolte, G., Fromme, H., & Twardella, D., (2015). Total leisure noise exposure and its association with hearing loss among adolescents. International Journal of Audiology, 54, 1–9.
- Engell, A., Junghöfer, M., Stein, A., Lau, P., Wunderlich, R., Wollbrink, A., et al. (2016) Modulatory Effects of Attention on Lateral Inhibition in the Human Auditory Cortex. PLoS ONE 11(2): e0149933.
- Gilles, A., Van Hal, G., De Ridder, D., Wouters, K., & Van de Heyning, P. (2013). Epidemiology of noise-induced tinnitus and the attitudes and beliefs towards noise and hearing protection in adolescents. PLoS One, 8(7), e70297.
- Hallanger, A. E., Levey, A. I., Lee, H. J., Rye, D. B., & Wainer, B. H. (1987). The origins of cholinergic and other subcortical afferents to the thalamus in the rat. The Journal of Comparative Neurology, 262(1), 105-124.
- Herdman, A. T., Lins, O., Van Roon, P., Stapells, D. R., Scherg, M., & Picton, T. W. (2002) Intracerebral Sources of Human Auditory Steady-State Potentials. Brain Topography, 15, 69–86.
- Koehler, S. D., & Shore, S. E. (2013). Stimulus Timing-Dependent Plasticity in Dorsal Cochlear Nucleus Is Altered in Tinnitus. Journal of Neuroscience, 33(50), 19647–19656.
- Knudson, I. M., Shera, C. A., & Melcher, J. R. (2014). Increased contralateral suppression of otoacoustic emissions indicates a hyperresponsive medial olivocochlear system in humans with tinnitus and hyperacusis. Journal of Neurophysiology, 112(12), 3197–3208.
- Langguth, B., Kreuzer, P. M., Kleinjung, T., & De Ridder, D. (2013). Tinnitus: causes and clinical management. The Lancet Neurology, 12(9), 920–930.

- Lehmann, A., Schönwiesner, M., (2014). Selective attention modulates human auditory brainstem responses: relative contributions of frequency and spatial cues. PLoS One, 9(1), e85442.
- Liberman, M. C. (1978). Auditory-nerve response from cats raised in a low-noise chamber. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 63, 442–454.
- Liberman, M. C. (1993). Central projections of auditory nerve fibers of differing spontaneous rate. II. Posteroventral and dorsal cochlear nuclei. Journal of Comparative Neurology, 327, 17–36.
- Middleton, J. W., Kiritani, T., Pedersen, C., Turner, J. G., Shepherd, G. M., & Tzounopoulos, T. (2011). Mice with behavioral evidence of tinnitus exhibit dorsal cochlear nucleus hyperactivity because of decreased GABAergic inhibition. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(18), 7601–7606.
- Motts, S. D., & Schofield, B. R. (2009). Sources of Cholinergic Input to the Inferior Colliculus. Neuroscience, 160(1), 103–114.
- Motts, S. D., & Schofield, B. R. (2010). Cholinergic and non-cholinergic projections from the pedunculopontine and laterodorsal tegmental nuclei to the medial geniculate body in guinea pigs. Frontiers in Neuroanatomy, 4. doi:10.3389/fnana.2010.00137.
- Oertel, D., & Golding, N. L. (1997). Circuits of the Dorsal Cochlear Nucleus. In Syka, J. (Ed), Acoustical Signal Processing in the Central Auditory System, Plenum Press: New York.
- Roberts, L. E., Bosnyak, D. J., Bruce, I. C., Gander, P. E., & Paul, B. T. (2015). Evidence for differential modulation of primary and nonprimary auditory cortex by forward masking in tinnitus. Hearing Research, 327, 9–27.
- Roberts, L. E., Bosnyak, D. J., & Thompson, D. C. (2012). Neural plasticity expressed in central auditory structures with and without tinnitus. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience, 6.
- Roberts, L. E., Husain, F. T., & Eggermont, J. J. (2013). Role of attention in the generation and modulation of tinnitus. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, 37(8), 1754–1773.
- Roberts, L. E., Moffat, G., Baumann, M., Ward, L. M., & Bosnyak, D. J. (2008).
 Residual Inhibition Functions Overlap Tinnitus Spectra and the Region of Auditory Threshold Shift. Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, 9(4), 417–435.
- Rinne, T., Balk, M. H., Koistinen, S., Autti, T., Alho, K., & Sams, M. (2008). Auditory Selective Attention Modulates Activation of Human Inferior Colliculus. Journal of Neurophysiology, 100(6), 3323-3327.
- Rüttiger, L., Singer, W., Panford-Walsh R., et al. (2013). The reduced cochlear output and the failure to adapt the central auditory response causes tinnitus in noise exposed rats. PLoS One 8:e57247.
- Scherg, M., Vajsar, J., & Picton, T. W. (1989). A source analysis of the late human auditory evoked potentials. Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience, 1(4), 336–355.

- Shaheen, L. A., Valero, M. D., & Liberman, M. C. (2015). Towards a Diagnosis of Cochlear Neuropathy with Envelope Following Responses. Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology, 16(6), 727–745.
- Shargorodsky, J., Curhan, S. G., Curhan, G. C., & Eavey, R. (2010). Change in prevalence of hearing loss in US adolescents. Journal of the American Medical Association, 304(7), 772–778.
- Shore, S. E., Roberts, L. E., & Langguth, B. (2016). Maladaptive plasticity in tinnitus — triggers, mechanisms and treatment. Nature Reviews Neurology, 12(3), 150–160.
- Suga, N., & Ma, X. (2003). Multiparametric corticofugal modulation and plasticity in the auditory system. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 4(10), 783-794.
- Valero, M. D., Hancock, K. E., Liberman, M. C. (2016). The middle ear muscle reflex in the diagnosis of cochlear neuropathy. Hearing Research, 332, 29– 38.
- Vanneste, S., & De Ridder, D. (2016). Deafferentation-based pathophysiological differences in phantom sound: Tinnitus with and without hearing loss. NeuroImage 129:80–94.
- Varghese, L., Bharadwaj, H. M., Shinn-Cunningham, B. G. (2015). Evidence against attentional state modulating scalp-recorded auditory brainsteam steady-state responses. Brain Research, 1626, 146–64.
- Vogler, D. P., Robertson, D., Mulders, W. H. (2011). Hyperactivity in the ventral cochlear nucleus after cochlear trauma. Journal of Neuroscience, 31, 6639–45.
- Wang, H., Brozoski, T., Turner, J., Ling, L., Parrish, J., Hughes, L., & Caspary, D. (2009). Plasticity at glycinergic synapses in dorsal cochlear nucleus of rats with behavioral evidence of tinnitus. Neuroscience, 164(2), 747–759.
- Wu, C., Martel, D. T., & Shore, S. E. (2016). Increased Synchrony and Bursting of Dorsal Cochlear Nucleus Fusiform Cells Correlate with Tinnitus. Journal of Neuroscience, 36(6), 2068–2073.
- Yates, G. K., Winter, I. M., & Robertson, D. (1989). Basilar membrane nonlinearity determines auditory nerve rate-intensity functions and cochlear dynamic range. Hearing Research, 45, 203–220.
- Zeng, C., Yang, Z., Shreve, L., Bledsoe, S., & Shore, S. (2012). Somatosensory Projections to Cochlear Nucleus Are Upregulated after Unilateral Deafness. Journal of Neuroscience, 32(45), 15791–15801.